The biogeochemistry of regreened forests on a mining and smelting degraded landscape

A Thesis Submitted to the Committee on Graduate Studies in the Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Faculty of Arts and Science

Trent University Peterborough, Ontario, Canada

© Patrick A. Levasseur, 2023 Environmental and Life Sciences Graduate Program May 2023

Thesis abstract

The biogeochemistry of regreened forests on a mining and smelting degraded landscape

Patrick A. Levasseur

Mining and smelting degraded landscapes are characterised by heavily eroded soils that are acidic, contaminated with toxic metals, and depleted of essential nutrients. Regreening degraded landscapes has been proposed to support global carbon (C) mitigation measures and protect biodiversity. One of the world's largest regreening programs in the City of Greater Sudbury, Canada has been ongoing since 1978 and involves liming and fertilizing selected areas followed by planting primarily jack pine (Pinus banksiana Lamb.) and red pine (Pinus resinosa Ait.) trees. The main objective of this thesis was to improve our understanding of biogeochemistry in the City of Greater Sudbury regreened forests, and to determine how nutrient pools and cycling change as stands age. I established a chronosequence of forested sites between 15–40 years-old and to account for the effects of erosion, each site was categorized as "stable" (<10% bedrock cover) or "eroded" (>30% bedrock cover). Individual tree growth and nutrient accumulation in aboveground biomass (AGB) did not differ between stable and eroded sites and were comparable to rates reported from pine plantations in similar ecozones. Aboveground nitrogen (N) pools were six times larger than N applied in fertilizer, suggesting N limitation is most likely not a concern. Rates of C cycling were generally similar to those measured at unimpacted jack and red pine plantations. The exception being a decrease in mineral soil and aggregate C concentrations. However, at the ecosystem-scale the loss of soil C is trivial in comparison to increases in AGB C pools, leading to an overall increase in total ecosystem C following regreening (550,547 Mg in aboveground C across the 19,649 ha regreening landscape). Litter decomposition rates were higher at the regreening sites using a site-specific litter compared to a general common litter, indicating a home-field advantage for local decomposers. Soil temperature varied at the regreening sites and higher soil temperatures were related to higher rates of soil respiration. The regreening sites are rich in calcium (Ca) and magnesium (Mg); and while soils were generally poor in phosphorous (P) and potassium (K), foliar concentrations of P and K were comparable to those of "healthy" red pines. Overall, the regreening program appears to have increased tree growth and produced jack and red pine plantations that are biogeochemically similar to conifer plantations unimpacted by over a century of mining and smelting impacts.

Key words: degraded landscape; biogeochemistry; soil carbon; regreening; nutrient cycling; forests; tree growth

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor Shaun Watmough for being an incredible supervisor throughout both my PhD and MSc. Your ability to balance being a world-class researcher and supportive supervisor, all while prioritizing the more important things in life is truly an inspiration to me. Thank you for all the guidance you have provided to me over these past seven years. I would like to thank my committee members Julian Aherne, Eric Sager, and Erik Emilson for their ideas and feedback throughout my PhD. Thank you to all my colleagues who helped in the lab and field, particularly Ed Kellaway, Will Humphrey, Jodi Newman, Kaylen Foley, Spencer Gilbert-Parkes, Kimber Munford, and Kevin Adkinson.

I would like to thank my mom, dad, brother, and sister: Mary-Frances, John, Liam, and Grace for all their love, I am the person I am today because of you (take that as good or bad). I would like to thank my friends, particularly Adam Bird, Spencer Gilbert-Parkes, Stephen McGovarin, Nick Weissflog, Spencer Gowan, and Andrew Anstey, I am very lucky to have friends like you guys. Most importantly, thank you to my wife Sarah Plante, none of this would be possible without you. Finally, I would like to thank my dog Cedar, but she is a dog and cannot read, so I will just tell her she is a good dog when I get home instead.

Table of contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of contents	v
List of figures	x
List of tables	xiv
Chapter 1: General introduction	1
1.1. Forest degradation	1
1.2. Mining and smelting and forests	2
1.3. Ecological restoration	4
1.4. The City of Greater Sudbury area	7
1.5. The regreening efforts of the City of Greater Sudbury area	9
1.6. Thesis objective	11
1.7. Thesis structure, objectives, and hypotheses	12
1.8. Authorship statements	14
1.9. References	16
Chapter 2: One of the world's largest regreening programs promotes healthy and nutrient accumulation up to 40-years post restoration ^x	tree growth 22
2.1. Introduction	23
2.2. Materials and Methods	26
2.2.1. Study area and regreening process	26
2.2.2. Site Selection	28
2.2.3. Field sampling	29
2.2.4. Chemical analysis	

2.2.5. Aboveground biomass and nutrient pools	30
2.2.6. Landsat image processing	31
2.2.7. Random forest model development and application	31
2.2.8. Statistical analysis	34
2.3. Results	35
2.3.1. Site characteristics	\$5
2.3.2. Aboveground biomass pools	8
2.3.3. Aboveground nutrients	8
2.3.4. Random forest model and landscape-scale dynamics4	12
2.4. Discussion4	14
2.4.1. Aboveground biomass pools and accumulation rates4	14
2.4.2. Aboveground nutrient concentrations, and accumulation rates4	15
2.4.3. Random Forest estimates of aboveground biomass pools in regreening area4	16
2.4.4. Landscape-scale aboveground nutrient pools4	17
2.5. Conclusions4	19
2.6. Acknowledgements5	50
2.7. References5	51
Chapter 3: Soil carbon dynamics following the regreening of a mining and smeltin degraded landscape5	וg 57
3.1. Introduction5	58
3.2. Materials and Methods6	51
3.2.1. Study area and regreening process6	51
3.2.2. Site Selection	52
3.2.3. Field sampling	53

3.2.4. Sample preparation and laboratory analysis	67
3.2.5. Calculations	68
3.2.6. Statistical analyses	70
3.3. Results	71
3.3.1. Site characteristics	71
3.3.2. Litterfall carbon	74
3.3.3. Fine root production	75
3.3.4. Litter decomposition	76
3.3.5. Forest floor carbon	79
3.3.6. Soil carbon	79
3.3.7. Soil respiration	81
3.3.8. Total ecosystem carbon pools	84
3.4. Discussion	86
3.4.1. Litterfall	87
3.4.2. Fine root production	88
3.4.3. Litter decomposition	88
3.4.4. Soil respiration	91
3.4.5. Forest floor and mineral soil C	92
3.4.6. Total ecosystem C budgets	95
3.5. Conclusion	96
3.6. Acknowledgements	97
3.7. References	99

Chapter 4: Nutrient cycling in jack and red pine forests chronosequence following the regreening of a mining and smelting degraded landscape	
4.1. Introduction	
4.2. Materials and Methods	
4.2.1. Study area and regreening process	
4.2.2. Site Selection	
4.2.3. Field sampling	115
4.2.4. Sample preparation and chemical analysis	
4.2.5. Calculations	
4.2.6. Statistical analyses	
4.3. Results	
4.3.1. Soil nutrients	
4.3.2. Aboveground tree nutrients	
4.3.3. Nutrient resorption efficiency and proficiency	
4.3.4. Litter decomposition	
4.3.5. Nitrogen mineralization	
4.4. Discussion	
4.4.1. Soil nutrients	
4.4.2. Aboveground tree nutrients	
4.4.3. Nutrient resorption	
4.4.4. Litter decomposition	
4.4.5. Nitrogen mineralization	
4.5. Conclusion	
4.6. Acknowledgements	141

4.7. References	
Chapter 5: Conclusion	148

List of figures

Figure 2.3: Relationship between aboveground biomass (AGB) and time since tree planting for both highly eroded sites and stable sites. Figure 2.3A depicts relationship at the hectare scale; Figure 2.3B is per individual stem. Dashed lines represent 95% confidence interval.

Figure 2.6: Aboveground biomass for red pine and jack pine planting sites across the City of Greater Sudbury, Ontario, Canada......43

Figure 3.3: Fine root production (mean ± standard deviation) after 18-months deployment (April 2019 – October 2020) and stand age for eroded, stable, untreated, and old plantation sites. Solid line is linear regression line for the relationship between fine root production and stand age at stable sites. Dashed lines are 95% confidence intervals.75

Figure 3.5: Decomposition k-values (**top panel**) and C:N values (**bottom panel**) for stable and eroded sites using site-specific versus common litter at various deployment lengths. Box center lines are medians, box limits are 25th and 75th percentiles, whiskers are outliers. Significant differences denoted as: **p<0.01; ***p<0.001, n.s. p>0.05.......78

Figure 3.8: Soil carbon concentrations (mean ± standard deviation) in the 0–5 cm depth and stand age for eroded, stable, untreated, and old plantation sites using the >200 μ m soil fraction (**left panel**) 63–200 μ m fraction (**center panel**) and <63 μ m fraction (**right**

panel). Solid lines are linear regression lines for relationship between aboveground carbon and stand age for both erosion classes. Dashed lines are 95% confidence intervals.......81

Figure 4.1: Map of the twelve study sites, the outlines for the barren and semi-barren regions, and the location of the three main smelters (City of Greater Sudbury, 2023). .115

Figure 4.5: Foliar nutrient concentrations and nutrient resorption proficiencies (RP) for calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), nitrogen (N), phosphorous (P), and potassium (K). Solid black lines are significant (p<0.01) logarithmic relationships between foliar nutrient

Figure 4.7: Nutrient loss in litter by stand age for site-specific and common litter. Nutrients analyzed includes calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), nitrogen (N), phosphorous (P), and potassium (K). Instances where percent of initial nutrients lost were significantly different between site-specific and common litter were denoted using: ** p<0.005; ***p<0.0001. 131

Figure 4.8: Decomposition k-values and litter nutrient concentrations after 2.5-year exposure period for site-specific and common litter. Solid lines are significant (p<0.007)

List of tables

Table 2.4: Aboveground biomass nutrient concentrations and accumulation rates (at both the hectare and stem scale). Asterix denotes significant difference in nutrient concentration, or accumulation rate between eroded and stable erosion classes (p<0.05).

Table 3.2: Median soil carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions, median soil temperature, and the temperature sensitivity parameter (Q_{10}) for all eroded, stable, untreated, and old plantation sites between April–September 2019. Significant differences (p<0.05) in soil CO₂ emissions or soil temperature among site types are denoted using differing letters.

Chapter 1: General introduction

1.1. Forest degradation

Globally, forests cover 31% of the world's land surface (FAO, 2020a), sequester 20% of the total carbon (C) emitted from anthropogenic sources (Friedlingstein et al., 2022), account for over 80% of terrestrial biodiversity (FAO, 2020b), directly support 87 million jobs (FAO, 2020b), and are widely used for recreational and spiritual purposes. Between 1990 and 2020 it is estimated that 420 million hectares of forests have been degraded. While the magnitude of forest degradation has decreased in the past decade it is estimated that 4.74 million hectares of forested land were degraded each year between 2010 and 2020 (FAO, 2020a). Forest degradation emits large amounts of C into the atmosphere (largely as carbon dioxide (CO_2) but also as methane (CH_4) in smaller quantities), exacerbating the effects of climate change (Pan, 2011). A decrease in forest cover alters evapotranspiration changing microclimate factors (Sampaio et al., 2007). An extreme example of this is the clear-cutting of the Amazon rainforest stimulating a positive feedback loop that decreases evapotranspiration and precipitation in the area – which some researchers believe will lead to the Amazon rainforest evolving into a savannah in the future (Lovejoy and Nobre, 2018). Hydrological pathways are also altered; degraded forests are generally less of a water sink leading to increased runoff and flooding events (van Dijk and Keenan, 2007). The alteration of hydrological pathways increases erosion, affecting the quantity and quality of water, sediment, and nutrients released to surface waters (Neary et al., 2009). Forest degradation is reported to have increased the likelihood

that 19,432 different vertebrate species will be listed as threatened or endangered (Betts et al., 2017).

1.2. Mining and smelting ecosystem impacts

Humans have been extracting geological materials since the Paleolithic era when pre-human hominids mined flintstones to use as weapons for hunting large game (Mellars, 1996). Smelting practices are believed to have been innovated in the Old World in modern day Turkey, Iraq, and Iran where the refining of lead (Pb), tin (Sn), and copper (Cu) was well established by 5000 BC (Wertime, 1964). Mining in Canada has also been practiced for millennia. Recent radiocarbon dating found Cu artifacts in the Great Lakes region that were between 3500–8500 years old (Pompeani et al., 2021). The onset of the Industrial Revolution is largely thought to be the beginning of large-scale environmental damage caused by mining and smelting. Industrial mining in Canada began with the establishment of Cu mines on the north shore of Lake Huron at Bruce Mines, Ontario in 1848 (Cranstone, 2002).

Mining and smelting practices often entail the removal of overburden and vegetation to access ore bodies and use biomass as fuel for smelting. The removal of overburden and vegetation drastically reduces biomass, soil, and nutrients on a landscape, directly altering ecosystem structure and function. Soil structure is impacted through compaction and the mixing of soil horizons (Bradshaw, 1997; Indorante et al., 1981). The degradation of soil structure along with the removal of vegetation can greatly increase soil erosion by both wind and water, and increase soil export into surface waters (Bradshaw,

1997). Erosion can also expose soil organic matter otherwise not in contact with the atmosphere resulting in increased rates of organic matter mineralization which decreases soil nutrient pools, reduces soil biological communities, increases C emissions, and hinders the re-establishment of vegetation (Akala and Lal, 2000; Dudka and Adriano, 1997).

Mining and smelting operations are large point sources of sulphur dioxide (SO₂) (Smith et al., 2011). Sulphur dioxide, along with nitrogen oxides (NO_x), and ammonia (NH₃) are the main contributors to acidic deposition and can be deposited as gases or particulates in dry deposition, or in precipitation as wet deposition (Reuss and Johnson, 1986). Acid deposition can negatively impact forest ecosystems directly through SO₂ toxicity in foliage (Knabe, 1976); as well as indirectly through soil acidification (Likens and Bormann, 1974). As concentrations of strong acids in soil increase, base cations (calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), and potassium (K)) can leach from soils; if the soil base cation pool is not sufficient to buffer the incoming acidity then soil pH decreases (Likens and Bormann, 1974). Decreasing soil pH can increase the solubility of metals such as aluminum (Al), and increase metal toxicity to biota (Cronan and Schofield, 1990). The increased leaching of base cations from soils and the increased mobility of inorganic Al can decrease tree productivity and stress tolerance (Driscoll et al., 2001; Tomlinson, 2003). Altering soil pH also has an impact on microbial communities and related processes such as litter decomposition (Sridhar et al., 2022).

Along with SO₂, mining and smelting practices emit metal particulates that are deposited onto ecosystems in surrounding regions (Berg et al., 1991; Dudka and Adriano,

1997; Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980b). Metal toxicity and bioavailability within an ecosystem are influenced by multiple factors (Sauvé et al., 2000). Soil acidification increases the mobility of many metals, as increased hydrogen ions (H⁺) compete with organically bound metals freeing the metals into more toxic inorganic forms (McBride, 1989). The presence of soil organic matter can also control metal solubility by increasing the presence of negatively charged binding sites to immobilize metals in the soil solution (McBride et al., 1997). Increased loading of bioavailable metals in the soil solution can have direct toxic effects on vegetation and also compete with nutrients for plant uptake (Påhlsson, 1989). Mining and smelting practices have been found to decrease soil organic matter and soil pH, while increasing the concentration of metals in soils causing an increase in both the load and bioavailability of metals in an ecosystem with harmful effects to vegetation and soil biotic communities (Amiro and Courtin, 1981; Bradshaw, 1997; Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980b; Vindušková and Frouz, 2013; Whitby and Hutchinson, 1974).

1.3. Ecological restoration

The restoration of degraded forests has been highlighted as an essential tool supporting global C mitigation measures and protecting biodiversity (Brancalion and Holl, 2020; Chazdon and Brancalion, 2019; Lewis et al., 2019; Strassburg et al., 2020). The goal of restoring degraded forests has been included in multiple international objectives and agreements including the Bonn Challenge, The Paris Agreement, the Convention on Biological Diversity, and REDD+ (Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest

Degradation) (IUCN, 2022). Despite these initiatives, nearly 5 million ha of forest are being degraded globally each year (FAO, 2020b). China's Grain for Green program is regarded as the world's largest forest restoration project; in the late 1990s the Loess Plateau was suffering from large-scale soil erosion but by 2019 trees and native grasses were planted over more than 34 million ha of China (Hua et al., 2022). While the Grain-for-Green project is the world's largest, massive forest restoration projects exist across the world in all types of forests (Lewis et al., 2019).

Forest restoration strategies are often focussed on planting trees. Well-planned tree planting efforts have been associated with mitigating climate change, conserving biodiversity, and providing food, wood, and income to small landowners (Holl and Brancalion, 2020). Planting trees increases aboveground C pools as trees sequester C from the atmosphere (Preston et al., 2020; Rumney et al., 2021). Tree planting has generally been thought to promote an increase in forest floor and mineral soil C (Ashwood et al., 2019; Laganière et al., 2010); but losses of soil C have also been reported (Friggens et al., 2020). The addition of new C into an ecosystem from tree planting can alter the structure and function of local decomposer communities (Kuzyakov, 2002). Planting trees can also increase the movement of nutrients and metals throughout the ecosystem (Kellaway et al., 2022).

The application of nutrients and liming agents are often used in forest restoration projects to increase soil nutrients and raise pH (Frouz et al., 2001; Lautenbach et al., 1995). Limestone has been used as a soil amendment to counteract soil acidity for over 100 years

(Saarsalmi et al., 2011). The chemical composition of limestone differs based on location, but generally limestone refers to either calcite (CaCO₃) or dolomite (CaMg(CO₃)₂). The application of limestone (or other high pH, nutrient rich amendments) has been found to reduce soil acidity, leading to the immobilization of metals and an increase in forest productivity (Lawrence et al., 2016). The increase in soil pH can also lead to unintended ecosystem changes such as altering litter decomposition by making soils more habitable for different soil biota (Persson et al., 2021). Applying bioavailable nutrients in the form of fertilizers (typically nitrogen (N), phosphorous (P), and K) have been shown to increase vegetation growth but may also alter other fundamental ecosystem processes (Pietrzykowski and Daniels, 2014).

Forest restoration strategies such as the application of limestone, fertilizers, and tree planting, to mining and smelting degraded landscapes is generally associated with repairing ecosystem structure and function. Vegetation becomes capable of establishing and growing (Frouz et al., 2009; Preston et al., 2020), forest floors begin to develop (Frouz et al., 2001; Rumney et al., 2021), and soil biotic communities begin to more closely reflect pre-degradation structure (Frouz et al., 2001). While the effects of forest restoration are largely positive, the long-term sustainability of restored forests and the effects of restoration on soil C are still unclear.

Studying biogeochemical processes within regreened forests will help to address uncertainties related to forest restoration. Currently, there are few examples of long-term studies (>25 years) in restored forests on mining and smelting degraded landscapes.

Ecological restoration is a relatively young field of study and forest restoration has only begun to be widely practiced in recent decades A chronosequence study could be valuable to our scientific understanding of the biogeochemical processes within restored forests and how these processes change with stand age, will provide essential information towards the future management of these systems. Field experiments are a valuable tool to provide site-specific information that can be used to inform remote sensing models to project ecosystem properties such as aboveground biomass to the landscape scale (Lu et al., 2016). Similarly, data from the field studies can be used to amend existing temporal models to forecast forest dynamics such as C pools and fluxes (Metsaranta et al., 2017).

1.4. The City of Greater Sudbury area

The City of Greater Sudbury (UTM zone 17; Easting: 501620, Northing: 5148797) and surrounding region in northern Ontario, Canada, has been subject to legacy effects of long-term Cu and nickel (Ni) mining and smelting (1886 – present day). In 1960, the City of Greater Sudbury region was the world's largest point source of SO₂, emitting 2.56 million tonnes of SO₂ per year – roughly 4% of global emissions at the time (Potvin and Negusanti, 1995). During that same time period, tens of thousands of tonnes of metal particulates were emitted from the region's smelters each year (Potvin and Negusanti, 1995). Smelting emissions and expansive clear-cutting created approximately ~20,000 ha of barren land with highly eroded, acidic soils enriched in toxic metal and depleted of essential nutrients, inhibiting the regrowth of vegetation (Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980a, 1980b) (Figure 1.1; Figure 1.2). Soil biological communities were devastated by

acidity and the presence of toxic metals leading to dramatic alterations of decomposition processes (Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980a).



Figure 1.1: City of Greater Sudbury barren areas prior to regreening began. Large-scale clearcutting led to massive levels of soil erosion and acid and metal deposition prevented the re-establishment of vegetation (Winterhalder, 1995).



Figure 1.2: City of Greater Sudbury barren areas prior to regreening. Acid and metal deposition devastated local decomposers leading to large amounts of old undecomposed material remaining on the landscape (Winterhalder, 1995).

1.5. The regreening efforts of the City of Greater Sudbury area

In 1978, the City of Greater Sudbury began a regreening program that is regarded as one of the largest in the world. Since the advent of the regreening program (which is still ongoing) SO₂ and particulate metal emissions have decreased by over 95%, more than 3,400 ha of land have been treated with lime, fertilizer, and a grass-legume seed mixture, and over 10 million trees have been planted (VETAC, 2021). The regreening procedure includes the application of 10 Mg ha⁻¹ of crushed dolomitic limestone (CaMg(CO₃)₂), 390 kg ha⁻¹ of 6-24-24 N-P-K fertilizer, and 40 kg ha⁻¹ of a grass-seed mixture that included N- fixing legumes (Figure 1.3). One-year following the amendment applications, trees are planted. Jack pine (Pinus banksiana Lamb.) and red pine (Pinus resinosa Ait.) were the most widely planted tree species because they are native to the Great Lakes-St. Lawrence region and are capable of surviving in acidic, sandy soils. Other native species were also planted including white pine (Pinus strobus L.), white spruce (Picea glauca Moench), and green alder (Alnus viridis Chaix) (VETAC, 2021). Areas for regreening are selected each year based on multiple operational and resource factors and needs, resulting in a mosaic of forest stands of different ages in the barren and semi-barren areas of the region. The landscape remains highly heterogenous, with large areas of exposed bedrock with little-to no soil following massive erosion events that occurred after the onset of largescale mining and smelting practices. The regreening program has led to an increase in soil nutrients (Kellaway et al., 2022; SARA Group, 2009), decreased metal bioavailability (Kellaway et al., 2022; Nkongolo et al., 2013), and increased aboveground C storage (Preston et al., 2020; Rumney et al., 2021). As one of the world's largest regreening programs, the City of Greater Sudbury region provides a unique opportunity to investigate the biogeochemistry of the regreened forests and how this changes as stands age.



Figure 1.3: Crushed dolomitic limestone was spread over 3,400 ha of land in the City of Greater Sudbury barren areas, largely done by hand by local volunteers (City of Greater Sudbury, 2023).

1.6. Thesis objective

The main objective of this thesis was to study the biogeochemistry of the City of Greater Sudbury regreened forests, and to determine how nutrient pools and cycling change as stands age. The patchwork nature of regreening, where different areas received regreening treatments at different times, provided us with the opportunity to develop a chronosequence of forested sites with differing stand ages (between 15–40 years). To account for the effects of erosion on biogeochemistry we established two series of sites:

eroded sites and stable sites. Eroded sites were heavily influenced by erosion and were largely covered by exposed bedrock (>30% bedrock cover). Stable sites were covered in a layer of soil (>90% soil cover) (Figure 1.4). Using a chronosequence approach that consisted of planted sites within the City of Greater Sudbury barren areas with consistent geologies, we assumed that the primary differences among sites were stand age and erosion class.



Figure 1.4: Field sites showing different site types in the current study. The left panel is a picture of an eroded site with an average mineral soil depth of 10.0 cm. The right panel is a picture of a stable site with an average mineral soil depth of 46.4 cm.

1.7. Thesis structure, chapter objectives and hypotheses

This thesis is composed of five chapters with the intent to better understand the effects of regreening on forest biogeochemistry in the City of Greater Sudbury. The first chapter is a general introduction while the research chapters (Chapters 2–4) are written as manuscripts. The final chapter (Chapter 5) is a conclusion chapter.

Chapter 2, "One of the world's largest regreening programs promotes healthy tree growth and nutrient accumulation up to 40-years post restoration" aimed to 1) assess how aboveground biomass (AGB) and AGB nutrient pools changed over time since regreening at both highly eroded and stable sites using a space-for-time-approach; and 2) quantify AGB and AGB nutrient pools arising from the City of Greater Sudbury regreening program. Aboveground biomass and aboveground nutrient pools were predicted to increase with stand age at both eroded and stable sites, but tree growth and aboveground nutrient increases were expected to be larger at the stable sites.

Chapter 3, "Soil carbon dynamics following the regreening of a mining and smelting degraded landscape" aimed to determine how forest soil C dynamics change with stand age, and if forest soil C dynamics differ between highly eroded sites and sites with more stable soils. We tested the hypotheses that forest soil C cycling will change over stand age and with erosion class. Specifically we predicted that: 1) litterfall C inputs will increase with stand age and be higher at stable sites; 2) fine root production will decrease with stand age and there will be no difference between site types; 3) litter decomposition rates will increase with stand age and not differ between eroded and stable sites; 4) litter decomposition rates will be higher using site-specific versus common litter; 5) soil respiration will increase with stand age and be higher at stable sites; 7) bulk mineral soil and aggregate C concentrations will increase with stand age and will be higher at stable sites; 8) total

ecosystem C pools will increase with stand age in our relatively young (~40 year old max) sites regardless of changes in soil C.

Chapter 4, "Nutrient cycling in jack and red pine forests following the regreening of a mining and smelting degraded landscape" aimed to assess how nutrient cycling differs with stand age following regreening. We tested the hypotheses that stand age following regreening affects forest nutrient cycling processes. Specifically, we predicted that: 1) concentrations of Ca, Mg, P, and K will decrease in the forest floor and increase in mineral soil and vegetation with stand age, while N concentrations in soils and trees will increase with age; 2) nutrient RE will increase with time since regreening while nutrient RP will decrease over time; 3) loss of litter nutrients through decomposition will increase as stands age; and 4) N mineralization in soil will increase with stand age.

1.8. Authorship statements

Chapter 2, "One of the world's largest regreening programs promotes healthy tree growth and nutrient accumulation up to 40-years post restoration."

Authors: Patrick A. Levasseur, Jessica Galarza, Shaun A. Watmough

Patrick A. Levasseur was responsible for: conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, investigation, writing – original draft, writing – review & editing, visualization. **Jessica Galarza** was responsible for: methodology, and resources. **Shaun A. Watmough** was responsible for: conceptualization, methodology, resources, writing – review & editing, visualization, supervision, funding acquisition.

Chapter 3, "Soil carbon dynamics following the regreening of a mining and smelting degraded landscape."

Authors: Patrick A. Levasseur, Julian Aherne, Nathan Basiliko, Erik J.S. Emilson, Michael D. Preston, Eric P.S. Sager, Shaun A. Watmough

Patrick A. Levasseur was responsible for: conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, investigation, writing – original draft, writing – review & editing, visualization. Julian **Aherne** was responsible for: writing – review & editing, supervision. **Nathan Basiliko** was responsible for: writing – review & editing, funding acquisition. **Erik J.S. Emilson** was responsible for: writing – review & editing, supervision. **Michael D. Preston** was responsible for: methodology, validation, writing – review & editing. **Eric P.S. Sager** was responsible for: writing – review & editing, supervision. **Shaun A. Watmough** was responsible for: conceptualization, methodology, validation, resources, writing – review & editing, visualization, supervision, funding acquisition.

Chapter 4, "Nutrient cycling in red and jack pine forests following the regreening of a mining and smelting degraded landscape."

Authors: Patrick A. Levasseur, Shaun A. Watmough

Patrick A. Levasseur was responsible for: conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, investigation, writing – original draft, writing – review & editing, visualization.
Watmough was responsible for: conceptualization, methodology, validation, resources, writing – review & editing, visualization, supervision, funding acquisition.

1.9. References

- Akala, V.A., Lal, R., 2000. Potential of mine land reclamation for soil organic carbon sequestration in Ohio. L. Degrad. Dev. 11, 289–297.
- Amiro, B.D., Courtin, G.M., 1981. Patterns of vegetation in the vicinity of an industrially disturbed ecosystem, Sudbury, Ontario. Can. J. Bot. 59, 1623–1639. https://doi.org/10.1139/b81-221
- Ashwood, F., Watts, K., Park, K., Fuentes-Montemayor, E., Benham, S., Vanguelova, E.I., 2019. Woodland restoration on agricultural land: long-term impacts on soil quality. Restor. Ecol. 27, 1381–1392. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.13003
- Berg, B., Ekbohm, G., Söderström, B., Staaf, H., 1991. Reduction of decomposition rates of scots pine needle litter due to heavy-metal pollution. Water Air Soil Pollut. 59, 165–177. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00283179
- Betts, M.G., Wolf, C., Ripple, W.J., Phalan, B., Millers, K.A., Duarte, A., Butchart, S.H.M., Levi, T., 2017. Global forest loss disproportionately erodes biodiversity in intact landscapes. Nature 547, 441–444. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature23285
- Bradshaw, A., 1997. Restoration of mined lines using natural processes. Ecol. Eng. 8, 255–269.
- Brancalion, P.H.S., Holl, K.D., 2020. Guidance for successful tree planting initiatives. J. Appl. Ecol. 57, 2349–2361. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13725
- Chazdon, R., Brancalion, P., 2019. Restoring forests as a means to many ends. Science 364, 24–25. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aax9539
- City of Greater Sudbury, 2023. City of Greater Sudbury Regreening App [WWW Document]. URL https://www.greatersudbury.ca/live/environment-and-sustainability1/regreening-program/
- Cranstone, D., 2002. A history of mining and mineral exploration in Canada and outlook for the future. Natural Resources Canada.
- Cronan, C.S., Schofield, C.L., 1990. Relationships between aqueous aluminium and acidic deposition in forested watersheds of North America and northern Europe. Environ. Sci. Technol. 24, 1100–1105.
- Driscoll, C.T., Lawrence, G.B., Bulger, A.J., Butler, T.J., Cronan, C.S., Eagar, C., Lambert, K.F., Likens, G.E., Stoddard, J.L., Weathers, K.C., 2001. Acidic deposition in the northeastern United States: sources and inputs, ecosystem effects, and

management strategies. Bioscience 51, 180–198. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568

- Dudka, S., Adriano, D.C., 1997. Environmental impacts of metal ore mining and processing: a review. J. Environ. Qual. 26, 590–602. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq1997.00472425002600030003x
- FAO, 2020a. Global forests resources assessment Main report.
- FAO, 2020b. State of the world's forests. Rome.
- Freedman, B., Hutchinson, T.C., 1980a. Effects of smelter pollutants on forest leaf litter decomposition near a nickel-copper smelter at Sudbury, Ontario. Can. J. Bot. 58, 1722–1736. https://doi.org/10.1139/b80-200
- Freedman, B., Hutchinson, T.C., 1980b. Pollutant inputs from the atmosphere and accumulations in soils and vegetation near a nickel-copper smelter at Sudbury, Ontario, Canada. Can. J. Bot. 58, 108–132. https://doi.org/10.1139/b80-014
- Friedlingstein, P., Jones, M.W., Sullivan, M.O., Andrew, R.M., Bakker, D.C.E., Hauck, J., Quéré, C. Le, Peters, G.P., Peters, W., 2022. Global Carbon Budget 2021. 14, 1917– 2005. https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-14-1917-2022
- Friggens, N.L., Hester, A.J., Mitchell, R.J., Wookey, J.S.P.A., Parker, T.C., 2020. Tree planting in organic soils does not result in net carbon sequestration on decadal timescales. Glob. Chang. Biol. 26, 5178–5188. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15229
- Frouz, J., Keplin, B., Pižl, V., Tajovský, K., Starý, J., Lukešová, A., Nováková, A., Balík, V., Háněl, L., Materna, J., Düker, C., Chalupský, J., Rusek, J., Heinkele, T., 2001. Soil biota and upper soil layer development in two contrasting post-mining chronosequences. Ecol. Eng. 17, 275–284.
- Frouz, J., Pižl, V., Cienciala, E., Kalčík, J., 2009. Carbon storage in post-mining forest soil, the role of tree biomass and soil bioturbation. Biogeochemistry 94, 111–121. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-009-9313-0
- Holl, K.D., Brancalion, P.H.S., 2020. Tree planting is not a simple solution. Science 368, 580–581. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aba8232
- Hua, F., Adrian Bruijnzeel, L., Meli, P., Martin, P.A., Zhang, J., Nakagawa, S., Miao, X., Wang, W., McEvoy, C., Peña-Arancibia, J.L., Brancalion, P.H.S., Smith, P., Edwards, D.P., Balmford, A., 2022. The biodiversity and ecosystem service contributions and trade-offs of forest restoration approaches. Science 376, 839–844. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abl4649

- Indorante, S.J., Jansen, I.J., Boast, C.W., 1981. Surface mining and reclamation: Initial changes in soil character. J. Soil Water Conserv. 36, 347–351.
- IUCN, 2022. IUCN Annual Report 2021. Gland, Switzerland.
- Kellaway, E.J., Eimers, M.C., Watmough, S.A., 2022. Liming legacy effects associated with the world's largest soil liming and regreening program in Sudbury, Ontario, Canada. Sci. Total Environ. 805, 150321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.150321
- Knabe, W., 1976. Effects of sulfur dioxide on terrestrial vegetation. Ambio 5, 213–218.
- Kuzyakov, Y., 2002. Factors affecting rhizosphere priming effects. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 165, 382–396.
- Laganière, J., Angers, D.A., Paré, D., 2010. Carbon accumulation in agricultural soils after afforestation: A meta-analysis. Glob. Chang. Biol. 16, 439–453. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.01930.x
- Lautenbach, W.E., Miller, J., Beckett, P.J., Negusanti, J.J., Winterhalder, K., 1995. Municipal land restoration program the regreening process, in: Restoration and Recovery of an Industrial Region: Progress in Restoring the Smelter-Damaged Landscape near Sudbury, Canada. pp. 109–122.
- Lawrence, G.B., Burns, D.A., Riva-Murray, K., 2016. A new look at liming as an approach to accelerate recovery from acidic deposition effects. Sci. Total Environ. 562, 35–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.176
- Lewis, S.L., Wheeler, C.E., Mitchard, E.T.A., Koch, A., 2019. Restoring natural forests is the best way to remove atmospheric carbon. Nature 568, 25–28. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-019-01026-8
- Likens, G.E., Bormann, H.F., 1974. Acid rain : A serious regional environmental problem. Science 184, 1176–1179.
- Lovejoy, T.E., Nobre, C., 2018. Amazon tipping point. Sci. Adv. 4, 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aat2340
- Lu, D., Chen, Q., Wang, G., Liu, L., Li, G., 2016. A survey of remote sensing-based aboveground biomass estimation methods in forest ecosystems. Int. J. Digit. Earth, 63–105. https://doi.org/10.1080/17538947.2014.990526
- McBride, M., Sauvé, S., Hendershot, W., 1997. Solubility control of Cu, Zn, Cd and Pb in contaminated soils. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 48, 337–346. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2389.1997.tb00554.x

- McBride, M.B., 1989. Reactions controlling heavy metal solubility in soils, in: Advances in Soil Science. pp. 1–56.
- Mellars, P., 1996. The Neandrathal legacy: an archaeological perspective from Western Europe. Princeton University Press.
- Metsaranta, J.M., Shaw, C.H., Kurz, W.A., Boisvenue, C., Morken, S., 2017. Uncertainty of inventory-based estimates of the carbon dynamics of Canada's managed forest (1990–2014). Can. J. For. Res. 1094, 1082–1094.
- Neary, D.G., Ice, G.G., Jackson, C.R., 2009. Linkages between forest soils and water quality and quantity. For. Ecol. Manage. 258, 2269–2281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.05.027
- Nkongolo, K.K., Spiers, G., Beckett, P., Narendrula, R., Theriault, G., Tran, A., Kalubi, K.N., 2013. Long-term effects of liming on soil chemistry in stable and eroded upland areas in a mining region. Water Air Soil Pollut. 224. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-013-1618-x
- Påhlsson, A.M.B., 1989. Toxicity of heavy metals (Zn, Cu, Cd, Pb) to vascular plants a literature review. Water Air Soil Pollut. 47, 287–319. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00279329
- Pan, Y., 2011. A large and persistent carbon sink in the world's forests. Science 333, 988– 993. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1201609
- Persson, T., Andersson, S., Bergholm, J., Gro, T., Ho, L., 2021. Long-term impact of liming on soil C and N in a fertile spruce forest ecosystem. Ecosystems 24, 968–987. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-020-00563-y
- Pietrzykowski, M., Daniels, W.L., 2014. Estimation of carbon sequestration by pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) ecosystems developed on reforested post-mining sites in Poland on differing mine soil substrates. Ecol. Eng. 73, 209–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2014.09.058
- Pompeani, D.P., Steinman, B.A., Abbott, M.B., Pompeani, K.M., Reardon, W., DePasqual, S., Mueller, R.H., 2021. On the timing of the Old Copper Complex in North America: A comparison of radiocarbon dates from different archaeological contexts.
 Radiocarbon 63, 513–531. https://doi.org/10.1017/RDC.2021.7
- Potvin, R.R., Negusanti, J.J., 1995. Declining industrial emissions, improving air quality, and reduced damage to vegetation, in: Restoration and Recovery of an Industrial Region: Progress in Restoring the Smelter-Damaged Landscape near Sudbury, Canada. pp 51–65.

- Preston, M.D., Brummell, M.E., Smenderovac, E., Rantala-Sykes, B., Rumney, R.H.M., Sherman, G., Basiliko, N., Beckett, P., Hebert, M., 2020. Tree restoration and ecosystem carbon storage in an acid and metal impacted landscape: Chronosequence and resampling approaches. For. Ecol. Manage. 463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118012
- Reuss, J.O., Johnson, D.W., 1986. Acid deposition and the acidification of soils and waters. Springer Verlag New York Inc., New York, USA.
- Rumney, R.H.M., Preston, M.D., Jones, T., Basiliko, N., Gunn, J., 2021. Soil amendment improves carbon sequestration by trees on severely damaged acid and metal impacted landscape, but total storage remains low. For. Ecol. Manage. 483, 118896. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118896
- Saarsalmi, A., Tamminen, P., Kukkola, M., Levula, T., 2011. Effects of liming on chemical properties of soil, needle nutrients and growth of Scots pine transplants. For. Ecol. Manage. 262, 278–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2011.03.033
- Sampaio, G., Nobre, C., Costa, M.H., Satyamurty, P., Soares-Filho, B.S., Cardoso, M., 2007. Regional climate change over eastern Amazonia caused by pasture and soybean cropland expansion. Geophys. Res. Lett. 34, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1029/2007GL030612
- SARA Group, 2009. Sudbury Area Risk Assessment Volume III: Ecological Risk Assessment. Sudbury, Canada.
- Sauvé, S., Hendershot, W., Allen, H.E., 2000. Solid-solution partitioning of metals in contaminated soils: Dependence on pH, total metal burden, and organic matter. Environ. Sci. Technol. 34, 1125–1131. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9907764
- Smith, S.J., Van Aardenne, J., Klimont, Z., Andres, R.J., Volke, A., Delgado Arias, S., 2011. Anthropogenic sulfur dioxide emissions: 1850-2005. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 11, 1101– 1116. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-11-1101-2011
- Sridhar, B., Wilhelm, R.C., Debenport, S.J., Fahey, T.J., Buckley, D.H., Goodale, C.L., 2022. Microbial community shifts correspond with suppression of decomposition 25 years after liming of acidic forest soils. Glob. Chang. Biol. 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.16321
- Strassburg, B.B.N., Iribarrem, A., Beyer, H.L., Cordeiro, C.L., Crouzeilles, R., Jakovac, C.C., Braga Junqueira, A., Lacerda, E., Latawiec, A.E., Balmford, A., Brooks, T.M., Butchart, S.H.M., Chazdon, R.L., Erb, K.H., Brancalion, P., Buchanan, G., Cooper, D., Díaz, S., Donald, P.F., Kapos, V., Leclère, D., Miles, L., Obersteiner, M., Plutzar, C., Carlos, C.A., Scarano, F.R., Visconti, P., 2020. Global priority areas for ecosystem restoration.

Nature 586, 724–729. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2784-9

- Tomlinson, G.H., 2003. Acidic deposition, nutrient leaching and forest growth. Biogeochemistry 65, 51–81.
- van Dijk, A.I.J.M., Keenan, R.J., 2007. Planted forests and water in perspective. For. Ecol. Manage. 251, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.06.010
- VETAC, 2021. 2021 Annual Report Regreening Program. City of Greater Sudbury.
- Vindušková, O., Frouz, J., 2013. Soil carbon accumulation after open-cast coal and oil shale mining in Northern Hemisphere: A quantitative review. Environ. Earth Sci. 69, 1685–1698. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-012-2004-5
- Wertime, T.A., 1964. Man's first ecounters with metallurgy. Science 146, 1257–1267.
- Whitby, L.M., Hutchinson, T.C., 1974. Heavy-metal pollution in the Sudbury mining and smelting region of Canada, II. Soil toxicity tests. Environ. Conserv. 1, 191–200. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892900004562
- Winterhalder, K., 1995. Early history of human activities in the Sudbury area and ecological damage to the landscape, in: Restoration and Recovery of an Industrial Region: Progress in Restoring the Smelter-Damaged Landscape near Sudbury, Canada. pp. 17–31.

Chapter 2: One of the world's largest regreening programs promotes healthy tree growth and nutrient accumulation up to 40-years post restoration

Levasseur, P.A., Galarza, J., Watmough, S.A. 2021. For. Ecol. Manage. 507, 120014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2022.120014

2.0. Abstract

Mining and smelting degraded landscapes are characterised by heavily eroded, acidic soils that are contaminated with toxic metals and depleted of essential nutrients. Increasing forest cover through regreening of degraded landscapes has been highlighted to support carbon (C) mitigation measures and protect biodiversity. One of the world's largest regreening programs in the City of Greater Sudbury, Ontario has been ongoing since 1978 and involves the liming and fertilization of selected areas followed by planting of primarily coniferous trees. In this study, we assessed how aboveground biomass (AGB) and aboveground nutrient (calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), nitrogen (N), phosphorous (P), potassium (K), and C) pools changed using a space-for-time approach. We established a series of sites ranging from 15 to 42 years since treatment. To determine the potential effects of erosion on AGB and AGB nutrient pools, each site was categorized as "stable" (less than 10% bedrock cover) or "eroded" (greater than 30% bedrock cover). Both AGB and AGB nutrient pools increased with time since regreening at rates similar to conifer plantations grown in undisturbed regions. Individual tree growth and nutrient accumulation did not differ between stable and eroded sites; however, stable sites had a higher stem density leading to overall higher per hectare AGB and AGB nutrient pools.
Future N limitation of the regreening forests does not appear to be a concern as aboveground N pools were six times larger than applied N. Conversely, aboveground P concentrations decreased with time since tree planting and the 40-year-old study sites had aboveground P concentrations below values for "healthy" trees. This study shows that the regreening efforts have led to a massive addition of 1,144,588 Mg of AGB (550,547 Mg C) onto the landscape, and capable of sustaining healthy tree growth up to 40-years post regreening. However, as the regreening stands age, nutrient limitation may impact future tree growth and warrants further study.

2.1. Introduction

Degraded landscapes with the potential to support forests are estimated to total 1.7–1.8 billion hectares and occur in almost every country in the world (Bastin et al. 2019). The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) and the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) state that restoring forests on degraded landscapes will be essential to supporting global carbon (C) mitigation measures and protecting biodiversity (IUCN, 2020; Rogelj et al. 2018). However, concerns regarding planting forests on land that is needed for other purposes such as agriculture, limit the area of degraded landscapes where programs to increase forest cover are widely supported (Friedlingstein et al. 2019). Most regreening programs do not fully recover pre-degradation ecosystem services and successful programs require well-planned management (Holl & Brancalion, 2020).

Soils on mining and smelting impacted landscapes are often heavily eroded, acidic, contaminated with metals, depleted of essential nutrients, and require external nutrient inputs to support ecosystem function (Pietrzykowski & Daniels 2014). Applying crushed limestone and fertilizer prior to tree planting increases soil pH, microbial biomass, and nutrient levels and decreases the bioavailability of toxic metals (Kellaway et al. 2021; Narendrula-Kotha & Nkongolo, 2017). Tree growth has also been found to increase after lime and fertilizer application compared with unamended sites (Rumney et al. 2021). In forests, aboveground biomass (AGB) is a significant ecosystem pool of essential nutrients, such as calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), nitrogen (N), phosphorous (P), potassium (K), and C (Dielemen et al. 2020; Hooker & Compton 2003; Johnson & Todd 1998; Likens et al. 1994; Likens et al. 1992). Nutrients stored within AGB are not only essential for tree growth, the cycling of AGB nutrients to other ecosystem pools provides necessary nutrients to all other forest biota (Gordon & Jackson 2000; Gorgolewski et al. 2020; Neumann et al. 2018).

Aboveground biomass has traditionally been measured using field studies, which is regarded as the most accurate way to estimate AGB at small scales (Lambert et al. 2005; Lu 2005). Landscape scale AGB estimates are often conducted using a combination of field measurements and spatial characteristics collected from remote sensing such as Landsat (Seidel et al. 2011; Lu et al. 2016). High correlations between vegetation properties and spectral bands allow Landsat images to accurately estimate AGB across large areas (Lu 2005). Landsat images are free to access from the United States Geological Survey's (USGS) EarthExplorer Program for any location across the globe, further increasing their popularity (USGS 2020). Many AGB predictive models using Landsat images are developed on fully forested sites (López-Serrano et al. 2020); or to assess the impacts of deforestation (Wu et al. 2016).

The City of Greater Sudbury, Ontario, Canada and surrounding region has been exposed to legacy effects of centuries of copper (Cu) and nickel (Ni) mining and smelting. Smelting emissions and expansive clear-cutting led to 20,000 ha of barren land with highly eroded soils depleted of essential nutrients (Gunn et al. 1995). Since 1978, sulphur dioxide and particulate metal emissions have been decreased by over 95%, and industry and government have invested over \$35 million (CAD) to begin one of the world's largest regreening programs (City of Greater Sudbury 2020; VETAC 2020). The regreening landscape remains highly heterogenous including large areas of exposed bedrock with little to no soil following massive erosion events. A recent study by Preston et al. (2020) measured AGB at forested sites (n=10) across the regreening area. Preston et al. (2020) did not incorporate historic soil erosion into their site selection, but they highlight its potential to affect AGB pools.

The objectives of the current study were to: 1) assess how AGB and AGB nutrient pools changed over time since regreening at both highly eroded and stable sites using a space-for-time approach. 2) quantify AGB and AGB nutrient pools arising from the City of Greater Sudbury regreening program. To account for the effects of erosion on AGB growth and AGB nutrient accumulation we established two series of sites ranging in time since regreening treatment was applied. One series of sites was heavily influenced by erosion and largely covered by exposed bedrock (>30% bedrock cover) (referred to as "eroded sites"); the other series was covered with a layer of soil (>90% soil cover) (referred to as "stable sites") (Figure 2.1). Aboveground biomass and AGB nutrient pools were expected to increase with time since tree planting at both stable and eroded sites, but tree growth and AGB increases were expected to be larger at stable sites.



Figure 2.1: The left panel is a picture of CON4 an eroded site with an average mineral soil depth of 4.9 cm. The right panel is a picture of CON1 a stable site with an average mineral soil depth of 32.6 cm.

2.2. Materials and Methods

2.2.1. Study area and regreening process

The City of Greater Sudbury (UTM zone 17; Easting: 501620, Northing: 5148797) is in northern Ontario, Canada on the southern portion of the Precambrian Shield. Average monthly temperature ranges from -13.0 °C in January to 19.1 °C in July, and average precipitation is 904 mm per year (Environment Canada 2019). The City of Greater Sudbury lies in the vegetation transition zone between the Great Lakes – St. Lawrence Forests regions of the south and the boreal forest to the north (Rowe 1972). The topography of the region is undulating and dominated by rocky outcrops overlain by soils that are typically shallow and sandy (Pearson & Pitbaldo 1995). Prior to regreening efforts, the soils within the barrens of the City of Greater Sudbury were highly acidic (pH <4.3), devoid of nutrients (particularly P, K, Ca, and Mg) and contained high concentrations of bioavailable Ni and Cu (Winterhalder 1995). In order to increase pH and soil nutrient concentrations over 3,400 ha of land were treated with 10 Mg ha⁻¹ of crushed dolomitic limestone (CaMg(CO₃)₂), 390 kg ha⁻¹ of 6-24-24 N-P-K fertilizer. A grass-seed mixture, that included N-fixing legumes, was applied at a rate of 40 kg ha⁻¹ after liming and fertilizing. Across the entire City of Greater Sudbury 9.9 million trees have been planted with tree species that are native to the region, predominantly: jack pine (Pinus banksiana Lamb.) and red pine (Pinus resinosa Ait.), but also included white pine (Pinus strobus L.), white spruce (Picea glauca Moench) and green alder (Alnus viridis Chaix) (VETAC, 2020). Areas selected for regreening are randomly selected each year resulting in a mosaic of forest stands of different ages.



Figure 2.2: Map of the City of Greater Sudbury, Ontario, Canada including sixteen study sites, the outlines for the barren and semi-barren regions, and the location of the three main smelters.

2.2.2. Site Selection

Sixteen sites varying in time since the regreening treatment were established within the barrens of the Coniston and Copper Cliff smelters (Figure 2.2). The barrens were defined as areas that were devoid of plant life and had soil pH below 4.3 before regreening efforts took place (Lautenbach et al. 1995). All sites were limed, fertilized, seeded, and planted with either red pine and/or jack pine. Planting dates ranged from 1979 to 2006, and sites that only received planting at one time were specifically selected. Sites were split

into two erosion classes based on visually estimated bedrock cover; highly eroded sites had greater than 30% bedrock cover and typically had very little soil. Sites with less than 10% bedrock cover and deeper soils were considered "stable". Six eroded sites and ten stable sites were established. Each site was 30 m x 30 m in size and located within a larger forested area with similar characteristics.

2.2.3. Field sampling

Field sampling was conducted in June 2021. At each site diameter at breast height (dbh) and tree species were recorded for every tree. Trees were categorized as woody plants with a dbh greater than 2.5 cm. Soil depth was measured at nine points at each site using a soil auger. Forest floor depths were taken at nine points using a 30 cm ruler after separating the forest floor from mineral soil using a knife. Elevation was measured using a Garmin eTrex Legend H GPS and slope was measured using a Suunto PM-5/1520 clinometer. Tree cores were taken from three trees at each site to verify age and used for wood nutrient analysis. Two cores were taken from each sampled tree, one at breast height, and the second 20 cm below at a 90° angle from the entrance point of the first core. Cores were stored in plastic straws with the ends taped. Bark samples were taken from these same trees at breast height by scraping bark off the tree using a knife and composited from the three trees in a polyethylene bag. Foliage samples were taken by hand from the highest possible branch from each sampled tree and composited into paper bags. Current year needles were targeted for foliage sampling. Most sites were monocultures of jack or red pine, and the three vegetation sampling trees were selected

29

to be the dominant species (greater than 33% of stems) for each site. On the occasion that both jack and red pine comprised greater than 33% of stems per site vegetation samples were taken from three trees of both species. All vegetation (cores, bark, and foliage) samples were stored in a refrigerator (4 °C) upon return from the field. Vegetation samples were only collected for eleven of the sixteen study sites.

2.2.4. Chemical analysis

All vegetation samples were oven-dried at 105 °C for 24-hours and then milled to a fine powder using a coffee grinder. Milled samples were analyzed for Ca, Mg, K and P by digesting 0.2 g of sample in 2.5 mL of concentrated nitric acid (trace grade 70% nitric acid (HNO₃)) at 100 °C for eight hours followed by a digestion at room temperature for eight hours. The digested material was filtered through a 0.45 µm pore filter paper and diluted using B-pure until total volume reached 25 mL. The digest samples were then diluted 1:10 using B-pure and analyzed using a Perkin Elmer Inductively Ion Coupled Optical Emission Spectrometer (7000 DV). Carbon and N values were determined for the milled vegetation samples using an Elementar Macro CNS analyzer. Quality control was confirmed by running all samples in triplicate and including experimental blanks as well as a NIST-1515 apple leaf standard every 25 samples.

2.2.5. Aboveground biomass and nutrient pools

Aboveground biomass was calculated for each site using dbh-based allometric equations from Lambert et al. (2005). Aboveground nutrient (Ca, Mg, N, P, K, and C) pools were determined using measured nutrient concentrations for each biomass component

(bark, foliage, wood + branches) and the mass of each biomass component from the allometric equations. Tree core chemistry was used for both wood and branches biomass components. For sites where both jack and red pine made up greater than 33% of stems nutrient concentrations for both species were averaged. Aboveground biomass pools were calculated for all sixteen study sites, aboveground nutrient pools were calculated for the eleven sites where chemical analyses on vegetation samples were conducted. Aboveground biomass and nutrient accumulation rates were determined by dividing AGB or nutrient pool size by years since tree planting, which was one year after the application of lime and fertilizer.

2.2.6. Landsat image processing

The Landsat image was acquired from USGS Landsat 8 OLI program from July 9, 2021 (path: 19 and row: 28). A level 1T (L1T) image was selected that had less than 5% cloud cover. Landsat Level-1 products are geometrically corrected by orthorectification of ground control points and digital elevation models (USGS 2019). The image was radiometrically and atmospherically corrected using the semi-classification plugin based on the dark object subtraction (DOS1) technique (Chavez 1996) on Quantam GIS (QGIS) Version 3.2.1 (QGIS.org 2020).

2.2.7. Random forest model development and application

A random forest (RF) model was developed using Landsat 8 OLI bands 2–7, and ten vegetation indices (VIs) (Table 2.1) at 35 sites within the City of Greater Sudbury barren areas where AGB was measured. Each remote sensing variable included in model

development has previously been shown to reflect various components of AGB (Chenge & Osho, 2018; López-Serrano et al. 2020; Zhang et al. 2019). The 35 sites used for model development included: the sixteen study sites, ten sites planted with red and/or jack pine from Rumney et al. (2021), and nine sites that had an AGB of zero (three areas with bare exposed bedrock, three roads, and three lakes). The study sites and zero AGB sites were 30 m x 30 m squares while the Rumney et al. (2021) sites were circular plots with a diameter of 35.68 m.

To assess AGB and AGB nutrient pools for the regreening areas the RF model was applied to the 19,649 ha where red and/or jack pine had been planted across the barren areas of the City of Greater Sudbury. Magnesium, K, and C AGB concentrations were determined by averaging the AGB nutrient concentrations from the study sites. Calcium, P, and N AGB concentrations were determined using a linear regression based on the results from the study sites where nutrient concentration changed with time since tree planting. Nutrient pools were determined for 7,216 ha of the barren areas where red and/or jack pine were planted, and liming and fertilizing took place. Location and dosage rate of lime and fertilizer applications were available from the City of Greater Sudbury regreening data (City of Greater Sudbury 2020). Table 2.1: Vegetation indices included in random forest to develop predictive model for aboveground biomass using remotely sensed

data. Landsat 8 OLI band number depicted using b. L is soil brightness correction factor and its value is 0.5.

Vegetation Index	Equation	Reference
Brightness index (BI)	b2 * 0.3029 + b3 * 0.2786 + b4 * 0.4733 + b5 * 0.5599 + b6 * 0.508 + b7 * 0.1872	Baig et al. (2014)
Green normalized difference vegetation index (GNDVI)	(b5 - b3)/(b5 + b3)	Gitelson et al. (1996)
Greenness vegetation index (GVI)	b2 * -0.2941 + b3 * -0.243 + b4 * -0.5424 + b5 * 0.7276 + b6 * 0.0713 + b7 * -0.1608	Baig et al. (2014)
Land surface water index (LSWI)	(b5 - b6)/(b5 + b6)	Xiao et al. (2004)
Modified soil adjusted vegetation index (MSAVI)	((b5 - b4)/(b5 + b4)) * (1 + L)	Qi et al. (1994)
Normalized difference infrared index (NDII)	(b5 - b6)/(b5 + b6)	Kimes et al. (1981)
Normalized difference infrared index with SWIR2 (NDII7)	(b5 - b7)/(b5 + b7)	Kimes et al. (1981)
Normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI)	(b5 - b4)/(b5 + b4)	USGS, (2016)
Normalized difference water index (NDWI)	(b3 - b6)/(b3 + b6)	Gao, (1996)
Wetness index (WI)	b2 * 0.1511 + b3 * 0.1973 + b4 * 0.3283 + b5 * 0.3407 + b6 * -0.7117 + b7 * -0.4559	Baig et al. (2014)

2.2.8. Statistical analysis

The relationship between AGB (at the hectare and stem scale), and AGB nutrient concentrations, with time since tree planting was assessed using regression coefficient (R²) values from linear regression. Normality was tested for using the Lilliefors corrected Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, variables were considered normally distributed if p was greater than 0.05. Differences in AGB and nutrient accumulation rates between erosion classes were compared using an independent two-group Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test. Differences and relationships were determined to be significant if p was less than 0.05, except for differences in nutrient accumulation rates between erosion classes where differences were significant if p was less than 0.008 following a Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. The AGB predictive model was developed using RF regression for seventeen remotely sensed predictor variables and AGB measurements from 35 sites. Random forest was conducted through the Forest-based Classification and Regression function in ArcGIS Pro version 2.8.2. (ArcGIS Pro, 2021). The training of the RF model was conducted on 90% of the available data with 10% being held back for validation. The selected RF model included 1,500 decision trees, 5 randomly selected variables, and 4 nodes per tree. The RF model was evaluated on the training data set using residual mean squared error (RMSE) and regression coefficient (R²) values and validated using the R² value from the validation data set as well as out-of-bag RMSE. All statistical analysis was done on R version 4.0.2 (Rstudio Team 2020). All maps were created using Quantam GIS (QGIS) Version 3.2.1 (QGIS.org 2020).

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Site characteristics

Stand age ranged from 15 to 42 years old with a median age of 27 years old (Table 2.2). Median eroded site age was 30 years old while median stable site age was 26 years old. Fifty percent of the total sites were dominated by jack pine, 25% by red pine and 25% were a mix of red and jack pine (Table 2.2). Stem density ranged from 578 to 2,378 stems ha⁻¹ with a median stem density of 1,660 stems ha⁻¹. Eroded sites had a median stem density of 1,144 stems ha⁻¹ while stable sites had a stem density of 1,668 stems ha⁻¹. Average tree dbh ranged from 5.1 cm to 16.0 cm with a median of 9.5 cm. Both eroded and stable sites had a median tree dbh of 9.5 cm. Soil depth was a median of 25.1 cm deep for stable sites and 6.0 cm for eroded sites.

			Age	Erosion	Elevation	Slope	Dominant	Tree density	DBH	Forest floor	Mineral soil
Site	Easting	Northing	(years)	class	(m)	(°)	species	(stems ha⁻¹)	(cm)	depth (cm)	depth (cm)
CC1	498390	5148618	24	Stable	309	4	Jack pine	1,822	14.3	4.58	15.06
CC2	498513	5148661	32	Eroded	300	15	Jack pine	1,866	8.1	1.07	3.56
CC3	498375	5150759	23	Stable	298	0	Red pine	1,644	10.9	1.32	25.87
CC10	495810	5143521	37	Stable	215	8	Red pine	1,655	14.7	5.00	23.33
CON1	515267	5148285	34	Stable	270	15	Jack pine	1,078	14.3	4.35	32.62
CON3	513804	5148482	40	Stable	211	8	Jack pine	1,744	8.1	1.78	14.31
CON4	513724	5148484	32	Eroded	258	13	Jack pine	1,666	8.8	0.88	4.94
CON5	512289	5149244	28	Stable	268	3	Mixed	1,666	7.4	4.25	22.94
CON6	512320	5149231	28	Eroded	281	6	Red pine	889	13.2	1.63	10.06
CON7	511116	5147545	21	Stable	241	0	Mixed	2,378	7.0	1.37	46.40
CON9	509020	5149553	15	Eroded	304	6	Jack pine	1,211	5.1	1.03	6.00
CON10	509140	5149646	15	Stable	290	14	Mixed	1,500	6.5	0.92	25.06
CON12	513979	5148306	42	Eroded	278	17	Jack pine	578	16.0	3.50	6.22
CON15	508894	5149251	24	Stable	215	14	Mixed	1,711	7.7	5.50	23.33
CON16	511895	5149249	34	Stable	278	2	Red pine	2,178	14.5	7.00	24.33
D1	509127	5145262	22	Eroded	295	2	Jack pine	1,078	10.2	1.33	4.87

Table 2.2: Site characteristics of sixteen study sites within the barren areas of the City of Greater Sudbury, Ontario, Canada used to

 develop relationship between aboveground biomass and stand age.



Figure 2.3: Relationship between aboveground biomass (AGB) and time since tree planting for both highly eroded sites and stable sites. Figure 2.3A depicts relationship at the hectare scale; Figure 2.3B is per individual stem. Dashed lines represent 95% confidence interval.

2.3.2. Aboveground biomass pools

Aboveground biomass (Mg ha⁻¹) had a significant positive linear relationship with time since tree planting at the site scale for both the eroded (p<0.01) and stable sites (p<0.01) (Figure 2.3A). Stable sites (2.78 ± 1.05 Mg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) had a significantly larger (p<0.01) AGB growth rate compared with eroded sites (1.55 ± 0.38 Mg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹). Aboveground biomass (kg stem⁻¹) also had a significant positive linear relationship with time since tree planting at the stem scale for eroded (p<0.01) and stable sites (p<0.01), however, AGB growth rates per stem were not significantly different (p=0.30) between eroded (1.34 ± 0.71 kg stem⁻¹ year⁻¹) and stable sites (1.59 ± 0.85 kg stem⁻¹ year⁻¹) (Figure 2.3B). Relationships between AGB and time since tree planting at both the hectare and stem scale were also significant when no intercept was included (p<0.01).

Table 2.3: Nutrient concentrations for each biomass component. Both the measured concentrations from the study sites and the concentrations listed for red pine from the Tree Chemistry Database (TCD) (Pardo et al. 2005) are included.

	Bark		Foli	age	Wood	
	Study sites		Study sites		Study sites	
Nutrient	(g kg-1)	TCD (g kg ⁻¹)	(g kg-1)	TCD (g kg ⁻¹)	(g kg-1)	TCD (g kg ⁻¹)
Ca	3.78 ± 2.17	7.65 ± 3.91	3.67 ± 1.81	4.17 ± 1.60	0.80 ± 0.15	1.09 ± 0.35
Mg	0.31 ± 0.14	0.46 ± 0.13	1.27 ± 0.62	0.86 ± 0.34	0.19 ± 0.05	0.19 ± 0.12
Ν	4.82 ± 1.28	3.10 ± 0.38	10.46 ± 1.16	11.49 ± 1.30	1.24 ± 0.40	0.82 ± 0.11
Р	0.33 ± 0.20	0.44 ± 0.08	1.27 ± 0.33	1.28 ± 0.16	0.03 ± 0.03	0.08 ± 0.02
К	0.47 ± 0.47	0.88 ± 0.27	4.36 ± 1.59	3.67 ± 1.00	0.35 ± 0.12	0.24 ± 0.09
С	525.92 ± 26.15	Not available	492.50 ± 15.73	Not available	480.59 ± 5.90	Not available

2.3.3. Aboveground nutrients

Aboveground Ca, Mg, N, P, and K concentrations did not differ between eroded and stable sites and median concentrations were within a standard deviation of healthy red

pine nutrient concentrations included in the United States Department of Agriculture Tree Chemistry Database (TCD) (Pardo et al. 2005) (Table 2.3). Carbon concentration for wood at the study sites was $48.1 \pm 0.6\%$, firmly in between the Martin et al. (2018) values for boreal ($46.8 \pm 0.6\%$) and temperate conifers ($50.1 \pm 0.4\%$). Aboveground nutrient concentrations were not significantly different between eroded or stable sites (p>0.05) (Table 2.4). Accumulation rates of N (p<0.008), P (p<0.008), K (p<0.008), and C (p<0.008) within AGB were significantly higher for stable versus eroded sites at the hectare scale. However, at the stem scale there was no significant difference in nutrient accumulation rates between site erosion classes (p>0.05) (Table 2.4). There was a significant negative linear relationship between AGB concentration of Ca (p<0.05) (Figure 2.4A), N (p<0.01) (Figure 2.4B), and P (p<0.01) (Figure 2.4C) and time since tree planting and no relationship between concentration of Mg, K, or C in AGB and time since tree planting (p>0.05). **Table 2.4:** Aboveground biomass nutrient concentrations and accumulation rates (at both the hectare and stem scale). Asterix denotes significant difference in nutrient concentration, or accumulation rate between eroded and stable erosion classes (p<0.05).

		Nutrient		
		concentrations	Accumulation Rate	Accumulation Rate
Nutrient	Erosion Class	(g kg⁻¹)	(kg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹)	(g stem ⁻¹ year ⁻¹)
Calcium	Eroded	1.44 ± 0.51	1.80 ± 0.29	1.49 ± 0.34
	Stable	1.10 ± 0.21	3.06 ± 0.76	1.61 ± 0.88
Magnesium	Eroded	0.31 ± 0.08	0.48 ± 0.16	0.26 ± 0.20
	Stable	0.26 ± 0.05	0.74 ± 0.23	0.41 ± 0.19
Nitrogen	Eroded	2.07 ± 0.35	2.77 ± 0.69*	2.34 ± 0.76
	Stable	2.22 ± 0.43	5.18 ± 1.77*	2.90 ± 2.10
Phosphorous	Eroded	0.14 ± 0.05	$0.18 \pm 0.04^*$	0.13 ± 0.07
	Stable	0.15 ± 0.06	0.37 ± 0.12*	0.24 ± 0.07
Potassium	Eroded	0.61 ± 0.17	0.75 ± 0.16*	0.67 ± 0.18
	Stable	0.67 ± 0.15	$1.51 \pm 0.38^*$	0.90 ± 0.34
Carbon	Eroded	483.53 ± 3.16	726.67 ± 199.51*	574.17 ± 188.70
	Stable	485.62 ± 6.36	1279.70 ± 402.59*	669.08 ± 475.10



Figure 2.4: Relationship between aboveground nutrient concentrations and time since tree planting for calcium (Ca) (Figure 2.4A), nitrogen (N) (Figure 2.4B), and phosphorous (P) (Figure 2.4C). Dashed lines represent 95% confidence intervals. Regression coefficient (R²) of relationship between time since tree planting and nutrient concentration is included.



Figure 2.5: Predicted aboveground biomass (AGB) values compared with measured AGB for 35 sites where AGB was calculated. Black solid line represents 1:1 line. Solid green line represents regression line. Dashed green lines represent 95% confidence intervals. Relationship between measured and predicted AGB assessed using root mean square error (RMSE) and regression coefficient (R²).

2.3.4. Random forest model and landscape-scale dynamics

Aboveground biomass predictions from the RF model had a R² of 0.91 and RMSE of 13.6 Mg ha⁻¹ when compared with AGB measurements from the training data set (Figure 2.5). Validation of the RF model revealed a R² of 0.91 when compared with AGB measurements of the validation data set and an out-of-bag RMSE of 31.35 Mg ha⁻¹. Total AGB predicted using the RF model for red and jack pine planted sites (19,649 ha) of the City of Greater Sudbury is 1,144,588 Mg (550,547 Mg C) (Figure 2.6). The mass of applied Ca and Mg was 20–100 times greater than the mass of applied N, P, or K (in the form of 6-

24-24 fertilizer) and Ca and Mg pools in ABG amounted to less than 5% of the applied Ca and Mg (Table 2.5). In contrast, the mass of N stored in AGB was over six times higher than the amount of N applied in fertilizer and the proportion of P and K stored within AGB compared relative to applied nutrients was also substantial (Table 2.5).



Figure 2.6: Aboveground biomass for red pine and jack pine planting sites across the City

of Greater Sudbury, Ontario, Canada.

Table 2.5: Comparison of applied nutrients (applied as either lime or fertilizer) with nutrients stored in aboveground biomass (AGB). Aboveground biomass nutrient pools are for all sites in the City of Greater Sudbury that were limed, fertilized, and planted with red and/or jack pine (7,216 ha).

Nutrients	Applied (Mg)	Nutrient concentration	Proportion of applied nutrients stored in AGB (%)
 Nutricitty	Applied (Mg)	(6 6 /	AGD (70)
Calcium	12,707	1.25 ± 0.41	3.74
Magnesium	7707	0.28 ± 0.07	1.17
Nitrogen	126	2.16 ± 0.40	614.41
Phosphorous	239	0.14 ± 0.06	24.84
 Potassium	454	0.64 ± 0.16	45.15

2.4. Discussion

2.4.1. Aboveground biomass pools and accumulation rates

Greater AGB pools at stable versus eroded sites was initially assumed to be due to deeper soils leading to increased stem growth, as both jack pine and red pine have been found to be more productive in deeper soils (Rudolph & Laidly 1990; Rudolph 1990). However, this was not the case as individual stem growth did not differ between the two erosion classes and differences in hectare scale AGB totals is driven by stem density. Initial planting densities reported by the City of Greater Sudbury (2020) were similar to measured stem density at the study sites, suggesting that the higher stem density on stable sites is likely due to increased planting density as opposed to other factors such as increased survivorship. Previous studies assessing C accumulation rates of jack and red pine plantations in northern Ontario, Canada (Hunt et al. 2010), and Manitoba, Canada (Park, 2015), converted AGB growth to C accumulation rates assuming C comprised 48% of AGB for red pine and 50% for jack pine (Hunt et al. 2010; Park 2015). The individual stem growth rates from both Hunt et al. (2010) (1.33 ± 0.33 kg stem⁻¹ year⁻¹) and Park (2015) (0.92 ± 0.53 kg stem⁻¹ year⁻¹) were very similar to values measured in the current study. Despite the history of highly acidified soils and high total metal concentrations, the trees in the regreening sites of the City of Greater Sudbury are growing at similar rates to those of jack and red pine plantations in relatively undisturbed areas regardless of erosion class.

2.4.2. Aboveground nutrient concentrations and accumulation rates

While the median AGB nutrient concentrations for the study sites are like the healthy values from the TCD, concentrations of Ca, P, and N decreased with increasing time since tree planting. A decrease in total AGB concentration of Ca, N, and P with increasing stand age has been documented previously as these nutrients are stored in high concentrations in foliage which accumulates mass very quickly in young trees as opposed to the slower growing, more nutrient poor wood (MacLean and Wein, 1977). The magnitude of the decrease for Ca and P at the study sites is cause for some concern as trees at the two oldest study sites (CON12 and CON3) have bark and wood Ca and P concentrations well below TCD values. Conversely, despite the decreasing concentration of N with time since tree planting AGB N concentration at the oldest sites exceed TCD values.

Aboveground nutrient accumulation rates did not differ between erosion classes once stem density is controlled for. Accumulation rates of Ca, Mg, N, P, K, and C for the study sites increase over time with a pattern similar to AGB growth and closely reflect values from coniferous plantations in similar climates (Alban et al. 1978; Hunt et al., 2010; MacLean and Wein, 1977; Morrison, 1973; Park, 2015). Morrison (1973) assessed nutrient accumulation in a 30-year-old jack pine plantation in northern Ontario, Canada at both high- and low-quality sites defined by biomass yield. The accumulation rates of AGB Ca, Mg, P, and K at the City of Greater Sudbury regreening study sites closely reflected stands from Morrison (1973) grown on poorer quality soils, while AGB N accumulation rates were comparable with the higher quality sites. The similarities of tree growth rates and aboveground nutrient pools between the regreening sites and plantations unimpacted by mining and smelting practices suggest soil amelioration followed by tree planting can lead to successful restoration goals on acidified and heavy metal contaminated soils.

2.4.3. Random Forest estimates of aboveground biomass pools in regreening area

A RF model incorporating ten VIs and Landsat 8 OLI bands 2–7 was a successful predictor of AGB at the current study's regreening sites, further supporting the potential of RF models using Landsat data to predict AGB pools (Gao et al. 2018; Jiang et al. 2021; López-Serrano et al. 2020; Zhang et al. 2019). The strong relationship and low error for the RF model in the current study could be attributed to the regreening forests low complexity and low AGB. The oldest regreening site is only 42 years old and all the sites are often a monoculture with limited understory. It has been reported that models using VIs have decreased accuracy with high complexity forests and saturate at AGB values greater than 150 Mg ha⁻¹ (Lu 2005; Lu et al. 2016). The limited sample size of the current study could also be cause for the high R² and low RMSE values; few studies have investigated AGB pools within the study area, leading to limited access to AGB measurements.

The total AGB for red and jack pine stands across 19,649 ha within the City of Greater Sudbury is 1,144,588 Mg. Using an average of the eroded and stable site growthcurves the average AGB of 58.25 Mg ha⁻¹ implies that the average site is 27.3 years old. As the remediated stands continue to age, we expect AGB to increase as jack pine accumulates biomass up to 100 years old and red pines can accumulate biomass until up to 300 years old (Rudolph & Laidly 1990; Rudolph 1990). The total AGB C pool of 550,547 Mg C is the equivalent to C emissions from 319,158 cars over one year (3.67% of the registered vehicles in the Province of Ontario) (NRCAN 2014). Applying the Canadian government's price for C at \$50 CAD per Mg, the AGB C pools of the regreening sites of the City of Greater Sudbury is equal to \$27.53 million CAD. The current study's AGB C projections only include sites planted with jack and red pine, while jack and red pine were the most planted tree species, there are regions planted with other conifer and deciduous species that are not included in this total (VETAC, 2020).

2.4.4. Landscape-scale aboveground nutrient pools

A concern for long-term forest growth on degraded landscapes is lack of nutrients. To overcome the low nutrient concentrations of the City of Greater Sudbury's barren soils the regreening program applied massive quantities of nutrients (particularly Ca and Mg) to the landscape (Winterhalder 1996). Only 4% of applied Ca and 1% of applied Mg were stored within AGB, this is most likely due to large-scale erosion and run-off removing Ca and Mg from the landscape. A recent study conducted on the same sites as the current study found that large quantities of applied Ca and Mg were unaccounted for in nutrient budgets (Kellaway et al. 2021). High percentages of P, and K were accumulated within AGB which could also be an indication of nutrient limitation and P concentrations in biomass decrease as stands age. Phosphorous has often been reported to be the primary limiting nutrient within the barrens of the City of Greater Sudbury (Beckett & Negusanti 1990; Lautenbach et al. 1995; Munford et al. 2021). The limited soil organic matter and slow decomposition rates caused a limited source of available P and the low soil pH caused large proportions of available P to be bound to inorganic complexes (Marschner 1991). Previous studies on the City of Greater Sudbury barrens found that when liming and fertilizer has been applied vegetation rapidly accumulates P in biomass (Winterhalder 1996). Little work has been done on K limitation in Sudbury, however, liming and fertilizing has been found to either not impact or decrease bioavailable K in soils within the City of Greater Sudbury (Nkongolo et al. 2013; SARA Group 2009). Despite the limited bioavailability of K in soils, Kellaway et al. (2021) found that the equivalent of 95% of applied K at the study sites was stored in biomass.

Limited work has been done on N dynamics in the regreening forests within the City of Greater Sudbury, but this study showed that N pools stored within AGB were found to be over six times as high as the amount applied in fertilizer, implying trees were accumulating N from additional sources outside of fertilizer. The SARA Group (2009) found that total N concentrations in forest soils of the City of Greater Sudbury barrens were lower than those of reference forests, however, residual organic matter in the forest soils of the barrens has been proposed to be a sufficiently large pool to sustain vegetation communities (Winterhalder 1995). The pre-regreening forest soil N pools may make up the difference between N applied as fertilizer and N stored in AGB. Additionally, N-fixing species such as *Lotus corniculatus* (Bird's-foot trefoil), *Trifolium hybridum* (Alsike clover) were planted widely during regreening, and the native *Comptonia peregrina* (Sweet fern), and *Pleurozium sp.* (Feather moss) have become common in the recovering jack pine stands (Lautenbach et al. 1995).

2.5. Conclusions

The City of Greater Sudbury regreening program is regarded as one of the world's largest and has led to over one million tonnes of AGB (over 500,000 tonnes of C) establishing in the 19,649 ha of regreening area over 40 years. Regreening has led to individual trees growing and accumulating nutrients at rates like jack and red pine plantations grown in areas unimpacted by mining and smelting practices. Aboveground nutrient concentrations exceeding TCD values (particularly N) similarly suggest that up to 40 years post regreening, the soil amendments applied to the regreening areas appear to sufficiently support healthy tree growth. This finding emphasizes the ability of regreening treatments to successfully restore tree growth up to 42-years following treatment on highly eroded, acidified, and metal contaminated soils. Some cause for concern going

forward is aboveground P concentrations are decreasing as trees age, and 40-year-old study sites already have aboveground P concentrations below "healthy" tree values. Phosphorous limitation has been previously documented in the regreening areas and future studies should continue to investigate potential future nutrient limitation.

2.6. Acknowledgements

This study is part of the Landscape Carbon Accumulation through Reductions in Emissions (L-CARE) project and is funded by Ontario Centers for Excellence, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, Vale Canada Limited, Sudbury Integrated Nickel Operations and the City of Greater Sudbury. The authors would like to thank the countless volunteers responsible for tree planting, liming, and fertilizing the City of Greater Sudbury barrens. The authors would also like to thank the rest of the L-CARE team as well as Kevin Adkinson, Kaylen Foley, Spencer Gilbert-Parkes, William Humphrey, Edward Kellaway, Kimber Munford, and Jodi Newman for technical support throughout this study. The authors declare that they have no conflict of interests.

2.7. References

- Alban, D.H., Perala, D.A., Schlaegel, B.E., 1978. Biomass and nutrient distribution in aspen, pine and spruce stands on the same soil type in Minnesota. Can. J. For. Res. 8, 290–299.
- ArcGIS Pro. 2021. ESRI. <u>https://www.esri.com/en-us/arcgis/products/arcgis-pro/overview</u>
- Bastin, J.F., Finegold, Y., Garcia C., Mollicone D., Rezende M., Routh D., Crowther, T. W. et al. 2019. The global tree restoration potential. Science 365, 76–79.
- Baig M.H.A., Zhang L., Shuai T., Tong, Q., 2014. Derivation of a tasselled cap transformation based on Landsat 8 at-satellite reflectance. Remote Sens. Lett. 5, 423–431.
- Beckett P.J., Negusanti J., 1990 Using land reclamation practices to improve tree condition in the Sudbury smelting area, Ontario, Canada. Proceedings of the 1990 Mining and Reclamation Conference and Exhibition West Virginia University, Morgantown, West Virginia, USA
- Chavez, P.S., 1996. Image-based atmospheric corrections revisited and improved. Photogramm. Eng. Remote Sensing 62, 1025–1036.
- Chenge, I.B., Osho, J.S.A., 2018. Mapping tree aboveground biomass and carbon in Omo Forest Reserve Nigeria using Landsat 8 OLI data. Southern Forests 80, 341–350.
- City of Greater Sudbury 2020. Regreening program. <u>https://www.greatersudbury.ca/live/environment-and-</u> <u>sustainability1/regreening-program/</u>
- Dieleman, C.M., Rogers, B.M., Potter, S., Veraverbeke, S., Johnstone, J.F., Laflamme, J., Solvik, K., Walker, X.J., Mack, M.C., Turetsky, M.R., 2020. Wildfire combustion and carbon stocks in the southern Canadian boreal forest: Implications for a warming world. Glob. Change Biol. 26, 6062 – 6079.
- Environment Canada 2019. Canadian climate normal. 1981–2010 station data. https://climate.weather.gc.ca/climate_normals/results_1981_2010_e.html
- Friedlingstein, P., Allen, M., Canadell, J.G., Peters, G.P., Seneviratne, S.I., 2019. Comment on "The global tree restoration potential". Science 366, 1–2.
- Gao, B.C., 1996. NDWI—A normalized difference water index for remote sensing of vegetation liquid water from space. Remote Sens. Environ. 58, 257–266.

- Gao, Y., Lu, D., Li, G., Wang, G., Chen, Q., Liu, L., Li, D., 2018. Comparative analysis of modeling algorithms for forest aboveground biomass estimates in a subtropical region. Remote Sens. 10, 627. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10040627
- Gitelson, A.A., Kaufman, Y.J., Merzlyak, M.N., 1996. Use of a green channel in remote sensing of global vegetation from EOS-MODIS. Remote Sens. Environ. 58, 289– 298.
- Gordon, W.S., Jackson, R.B., 2000. Nutrient concentrations in fine roots. Ecology 81, 275–280.
- Gorgolewski, A., Rudz, P., Jones, T., Basiliko, N., Caspersen, J. 2020. Assessing coarse woody debris nutrient dynamics in managed northern hardwood forests using a matrix transition model. Ecosystems 23, 541–554. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-019-00420-7
- Gunn, J., Keller, W., Negusanti, J., Potvin, R., Beckett, P., Winterhalder, K. 1995.
 Ecosystem recovery after emission reductions: Sudbury, Canada. Water Air Soil Pollut. 85, 1783–1788.
- Holl, K.D., Brancalion, P.H.S., 2020. Tree planting is not a simple solution. Science 368, 580–581.
- Hooker, T.B., Compton, J.E., 2003. Forest ecosystem carbon and nitrogen accumulation during the first century after agricultural abandonment. Ecol. Appl. 13, 299–313.
- Hunt, S.L., Gordon, A.M., Morris, D.M., 2010. Carbon stocks in managed conifer forests in northern Ontario, Canada. Silva Fennica 44, 563–582.
- International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) 2020. IUCN Annual 2019 Report. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland.
- Jiang, F., Kutia, M., Ma, K., Chen, S., Long, J., Sun, H., 2021. Estimating the aboveground biomass of coniferous forest in Northeast China using spectral variables, land surface temperature and soil moisture. Sci. Tot. Environ. 785, 147335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.147335
- Johnson, D.W., Todd, D.E., 1998. Harvesting effects on long-term changes in nutrient pools of mixed oak forest. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 62, 1725–1735. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1998.03615995006200060034x
- Kellaway, E.J., Eimers, M.C., Watmough, S.A., 2021. Liming legacy effects associated with the world's largest soil liming and regreening program in Sudbury, Ontario,

Canada. Sci. Tot. Environ. 805, 150321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.150321

- Kimes, D.S., Markham, B.L., Tucker, C.J., McMurtrey III, J.E., 1981. Temporal relationships between spectral response and agronomic variables of a corn canopy. Remote Sens. Environ. 11, 401–411.
- Lambert, M.-C., Ung, C.-H., Raulier, F., 2005. Canadian national tree aboveground biomass equations. Can. J. For. Res. 35, 1996–2018. doi: 10.1139/X05-112
- Lautenbach, W.E., Miller, J., Beckett, P.J., Negusanti, J.J., Winterhalder, K., 1995. Municipal land restoration program: the regreening process, in: Restoration and recovery of an industrial region. pp 109–122.
- Likens, G.E., Driscoll, C.T., Busco, D.C., Siccama, T.G., Johnson, C.E., Lovett, G.M., Fahey, T.J., Reiners, W.A., Ryan, D.F., Martin, C.W., Bailey, S.W., 1998. The biogeochemistry of calcium at Hubbard Brook. Biogeochemistry 41, 89–173. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005984620681
- Likens, G.E., Driscoll, C.T., Busco, D.C., Siccama, T.G., Johnson, C.E., Lovett, G.M., Ryan, D.F., Fahey, T.J., Reiners, W.A., 1994. The biogeochemistry of potassium at Hubbard Brook. Biogeochemistry 25, 61–125. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00000881
- López-Serrano P.M., Cárdenas Domínguez, J.L., Corral-Rivas, J.J., Jiménez, E., López-Sánchez, C.A., Vega-Nieva, D.J. 2020. Modeling of aboveground biomass with Landsat 8 OLI and machine learning in temperate forests. Forests 11, 11. doi:10.3390/f11010011
- Lu, D., 2005. Aboveground biomass estimation using Landsat TM data in the Brazilian Amazon. Int. J. Remote Sens. 26, 2509–2525.
- Lu, D., Chen, Q., Wang, G., Liu, L., Li, G., Moran, E., 2016. A survey of remote sensingbased aboveground biomass estimation methods in forest ecosystems. Int. J. Dig. Earth 9, 63–105.
- MacLean, D.A., Wein, R.W., 1977. Nutrient accumulation for postfire jack pine and hardwood succession patterns in New Brunswick. Can. J. For. Res. 7, 562–578.
- Marschner, H., 1991. Mechanisms of plant adaptation to acid soils. Plant Soil 134, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00010712

- Martin, A.R., Doraisami, M., Thomas, S.C., 2018. Global patterns in wood carbon concentration across the world's trees and forests. Nat. Geosci. 11, 915–920. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-018-0246-x
- Morrison, I.K. 1973. Distribution of elements in aerial components of several natural jack pine stands in northern Ontario. Can. J. For. Res. 3, 170–179. https://doi.org/10.1139/x73-025
- Munford, K.E., Casamatta, M., Basiliko, N., Glasauer, S., Mykytczuk, N.C.S., Watmough, S.A., 2021. Paper birch (*Betula papyrifera*) nutrient resorption rates on nutrientpoor metal-contaminated soils and mine tailings. Water Air Soil Pollut. 232, 33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-020-04975-3
- Narendrula-Kotha, R., Nkongolo, K.K., 2017. Microbial response to soil liming of damaged ecosystems revealed by pyrosequencing and phospholipid fatty acid analyses. PloS one 12: e0168497. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0168497
- Natural Resources Canada (NRCAN) 2014. Learn the facts: fuel consumption and CO₂ https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/sites/www.nrcan.gc.ca/files/oee/pdf/transportation/fu el-efficient-technologies/autosmart_factsheet_6_e.pdf
- Neumann, M., Ukonmaanaho, L., Johnson, J., Benham, S., Vesterdal, L., Novotný, R., Verstraeten, A., Lundin, L., Thimonier, A., Michopoulos, P., Hasenauer, H., 2018. Quantifying carbon and nutrient input from litterfall in European forests using field observations and modeling. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 32, 784–798. https://doi.org/10.1029/2017GB005825
- Nkongolo, K.K., Spiers, G., Beckett, P., Narendrula, R., Theriault, G., Tran, A., Kalubi, K.N. 2013. Long-term effects of liming on soil chemistry in stable and eroded upland areas in a mining region. Water Air Soil Pollut. 224: 1618. DOI 10.1007/s11270-013-1618-x
- Pardo, L.H., Duarte, N., Miller, E.K., Robin-Abbot, M., 2005. Tree chemistry database (Version 1). USDA Forest Service, Northeastern Research Station.
- Park, A., 2015. Carbon storage and stand conversion in a pine-dominated boreal forest landscape. For. Ecol. Manage. 340, 70–81.
- Pearson, D.A.B., Pitblado, J.R., 1995. Geological and geographical setting, in: Restoration and recovery of an industrial region. pp 5–15.
- Pietrzykowski, M., Daniels, W.L., 2014. Estimation of carbon sequestration by pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L) ecosystems developed on reforested post-mining sites in Poland on differing mine soil substrates. Ecol. Eng. 73: 209–218.

- Preston, M.D., Brummell, M.E., Smenderovac, E., Rantala-Sykes, B., Rumney, R.H.M., Sherman, G., Basiliko, N., Beckett, P., Hebert, M., 2020. Tree restoration and ecosystem carbon storage in an acid and metal impacted landscape: Chronosequence and resampling approaches. For. Ecol. Manage. 463: 118012.
- QGIS.org 2020. QGIS Geographic Information System http://www.qgis.org
- Qi, J., Chehbouni, A., Huete, A.R., Kerr, Y.H., Sorooshian, S., 1994. A modified soil adjusted vegetation index. Remote Sens. Environ. 48: 119–126.
- Rogelj, J., Shindell, D., Jiang, K., Fifita, S., Forster, P., Ginzburg, V., Handa, C., Kheshgi, H., Kobayashi, S., Kriegler, E., Mundaca, L., Séférian, R., Vilariño, M.V., 2018. Chapter 2: Mitigation pathways compatible with 1.5°C in the context of sustainable development. In: Masson-Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Pörtner, H.O., Roberts, D., Skea, J., Shukla, P.R., Pirani, A., Moufouma-Okia, W., Péan, C., Pidcock, R., Connors, S., Matthews, J.B.R., Chen, Y., Zhou, X., Gomis, M.I., Lonnoy, E., Maycock, T., Tignor, M., Waterfield, T., (eds) Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- Rowe, J.S., 1972. Forest regions of Canada. Canadian Forest Service, Department of Environment, Ottawa, Canada.
- RStudio Team 2020. RStudio: Integrated Development for R http://www.rstudio.com/
- Rudolf, P.O., 1990. Pinus resinosa Ait Red pine. *Silvics of North America* 1: 442–455.
- Rudolph, T.D, Laidly, P.R., 1990. Pinus banksiana Lamb Jack pine. *Silvics of North America* 1: 280–293.
- Rumney, R.H.M., Preston, M.D., Jones, T., Basiliko, N., Gunn, J., 2021. Soil amendment improves carbon sequestration by trees on severely damaged acid and metal landscape, but total storage remains low. For. Ecol. Manage. 483, 118896.
- SARA Group 2009. Summary of Volume III: Ecological risk assessment. Sudbury Soils Study. SARA Group, Guelph, Canada.
- Seidel, D., Fleck, S., Leuschner, C., Hammett, T., 2011. Review of ground-based methods to measure the distribution of biomass in forest canopies. Ann. For. Sci. 68: 225– 244.

- US Geological Survey (USGS) 2019. Landsat levels of processing details https://www.usgs.gov/core-science-systems/nli/landsat/landsat-levels-processing
- US Geological Survey (USGS) 2016. Landsat surface reflectance-derived spectral indices <u>https://www.usgs.gov/land-resources/nli/landsat/landsat-surface-reflectance-derived-spectral-indices</u>
- US Geological Survey (USGS) 2020. EarthExplorer https://earthexplorer.usgs.gov/
- Vegetation Enhancement Technical Advisory Committee (VETAC) 2020. 2020 Annual Report: Regreening Program. VETAC, Sudbury, Canada.
- Winterhalder, K., 1995. Dynamics of plant communities and soils in revegetated ecosystems: a Sudbury case study, in: Restoration and recovery of an industrial region. pp 173–182.
- Winterhalder, K., 1996. Environmental degradation and rehabilitation of the landscape around Sudbury, a major mining and smelting area. Env. Rev. 4: 185–224.
- Wu, C., Shen, H., Wang, K., Shen, A., Deng, J., Gan, M., 2016. Landsat imagery-based aboveground biomass estimation and change investigation related to human activities. Sustainability 8: 159.
- Xiao, X., Hollinger, D., Aber, J., Goltz, M., Davidson, E.A., Zhang, Q., Moore, B., 2004. Satellite-based modelling of gross primary production in an evergreen needleleaf forest. Remote Sens. Environ. 89: 519–534.
- Yanai, R.D., 1992. Phosphorous budget of a 70-year-old northern hardwood forest. Biogeochemistry 17: 1–22.
- Zhang, R., Zhuo, X., Ouyang, Z., Avitabile, V., Qi, J., Chen, J., Giannico, V., 2019. Estimating aboveground biomass in subtropical forests of China by integrating multisource remote sensing and ground data. Remote Sens. Environ. 232: 111341.

Chapter 3: Soil carbon dynamics following the regreening of a mining and smelting degraded landscape

3.0. Abstract

Increasing forest cover through the regreening of mining and smelting degraded landscapes provides an opportunity for global carbon (C) sequestration. However, the reported effects of regreening on soil C processes are mixed. One of the world's largest regreening programs is in the City of Greater Sudbury, Canada and has been ongoing since 1978. Prior to regreening, the soils in the City of Greater Sudbury area were highly eroded, acidic, rich in bioavailable metals, and poor in nutrients. This study used a chronosequence approach to investigate how forest soil C dynamics have changed with stand age in highly "eroded" sites with minimal soil cover (n=6) and "stable" sites covered by soil (n=6). The relationship between stand age and soil C processes (litterfall, litter decomposition, soil respiration, fine root growth) at both stable and eroded sites, were comparable to observations reported for jack pine (Pinus banksiana Lamb.) and red pine (Pinus resinosa Ait.) plantations that have not been subject to over a century of industrial impacts. There was a "home-field advantage" with respect to litter decomposition, where litter decomposition rates were higher using a site-specific litter compared with a common litter. Higher soil respiration at eroded sites was due to higher soil temperature likely because of a more open canopy. Mineral soil C and aggregate C concentration decreased with stand age. Soil C – particularly forms protected in aggregates – is generally considered the most stable terrestrial C pool and the effects of regreening on soil C (while still poorly

understood) have been found to be highly dependent on local environmental conditions. While the effects of regreening on soil C warrants further investigation, at the City of Greater Sudbury regreening sites the loss of soil C is small relative to the substantial increases in aboveground tree and forest floor C pools leading to a sizeable increase in total ecosystem C pool following application of regreening methods.

3.1. Introduction

Soils are one of the largest global carbon (C) pools, with more C stored in soils than the atmosphere and vegetation combined (Scharlemann et al., 2014). Soil C is made up of both inorganic and organic forms; soil organic C comprises two thirds of global soil C and is derived from residual decaying vegetation and the metabolic activities of living organisms, including fungal and bacterial growth (Batjes, 1996). Further, soil organic C stored in forest soils makes up roughly 45% of the global soil organic C pool (Jobbágy and Jackson, 2000; Lal, 2004), with the remainder mostly stored in grasslands and wetlands. Increasing forest soil C stocks has been targeted as a global climate mitigation measure, however, practices to increase forest soil C pools are controversial and results greatly differ based on ecosystem properties (Mayer et al., 2020; Schmidt et al., 2011).

Degraded landscapes with the potential for forest restoration cover approximately 1.7–1.8 billion hectares of land worldwide, and increasing forest soil C pools on these landscapes represents an opportunity for global C sequestration (Bastin et al., 2019). The regreening of mining and smelting degraded landscapes is of particular interest as soils on these landscapes are generally low in C, and their potential for C accumulation is high
(Ussiri and Lal, 2005). Soils in mining and smelting degraded landscapes are often impacted by erosion, and characterized by low pH, heavy metal contamination, and low nutrients - inhibiting or retarding the growth and establishment of vegetation (Akala and Lal, 2001; Driscoll et al., 2001; Hutchinson and Whitby, 1977; Šourková et al., 2005). Regreening degraded landscapes can include the application of soil amendments such as crushed dolomitic limestone, nitrogen (N) – phosphorous (P) – potassium (K) fertilizers, as well as planting native vegetation (Frouz et al., 2001; Lautenbach et al., 1995; Pietrzykowski and Daniels, 2014). Regreening has been found to increase tree growth (Frouz et al., 2009; Levasseur et al., 2022; Moore et al., 2012), however, the effects on soil C are mixed with studies reporting that regreening can increase (Jandl et al., 2003; Pietrzykowski and Daniels, 2014; Sridhar et al., 2022), decrease (Kreutzer, 1995; Persson et al., 2021), or have no effect (Preston et al., 2020) on soil C pools through the alteration of soil respiration and litter decomposition processes. The effects of regreening on soil C dynamics are governed by site-specific factors and increasing the context on these effects will be beneficial to future regreening projects.

The City of Greater Sudbury, Ontario, Canada, and surrounding region has been exposed to legacy effects of well over one century of copper (Cu) and nickel (Ni) mining and smelting. Smelting emissions and expansive clear-cutting led to ~20,000 ha of barren land with highly eroded, acidic soils enriched in metal toxicants and depleted of essential nutrients, inhibiting the regrowth of vegetation (Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980a, 1980b). Ecosystem processes such as litter decomposition, soil respiration, and root growth were highly impaired (Amiro and Courtin, 1981; Hutchinson and Whitby, 1977). However, the City of Greater Sudbury's regreening program is one of the world's largest; more than 3,400 ha of land has been limed and fertilized and over 10 million trees have been planted since 1978 while sulphur dioxide (SO₂) and particulate metal emissions have decreased by over 95% (VETAC, 2021).

The City of Greater Sudbury's landscape provides a unique location to investigate the effects of regreening on forest soil C dynamics as treatments were, and continue to be, applied in a patchwork approach, allowing us to develop a chronosequence of sites varying in time since regreening treatment. To account for the effects of erosion on soil C processes we established two series of sites ranging in stand age. One series of sites was heavily influenced by erosion and largely covered by exposed bedrock (>30% bedrock cover) (referred to as "eroded sites"); the other series was covered with a layer of soil (>90% soil cover) (referred to as "stable sites"). The objective of the current study was to determine how forest soil C dynamics change with stand age, and if forest soil C dynamics differ between highly eroded and sites with more stable soils. We tested the hypotheses that forest soil C cycling will change over stand age and with erosion class. Specifically we predicted that: 1) litterfall C inputs will increase with stand age and be higher at stable sites; 2) fine root production will decrease with stand age and there will be no difference between site types; 3) litter decomposition rates will increase with stand age and not differ between eroded and stable sites; 4) litter decomposition rates will be higher using sitespecific versus common litter; 5) soil respiration will increase with stand age and be higher at stable sites; 6) forest floor C pools will increase with stand age and be higher at stable sites; 7) bulk mineral soil and aggregate C concentrations will increase with stand age and will be higher at stable sites; 8) total ecosystem C pools will increase with stand age in our relatively young (~40 year old max) sites regardless of changes in soil C.

3.2. Materials and Methods

3.2.1. Study area and regreening process

The City of Greater Sudbury (UTM zone 17; Easting: 501620, Northing: 5148797) is in northern Ontario, Canada, on the southern portion of the Precambrian Shield at an elevation of 347 m. Thirty-year (1981–2010) average monthly temperature ranges from -13.0 °C in January to 19.1 °C in July, and average precipitation is 904 mm per year (Environment Canada, 2022). The City of Greater Sudbury lies in the vegetation transition zone between the Great Lakes – St. Lawrence forest regions of the south and the boreal forest to the north (Rowe, 1972). The topography of the region is undulating and dominated by rocky outcrops overlain by soils that are typically shallow and sandy (Pearson and Pitblado, 1995). Prior to regreening efforts, the soils within the barrens of the City of Greater Sudbury were highly acidic (pH <4.3), devoid of nutrients, and contained high concentrations of bioavailable Cu and Ni (Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980b). Since 1978, more than 3,400 ha of land have been treated with 10 Mg ha⁻¹ of crushed dolomitic limestone (CaMg(CO₃)₂), 390 kg ha⁻¹ of 6-24-24 N-P-K fertilizer, and 40 kg ha⁻¹ of a grass-seed mixture, that included N-fixing legumes. One-year after the application of lime, fertilizer, and grass-seed, trees were planted and across the entire City of Greater Sudbury region 10 million trees have been planted with species that are native to the region. Planted tree species were predominantly jack pine (*Pinus banksiana* Lamb.) and red pine (*Pinus resinosa* Ait.), but also included white pine (*Pinus strobus* L.), white spruce (*Picea glauca* Moench) and green alder (*Alnus viridis* Chaix) (VETAC, 2021). Areas for regreening are selected each year based on multiple operational and resource factors and needs, resulting in a mosaic of forest stands of different ages in the barren and semibarren areas of the region.

3.2.2. Site Selection

Fifteen study sites were established within the barrens of the Coniston and Copper Cliff smelters (Figure 3.1) The barrens were defined as areas that were largely devoid of plant life and had soil pH below 4.3 before regreening efforts took place (Lautenbach et al., 1995). We established two series of sites ranging in stand age, six "eroded" sites (>30% bedrock cover); and six "stable sites" (>90% soil cover) (Figure 1). Both eroded and stable sites (collectively referred to as "regreening sites") were limed, fertilized, seeded, and planted with either jack pine and/or red pine. Planting dates ranged from 1981 to 2006, and sites that only received planting at one time were specifically selected. Two untreated sites were also established within the barrens that received no regreening treatment, untreated sites included highly coppiced paper birch (*Betula papyrifera* Marshall), trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides* Michx.), and red maple (*Acer rubrum* L.). Additionally, an old plantation site was established where red pines were planted in 1960 prior to the beginning of the regreening program; the old plantation was used as a benchmark to compare future forest soil C processes within the regreening sites. All study plots were 10 m x 10 m in size and located within a larger forested area with similar characteristics.



Figure 3.1: Map of the City of Greater Sudbury region in Ontario, Canada, including fifteen study sites, the outlines for the barren and semi-barren regions, and the locations of the three main smelters (City of Greater Sudbury, 2023).

3.2.3. Field sampling

3.2.3.1. Soil sampling

Soil sampling was conducted between May–August 2019. At each site, total mineral soil depth to bedrock was measured at sixteen grid points using a soil auger (20 cm

length by 5 cm width). Both forest floor and mineral soil samples were taken at nine points within each site (three horizontally along both the north and south borders of the plot and three running horizontally through the center). Mineral soils were sampled using a soil auger for 0–5 cm depths at eroded and stable sites, and 5–10 cm depths at only stable sites as no eroded sites had mineral soils deeper than 5 cm. Forest floor samples were collected by cutting a 10 cm x 10 cm square using a knife and separating the forest floor into L (litter) and fibric-humic (FH) layers (Soil Classification Working Group, 1998). The depth of the L and FH layers at each sampling location were measured. Mineral soil bulk density (BD) samples were also taken using a BD hammer for the 0–5 cm and 5–10 cm (when mineral soils reached 10 cm) depths at three points in each plot (north corner, plot center, and south corner). Forest floor and mineral soil samples were immediately placed in sealable polyethylene bags. All soil samples were stored in a refrigerator (4 °C) upon return from the field.

3.2.3.2. Litter traps

Three litter traps were established in July 2018 at each site (north corner, plot center, and south corner). Litter traps were created using a milk crate with a 30 cm x 40 cm opening at the top. A mesh hammock (made using 2 mm mesh) was suspended within the trap so that no litter was sitting at the bottom of the trap. Large branches were removed from litter traps, but foliage, small twigs, and seeds were all collected as litter. Litter was collected 3 times a year (in both 2018 and 2019) between July and November. Litter was

immediately placed in sealable polyethylene bags. All litter samples were stored in a refrigerator (4 °C) upon return from the field.

3.2.3.3. Litter decomposition bags

Eighteen 20 cm x 20 cm litter decomposition bags (made using 2 mm fiberglass mesh) were placed at each site. Nine litter bags were filled with 3 g of oven-dried nonmilled litter collected from the respective sites' litter traps (referred to as "site-specific litter") and nine were filled with oven-dried red pine and jack pine litter (paper birch litter for the untreated sites) collected adjacent to one specific site (E89a) to control for litter quality (referred to as "common litter"). In April 2019, the nine site-specific litter bags were tied together, and left on top of the forest floor secured to the base of a tree at plot center. The same procedure was performed for the common litter bags. In November 2019, 2020, and 2021 (0.5, 1.5, 2.5 years after deployment), three site-specific and three common litter bags were removed from each site. The litter bags were immediately placed in sealable polyethylene bags in the field (Bocock and Gilbert, 1957).

3.2.3.4. Fine root ingrowth cores

Fine root ingrowth cores were constructed using a polyethylene mesh with 2 mm openings. The mesh was formed into an open-ended cylinder 10 cm in height and 3 cm in diameter. Ingrowth cores were placed 10 cm deep in the soil where possible; where soil was less than 10 cm deep, cores were buried as deep as possible and depth was recorded. The cores were filled with dried and sieved (to 2 mm) soil from the respective site, cores were filled until soil in the core was at the same height as surrounding mineral soil. At each site ten ingrowth cores were installed in April 2019, two cores were placed at each corner of the site and plot center, ingrowth cores retrieved in November 2020 (Persson, 1979).

3.2.3.5. Soil CO₂ respiration

Soil CO₂ respiration was measured every three weeks between April and September 2019. Five PVC soil collars with a radius of 5 cm and a height of 20 cm were installed at each site at a soil depth ranging from 3–7 cm. Total soil respiration of CO₂ was measured using a Gasmet DX-4040 Trace Gas Analyzer. The chamber was placed on top of the collar and measured flux chamber concentrations of CO₂ for 5 minutes with 20 second measurement times. Prior to soil CO₂ measurements, soil temperature was measured at 5 cm depth using a soil thermometer adjacent to each respiration collar.

3.2.3.6. Tree surveys and vegetation sampling

Tree surveys were conducted July 2018, and vegetation sampling was conducted July 2019. Diameter at breast height (dbh) and tree species were recorded for every tree within each of the 10 m x 10 m sites. Trees were categorized as woody plants with a dbh greater than 2.5 cm. Tree cores were taken from three trees in each site to verify age and used for wood C analysis. Two cores were taken from each sampled tree, one at breast height, and the second 20 cm below at a 90° angle from the entrance point of the first core. Cores were stored in plastic straws with the ends taped. Stand age was not measured at the untreated sites as sprout and root system of paper birch and trembling aspen are potentially much older than individual stems (Courtin, 1995). Bark samples were taken from the three trees where tree cores were taken at all sites these same trees at breast

height by scraping bark off the tree using a knife and composited from the three trees in a polyethylene bag. Foliage samples were taken by hand from the highest possible branch from each sampled tree and composited into paper bags. Current year needles were targeted for foliage sampling. Most sites were monocultures of jack or red pine, and the three vegetation sampling trees were selected to be the dominant species (greater than 33% of stems) for each site. On the occasion that both jack and red pine comprised greater than 33% of stems per site vegetation samples were taken from three trees of both species. All vegetation (tree cores, bark, and foliage) samples were stored in a refrigerator (4°C) upon return from the field.

3.2.4. Sample preparation and laboratory analysis

All samples were oven-dried at 105°C for 24-hours once returned from the field. Bulk densities were calculated for the L, FH, 0–5 cm, and 5–10 cm samples by dividing the oven-dry mass by the sample volume. Litter from litterfall traps and litter bags were weighed after drying. Litter, forest floor, and vegetation samples were milled to a fine powder using a grinder. Mineral soil samples were sieved to 2 mm. Fine roots were picked out of soils in the fine root ingrowth cores by hand and weighed. A subset of mineral soil samples (n=36) were separated into three different aggregate size fractions (>200 μ m, 63– 200 μ m, and <63 μ m) through wet-sieving using a 5 g L⁻¹ hexametaphosphate and reverseosmosis water solution (Cambardella and Elliott, 1993). This method avoids aggregates from breaking down into primary particles (von Lützow et al., 2007). Litterfall, litter decomposition, vegetation, forest floor, bulk mineral soils, and aggregates were analyzed for C and N concentrations using an Elementar Macro CNS analyzer. Quality control was confirmed by running all samples in triplicate and including three NIST-1515 apple leaf standards and one control sample (16 mg sulfadiazine) every 25 samples.

3.2.5. Calculations

3.2.5.1. Carbon pools

Forest floor and mineral soil C pools were determined for each layer by multiplying the median bulk density (g cm⁻³) by the median layer depth (cm); the mass of each layer (per ha) was then multiplied by the layer's median C concentrations (%). Aboveground biomass pools were calculated using the dbh-based allometric equations developed by Lambert et al. (2005). Aboveground C pools were determined using measured C concentrations (%) for each biomass component (bark, foliage, wood + branches) and the mass of each biomass component from the allometric equations (Mg ha⁻¹). Tree core C concentrations (%) were used for both wood and branches biomass components. For sites where both jack pine and red pine made up greater than 33% of stems, C concentrations (%) for both species were averaged.

3.2.5.2. Litterfall carbon

The mass of litterfall collected in the three traps per site (g) was summed and extrapolated to the hectare scale using the area of the three litter traps combined (0.36 m²). Litterfall mass was then multiplied by measured litterfall C concentrations (%).

3.2.5.3. Fine root production

Fine root production was calculated by extrapolating the mass of roots in each

ingrowth core (g) to a m² and dividing by years spent in field. Carbon concentrations were not measured for fine roots due to limited sample (Persson, 1979).

3.2.5.4. Decomposition calculations

Litter decomposition rate constants were determined using the Olson (1963) equation:

$$k = -\ln\left(\frac{X_t}{X_0}\right)/t \qquad [Equation 3.1]$$

where k is the decomposition rate constants, X_t is the mass of litter C (g) remaining in each litter bag after t time (years), and X_0 is the initial mass of litter C (g) in each bag.

3.2.5.5. Soil carbon respiration

Ten to 15 measurements of CO₂ concentration (ppm) were taken over 5 minutes (one reading every 20–30 seconds), the first CO₂ measurement was subtracted from the last CO₂ measurement. Rates of soil respiration (FCO₂) (μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) were calculated using the following two equations:

$$n = PV/RT_{atm}$$
 [Equation 3.2]

$$FCO_2 = n * [\Delta CO_2] / t / A$$
 [Equation 3.3]

where *n* is the number of moles of gas, *P* is pressure measured in the Gasmet chamber in Pa, *R* is the ideal gas constant (8.314 m³ Pa mol⁻¹ K⁻¹), *T*_{atm} is the temperature measured in the Gasmet chamber in K, *V* is the combined volume of the Gasmet chamber and the soil collar headspace in m³, [ΔCO_2] is the change in CO₂ concentration during each measurement period in ppm, *t* is the sample period time in s, and *A* is the area of each collar in m².

The temperature sensitivity parameter (Q_{10}) was calculated by applying the coefficients from the relationship between soil temperature and CO₂ emission rates, Q_{10} was calculated for each site type using:

$$\ln(FCO_2) = B_0 + B_1 * T_{soil}$$
 [Equation 3.4]

$$Q_{10} = e^{(B_1 * 10)}$$
 [Equation 3.5]

where B_0 and B_1 are coefficients, and T_{soil} is soil temperature in °C. To standardize soil temperature among site types, Q_{10} was used to calculate soil CO₂ emission rates adjusted to a soil temperature of 10°C (FCO₂@10°C) for each individual soil collar at each measurement period using:

$$FCO_2@10^{\circ}C = FCO_2/(Q_{10}^{\frac{T_{soil}-10}{10}})$$
 [Equation 3.6]

3.2.6. Statistical analyses

Logarithmic and linear regressions were used to assess the relationship between stand age and a variety of variables including litterfall rates, fine root production, litter decomposition k-values, litter C:N, forest floor C pools, bulk and aggregate mineral soil C concentrations, and soil CO₂ emissions (both temperature adjusted and unadjusted). Normality of the error terms was assessed using quantile-quantile plots. Relationships were determined to be significant if p was less than 0.05. Normality of data used for comparisons were tested using the Lilliefors corrected Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, variables were considered normally distributed if p was greater than 0.05. Differences between site types were tested using Kruskal-Wallis tests for several variables including: litterfall rates, fine-root production, litter decomposition k-values, litter C:N ratios, forest floor C accumulation rates, bulk and aggregate mineral soil C concentration, soil temperature, and soil CO₂ emissions (both adjusted and unadjusted); differences were considered significant if p was less than 0.05. Site types that were significantly different using the Kruskal-Wallis tests were tested using the Mann-Whitney U-test to determine which groups were significantly different from one another; differences were considered significant based on Bonferonni corrections. The Kruskal-Wallis, Mann-Whitney U-test with Bonferroni correction procedure was also followed to test differences in k-values and C:N ratios between litter in decomposition bags that had been deployed in the field for varying amounts of time as well as common and site-specific litter. All statistical analyses were completed using R version 4.0.5 (RStudio, 2020). All maps were created using Quantam GIS version 3.2.1 (QGIS.org, 2022).

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Site characteristics

Jack pine was the dominant tree species at 67% of the eroded sites and 33% of the stable sites; red pine dominated the remaining 33% of eroded sites and 17% of the stable sites; 50% of the stable sites were dominated by a mix of jack and red pine. The old plantation was a red pine monoculture. Both untreated sites were dominated by paper birch (Table 3.1). Median stem density was higher at stable sites (1655 stems ha⁻¹) compared with eroded sites (1355 stems ha⁻¹) but stem density at the regreening sites was considerably lower than the untreated sites (3000 stems ha⁻¹) and considerably higher than the old plantation (800 stems ha⁻¹). Median forest floor depth decreased in the order

of old plantation (6 cm) > untreated (4.1 cm) > stable (2.1 cm) > eroded (1.5 cm). While median mineral soil depth decreased in the order of old plantation (>100 cm) > untreated (40 cm) > stable (25.1 cm) > eroded (6 cm) (Table 3.1). Median mineral soil bulk density decreased in the order of stable (0.91 \pm 0.27 g cm⁻³), OP (0.87 \pm 0.22 g cm⁻³), eroded (0.81 \pm 0.14 g cm⁻³), and untreated (0.78 \pm 0.27 g cm⁻³).

			Stand age		Elevation	Slope	Dominant	Tree density	DBH	Forest floor depth	Mineral soil depth	Mineral soil bulk density
Site	Easting	Northing	(years)	Site type	(m)	(°)	species	(stems ha⁻¹)	(cm)	(cm)	(cm)	(g cm ⁻³)
E06	509020	5149553	15	Eroded	304	6	Jack pine	1,211	5.5	0.5	6.0	0.62
E99a	509127	5145262	22	Eroded	295	2	Jack pine	1,078	11.1	3.3	4.9	0.84
E99b	509428	5147592	22	Eroded	276	1	Red pine	1,500	9.8	2.1	4.8	0.87
E93	512320	5149231	28	Eroded	281	6	Red pine	889	12.6	1.6	10.1	0.73
E89a	498513	5148661	32	Eroded	300	15	Jack pine	1,866	10.6	1.3	3.6	0.89
E89b	513724	5148484	32	Eroded	258	13	Jack pine	1,666	13.1	1.4	4.9	0.95
S06	509140	5149646	15	Stable	290	14	Mixed	1,500	5.4	0.4	25.1	0.54
S00	511116	5147545	21	Stable	241	0	Mixed	2,378	8.6	4.2	46.4	0.70
S98	498375	5150759	23	Stable	298	0	Red pine	1,644	9.6	2.7	25.9	0.83
S93	512289	5149244	28	Stable	268	3	Mixed	1,666	10.7	3.0	22.9	1.19
S87	515267	5148285	34	Stable	270	15	Jack pine	1,078	15.5	1.6	32.6	0.88
S81	513804	5148482	40	Stable	211	8	Jack pine	1,744	10.9	1.2	14.3	1.05
Ua	509030	5144997	NA	Untreated	267	11	Paper birch	2,600	5.5	5.3	32.0	0.64
Ub	508655	5144612	NA	Untreated	260	6	Paper birch	3,400	6.4	2.9	48.0	0.89
OP	504718	5145254	61	Old plantation	267	4	Red pine	800	24.5	6.0	>100.0	0.87

Table 3.1: Site characteristics of the 15 study sites within the barren and semi-barren areas of the City of Greater Sudbury, Canada.

3.3.2. Litterfall carbon

Annual litterfall C flux and stand age were not significantly related for either the 2018 or 2019 sampling period (p>0.05) (Figure 3.2) and there were no significant differences in annual litterfall C flux among site types (p>0.05) (Appendix). While not significantly different, the old plantation had higher annual litterfall C (2.02 Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) than stable (1.33 ± 0.39 Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), eroded (1.00 ± 0.38 Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), or untreated (0.91 ± 0.10 Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) sites. For stable and eroded sites, the 2019 (1.34 ± 0.43 Mg ha yr⁻¹) sampling season had a marginally higher litterfall C compared with 2018 (0.96 ± 0.29 Mg ha yr⁻¹) (p=0.04) (Appendix).



Figure 3.2: Annual litterfall (mean) carbon for the 2018 and 2019 field seasons and stand age for eroded, stable, untreated, and old plantation sites.

3.3.3. Fine root production

Fine root production measured after 18 months in the 0–10 cm soil layer decreased significantly (77.35 ± 40.49 g m⁻² yr⁻¹ to 7.79 ± 11.34 g m⁻² yr⁻¹) with stand age at stable sites (R^2 =0.22, p<0.01) but not at eroded sites (p>0.05) (Figure 3.3). Eroded sites (21.21 ± 17.39 g m⁻² yr⁻¹) had significantly lower fine root production compared with untreated sites (55.80 ± 39.63 g m⁻² yr⁻¹) (p<0.05); however, there were no other significant differences in fine root production among site types (p>0.05) (Appendix).



Figure 3.3: Fine root production (mean ± standard deviation) after 18-months deployment (April 2019–October 2020) and stand age for eroded, stable, untreated, and old plantation sites. Solid line is linear regression line for the relationship between fine root production and stand age at stable sites. Dashed lines are 95% confidence intervals.

3.3.4. Litter decomposition

The *k* values of site-specific litter did not differ among site types regardless of litterbag exposure period (p>0.05) (Figure 3.4). Using site-specific litter, *k* values were significantly lower after 2.5-years compared with 0.5-years at eroded (0.31 \pm 0.11 versus 0.15 \pm 0.04) and stable sites (0.34 \pm 0.17 versus 0.18 \pm 0.07) (p<0.05); there were no significant differences in *k* values and length of exposure at old plantation and untreated sites (p>0.05) (Figure 3.4). Litter C:N ratios were significantly lower at untreated sites (35.7 \pm 15.0) compared with all other site types (p<0.0001). Median *k* values were significantly higher using site-specific litter compared with common litter at eroded (0.22 \pm 0.10 versus 0.17 \pm 0.06) and stable sites (0.27 \pm 0.14 versus 0.17 \pm 0.09) (p<0.01) (Figure 3.5). Median C:N ratios were significantly lower in site-specific versus common litter for all deployment times except prior to exposure (0 years) coinciding with lower rates of decomposition. There were no changes in *k*-value or C:N ratio with stand age for eroded or stable sites.



Figure 3.4: Comparison between decomposition k-values (**top panel**) and carbon:nitrogen ratios (C:N) (**lower panel**) for litter bags after 0, 0.5, 1.5, and 2.5-years deployment in the field at eroded, stable, untreated, and old plantation sites using site-specific litter. Box center lines are medians, box limits are 25th and 75th percentiles, whiskers are at most 1.5 times the inter-quartile range, and dots beyond whiskers are outliers. Significant differences (p<0.05) in k-values and C:N ratios with varying times in the field are denoted

by differing letters under brackets; significant differences (p<0.05) in k-values and C:N ratios between site types are denoted by differing letters above brackets.



Figure 3.5: Decomposition k-values (**top panel**) and carbon:nitrogen (C:N) ratios (**bottom panel**) for stable and eroded sites using site-specific versus common litter at various deployment lengths. Box center lines are medians, box limits are 25th and 75th percentiles, whiskers are outliers. Significant differences denoted as: **p<0.01; ***p<0.001, n.s. p>0.05.

3.3.5. Forest floor carbon

Forest floor C mass increased significantly with stand age at both eroded (3.49 \pm 0.36 Mg ha⁻¹ to 10.45 \pm 3.06 Mg ha⁻¹) (R²=0.27, p<0.001) and stable sites (2.46 \pm 1.02 Mg ha⁻¹ to 15.12 \pm 2.65 Mg ha⁻¹) (R²=0.63, p<0.001) (Figure 3.6). Forest floor C pools were similar between untreated sites (16.01 \pm 3.95 Mg ha⁻¹) and the old plantation site (14.85 \pm 2.49 Mg ha⁻¹).



Figure 3.6: Forest floor carbon pool (mean ± standard deviation) and stand age for eroded, stable, untreated, and old plantation sites. Solid lines are logarithmic regression line for the relationships between forest floor carbon and stand age at eroded and stable sites. Dashed lines are 95% confidence intervals.

3.3.6. Soil carbon

Soil C concentrations were low and decreased significantly with stand age at eroded (4.14 \pm 1.04% to 2.44 \pm 0.79%) (R²=0.2; p<0.01) and stable sites (3.40 \pm 0.93% to

1.76 ± 0.57%) (R²=0.35; p<0.0001) in the 0–5 cm mineral soil depth and at stable sites in the 5–10 cm mineral soil depth (3.05 ± 0.79% to 0.78 ± 0.21%) (R²=0.55; p<0.0001) (Figure 3.7). Soil C concentrations decreased significantly with stand age in all aggregate size fractions at stable sites (>200 μ m fraction (18.41 ± 5.66% to 3.37 ± 0.49%) (R²=0.70, p<0.001), 63–200 μ m fraction (5.66 ± 3.51% to 1.74 ± 0.91%) (R²=0.39, p<0.001), <63 μ m fraction (2.30 ± 0.80% to 0.56 ± 0.21%) (R²=0.60, p<0.001)) but only in the >200 μ m fraction (8.61 ± 1.63% to 3.42 ± 1.51%) (R²=0.40, p<0.05) at eroded sites (Figure 3.8). In both bulk soils and aggregate fractions soil C concentrations at the untreated sites were more similar to the youngest regreening sites, while soil C at the old plantation were more similar to the oldest regreening sites.



Figure 3.7: Soil carbon concentration (mean ± standard deviation) and stand age for eroded, stable, untreated, and old plantation sites at the 0–5 cm depth (**left panel**) and 5–

10 cm depth (**right panel**). Solid lines are linear regression lines for relationship between aboveground carbon and stand age for both erosion classes. Dashed lines are 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 3.8: Soil carbon concentrations (mean \pm standard deviation) in the 0–5 cm depth and stand age for eroded, stable, untreated, and old plantation sites using the >200 µm soil fraction (**left panel**) 63–200 µm fraction (**center panel**) and <63 µm fraction (**right panel**). Solid lines are linear regression lines for relationship between aboveground carbon and stand age for both erosion classes. Dashed lines are 95% confidence intervals.

3.3.7. Soil respiration

Soil temperature was significantly higher at eroded sites compared with all other site types (p<0.0001); there were no other significant differences in soil temperature among site types (p>0.05) (Table 3.2). Soil CO_2 emissions were significantly related to soil

temperatures at all sites (R²=0.21; p<0.0001) (Figure 3.9), and these relationships became stronger when separated into site types for eroded (R²=0.24; p<0.0001), untreated (R²=0.30; p<0.0001), and old plantation sites (R²=0.63; p<0.0001); however, the relationships were weaker but still significant for stable sites (R²=0.13; p<0.0001). Soil CO₂ emissions differed significantly among site types (p<0.0001) with untreated sites having the highest CO₂ emission rate followed by eroded and then stable sites (Table 3.2). In contrast, soil CO₂ emissions at the old plantation were not significantly different to the other sites. When soil CO₂ emissions were adjusted to 10°C they were significantly higher at untreated sites (1.47 ± 0.73 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹) compared with stable sites (1.21 ± 0.62 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹) (p<0.05) and there were no other significant differences in adjusted CO₂ emissions between site types (p>0.05) (Appendix). Soil CO₂ emissions adjusted to 10°C were very weakly related to stand age at stable sites (R²=0.03; p=0.02) and had no relationship with stand age at eroded sites (p>0.05) (Figure 3.10).

Table 3.2: Median soil carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions, median soil temperature, and the temperature sensitivity parameter (Q_{10}) for all eroded, stable, untreated, and old plantation sites between April–September 2019. Significant differences (p<0.05) in soil CO₂ emissions or soil temperature among site types are denoted using differing letters.

	Soil CO ₂ emission	Soil temperature	
Site type	(µmol m⁻² s⁻¹)	(°C)	Q ₁₀
Eroded	2.22 ± 1.31 ^a	19.8 ± 5.1 ^a	1.75
Stable	1.52 ± 0.98 ^b	15.5 ± 3.8 ^b	1.60
Untreated	3.03 ± 1.69°	16.9 ± 3.2 ^b	3.26
Old plantation	2.27 ± 1.32 ^{abc}	14.2 ± 4.2^{b}	3.32



Figure 3.9: Soil carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions and soil temperature for all eroded, stable, untreated, or old plantation study sites from April–September 2019. Dashed lines are exponential regression line for relationship between soil CO₂ emissions and soil temperature for eroded (orange line), stable (blue line), untreated (green line), old plantation, (purple line), and all sites (black line).



Figure 3.10: Soil carbon dioxide (CO_2) emissions (mean ± standard deviation) adjusted to 10°C and stand age for eroded, stable, untreated, and old plantation sites between April–September 2019.

3.3.8. Total ecosystem carbon pools

Total ecosystem C, aboveground C, and forest floor C pools increased with stand age at stable and eroded sites (Figure 3.11). In contrast, mineral soil C pools decreased with stand age at the 0–5 cm and 5–10 cm depth (in stable sites) and slightly decreased at the 0–5 cm depth in eroded sites. The oldest eroded and stable sites had higher total ecosystem C pools compared with the untreated sites largely due to the considerably larger aboveground C pools at regreening sites. Untreated sites had the largest forest floor C pools and mineral soil C pools were greater than those of the oldest stable sites but less than the oldest eroded sites in the 0–5 cm depths (Figure 3.11).



Figure 3.11: Total ecosystem carbon (C) pools over time for eroded (**center-left panel**) and stable sites (**center-right panel**), as well as total ecosystem C pools for untreated sites (**left panel**) and the old plantation (**right panel**).

3.4. Discussion

This study investigated soil C dynamics at a chronosequence of sites where regreening treatments were applied between 15-40 years ago, as well as an untreated site and an old plantation site treated prior to the regreening program. At the regreening sites there were no relationships with stand age and litterfall or between site types. Fine root production decreased with stand age at stable sites but did not change at eroded sites. Forest floor C pools increased with stand age at both eroded and stable sites. Litter decomposition rates were not significantly related to stand age; however, litter decomposition rates were significantly higher and litter C:N ratios were significantly lower when using site-specific litter compared with common litter. Bulk mineral soil C concentrations decreased with stand age in the 0–5 cm mineral soil horizon at both stable and eroded sites and in the 5–10 cm mineral soil horizon at stable sites. Mineral soil aggregate C concentrations decreased with stand age in all fractions at stable sites but only in the >200 μ m fraction at eroded sites. Both bulk mineral soil and aggregate fraction C concentrations at the youngest regreening sites were more like the untreated sites, while the oldest regreening sites were more like the old plantation site. Soil temperature and soil CO₂ emissions were significantly higher at eroded versus stable sites. However, once soil CO₂ emissions were adjusted for consistent temperature only untreated sites were significantly different from the other site types; there were also no relationships between adjusted soil CO_2 emissions and stand age. At the regreening sites total ecosystem C pools increased with stand age. The increase in total ecosystem C pool with stand age was largely due to increasing aboveground C pools and both stable and eroded sites had larger ecosystem C pools than the untreated sites and similar to the old plantation.

3.4.1. Litterfall

We predicted that litterfall C would increase with stand age and would be higher at stable sites versus eroded sites due to higher aboveground tree biomass, however, there were no relationships between stand age or site type and litterfall C. Previous studies have found that following canopy closure, stand age and biomass have no influence on litterfall production and some studies have found that litterfall even decreases following canopy closure (Berg et al., 1999; Bray and Gorham, 1964; MacLean and Wein, 1978a; Starr et al., 2005). The lack of relationship between stand age and litterfall C following canopy closure in the reclaimed sites may be due to trees investing more energy into stem growth and less into producing foliage (Albrektson, 1988; Lehtonen, 2005; Vanninen and Mäkelä, 2000; Vogt et al., 1986). However, litterfall output can vary drastically from year to year and while we only found a marginal difference in litterfall between our two study years, Bray and Gorham (1964) found that litterfall within pine stands can vary up to 500% in a year. Nonetheless, annual litterfall C at the regreening sites $(1.17 \pm 0.42 \text{ Mg ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1})$ was similar to litterfall in the old plantation and to reported values from studies conducted in jack pine stands in Canada (Foster et al., 1995; MacLean and Wein, 1978a; Weber, 1987) and coniferous stands in boreal forest across the globe (Vogt et al., 1986).

3.4.2. Fine root production

A decrease in fine root production with stand age, consistent with the regreening sites, has been documented previously in conifer stands (Persson, 1983). However, the mechanism behind this remains unclear and has been attributed to changes in successional vegetation communities (Finer et al., 1997) and with younger stands being more capable of recolonizing vacant soil space (Messier and Puttonen, 1993). Fine root growth at the youngest stable sites was more like the untreated sites, while fine root growth at the oldest regreening sites more closely resembled the old plantation site. Both Finer et al., (1997) and Messier and Puttonen (1993) highlight that fine root production is difficult to measure and that site-to-site variation can be very high. The absence of a relationship between fine root production and stand age at eroded sites could be due to the eroded sites having a smaller amount of soil space which becomes occupied sooner following regreening. Limited vacant soil space has been shown to lead to a decrease in investment in fine root production (Persson, 1983). Fine root production at regreening sites ranged from 4.2 ± 3.1 g m⁻² yr⁻¹ to 77.4 ± 45.3 g m⁻² yr⁻¹ which was low but comparable to measurements using a similar methodology in boreal conifer stands (Bond-Lamberty et al., 2004; Steele et al., 1997).

3.4.3. Litter decomposition

Decomposition rates and C:N ratios did not differ between eroded or stable sites or change with stand age but there was a clear "home-field advantage" (HFA) using sitespecific litter. We predicted that litter decomposition rates at the regreening sites would increase with stand age as the local decomposer rebounded from historically low rates of litter decomposition. However, this recovery appears to have occurred more quickly than we anticipated as litter decomposition rates at the regreening sites for all stand ages (k = 0.22-0.26 at 1.5 years) were in the range of other litterbag studies (k = 0.2-0.46 at 1 year) conducted in jack and red pine stands (Bockheim et al., 1991; MacLean and Wein, 1978b; Moore et al., 1999; Weber, 1987). Historically, litter decomposition in the City of Greater Sudbury region had been evaluated as being very low (Amiro and Courtin, 1981; Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980a). Freedman and Hutchinson (1980a) found that areas closer to smelters with higher concentrations of metals in soils had significantly lower litter decomposition rates compared to control sites 30 km from the nearest smelter. Additionally both Freedman and Hutchinson (1980a) and Johnson and Hale (2004) found that litter decomposition rates were lower at metal contaminated sites regardless of litter metal concentrations suggesting that litter decomposition in the region is more affected by soil characteristics than by litter quality. The application of dolomitic limestone in the region has been found to increase microbial biomass for fungi, actinomycetes, and bacteria as well as increased levels of key decomposing enzymes (McKergow et al., 2021). The increase in decomposer biomass and activity following regreening has most likely stimulated litter decomposition to levels we would expect for a "natural" pine plantation in the region, and it appears that this increase in litter decomposition remains consistent up to 40-years post-regreening. However, despite increases in microbial biomass and activity, the microbial communities in the area have been found to still largely be made up of bacteria (79% of total microbial biomass) indicating the region remains under environmental stress as acidic coniferous forests are typically dominated by fungal communities (McKergow et al., 2021).

We found that there was a HFA for local decomposer communities at the regreening sites. Common litter was taken adjacent to one of the study sites where the regreening treatment was applied that consisted of jack and red pine litter with a very similar C:N ratio to the site-specific litters prior to exposure. Despite these similarities, litter decomposition rate was higher (and C:N ratios lower) using site-specific litter at all regreening sites. The combination of physiochemical properties and biotic interactions of both litter and soil is complex and the magnitude and direction of a HFA greatly relies on site-specific properties (Palozzi and Lindo, 2018; Veen et al., 2015). Home-field advantages have largely been documented in studies with drastic differences in litter types (Ayres et al., 2009; Chomel et al., 2015; Gholz et al., 2000) but have also been reported when using similar litter (Veen et al., 2019). The consistent presence of a HFA at the regreening sites, despite the similarity between site-specific and common litter reinforces the heterogeneity of the City of Sudbury regreening areas and suggests that local decomposer communities may be hyper-specialized to litter produced within their respective site. Previous studies in the City of Greater Sudbury area conducted in areas where regreening did not occur suggest that initial litter quality did not affect decomposition rates (Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980a; Johnson and Hale, 2004).

3.4.4. Soil respiration

There were no clear relationships between soil CO₂ emission rates and stand age at the regreening sites. A lack of relationships has been previously reported in jack pine stands following forest fires (Yermakov and Rothstein, 2006). While there were no relationships between soil CO₂ emissions and stand age, eroded sites did have significantly higher unadjusted CO₂ emission rates and higher soil temperatures compared with stable sites. Tree density was substantially lower at the eroded sites likely leading to higher soil temperatures, stimulating increased rates of soil CO₂ emissions. Unadjusted soil CO₂ emission rates at untreated sites were significantly higher than at regreening sites contrary to the prediction that regreening increases soil CO_2 respiration rate. Mukerji (2020) reported soil CO₂ emissions were 2.9 times higher at reclaimed versus unreclaimed sites in the City of Greater Sudbury barrens. However, the untreated areas studied in Mukerji (2020) were largely devoid of vegetation aside from a few shrubs and grasses, while the untreated sites from the current study have a high density of established deciduous trees (average aboveground biomass 32.10 Mg ha⁻¹) which tend to have high litterfall, and a relatively thick forest floor (average depth 4.1 cm) compared to our regreening sites. Prior to the beginning of the regreening program Amiro and Courtin (1981) defined two anthropogenic ecological communities in heavily impacted regions within the City of Greater Sudbury barren areas – barren communities, and birch transition communities. The dominant mechanism proposed by Amiro and Courtin (1981) for differing ecological structure was topography – birch transition communities occur lower in valleys where soil and moisture conditions are more favorable than on eroded hill tops characteristic of barren communities. The establishment of paper birch and trembling aspen at the untreated sites appears to have increased soil CO₂ respiration rates compared with the totally barren sites. However, respiration rates at untreated sites in the current study were still considerably lower than paper birch and trembling aspen stands found in similar ecozones (Gaumont-Guay et al., 2009; Tang et al., 2009) while soil CO₂ emission rates at the regreening sites were similar to those from other jack pine stands (Striegl and Wickland, 1998; Weber, 1985). Soil CO₂ evolution within the City of Greater Sudbury barrens were reported as very low prior to regreening (Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980a); suggesting regreening has potentially led to an increase in soil respiration rates.

3.4.5. Forest floor and mineral soil C

At the regreening sites forest floor C pools increased with stand age while mineral soil C concentrations in bulk soils and aggregate fractions decreased. Soil C concentrations at the untreated sites were similar to the youngest regreening sites while the oldest regreening sites were more similar to the old plantation site. The reported effects of regreening on C pools in both organic and mineral soil horizons have been mixed (Jandl et al., 2007; Mayer et al., 2020; Paradelo et al., 2015). Many studies have reported that liming and fertilizing can both decrease (Emmerling and Eisenbeis, 1998; Forey et al., 2015; Kreutzer, 1995; Persson et al., 2021) or increase (McCay et al., 2013; Melvin et al., 2013; Sridhar et al., 2022) forest floor C pools by restructuring local decomposer communities. While there are generally less effects reported on the impact of lime and fertilizer addition

to mineral soil C compared with forest floor C – studies have also found that nutrient addition and increasing pH both increases (Jandl et al., 2003; Mäkipää, 1995; Nave et al., 2009) and decreases (Persson et al., 2021, 1995) mineral soil C, suggesting this is due to changes in decomposer communities or altered vegetation growth. Afforestation has generally been found to increase forest floor and mineral soil C pools through increased inputs of vegetation C (Ashwood et al., 2019; Frouz et al., 2009; Laganière et al., 2010) but losses of soil C have also been reported when afforestation occurs on C-rich soils such as grasslands or heathlands (Friggens et al., 2020; Guo et al., 2007).

Forest floor C pools of the regreening sites closely reflect accumulation patterns of jack pine wildfire chronosequences where forest floor C pools stabilize between 15–21 Mg ha⁻¹ up to 111-years post-fire (Nalder and Wein, 1999; Yermakov and Rothstein, 2006). Space-for-time studies assessing the effects of stand age and forest dynamics often use wildfires or clear-cutting as stand replacing events. While the importance of site history is not always discussed, the nature of the site replacing events dramatically alters forest floor accumulation rates and patterns. Following clear-cuts, the development of forest floor is influenced by large amounts of harvesting residue and the remnant forest floor, which complicates the forest floor development process (Covington, 1981; Yanai et al., 2000). Whereas following wildfires the forest floor is largely reduced, and in some instances >80% of the forest floor is consumed (Weber et al., 1987). Forest floor accumulation rates and patterns at the regreening sites more closely resembled those following wildfires compared with clearcuts. While the space-for-time chronosequence approach does not

93

allow us to have exact insight into the history of the regreening sites, the City of Greater Sudbury barren areas prior to regreening were reported to be largely devoid of any remaining forest floor following massive soil erosion events (Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980a).

The decrease in mineral soil C concentration with stand age in bulk mineral soils and aggregate fractions was potentially caused by regreening priming local decomposer communities and elevating C mineralization for both "new" C added from newly established vegetation, as well as "old" C remnant in soils before industrial degradation. Multiple mechanisms could be responsible for priming decomposers, such as increasing pH (McKergow et al., 2021), the addition of bio-available nutrients (Chen et al., 2014), or the introduction of novel sources of labile C such as plant litter (Kuzyakov, 2010). Older regreening stands would have elevated rates of CO₂ emissions for longer periods of time, leading to lower soil C concentrations. The decrease in the smallest measured aggregate fractions is cause for concern for long-term soil C sequestration, as turnover of soil C is much slower in smaller aggregates as the occlusion of soil C by aggregation limits accessibility to decomposers and their enzymes (Six et al., 2002; von Lützow et al., 2006). Additionally, long-term soil C decomposition is driven more by spatial accessibility and organo-mineral interactions than litter recalcitrance (Angst et al., 2022; Schmidt et al., 2011). Despite slower decomposition rates in smaller aggregates, the priming of decomposers has been reported to decrease labile C rates at similar rates to more stable C (Guenet et al., 2012).
We anticipate that the lost mineral soil C is most likely respired into the atmosphere as the regreening sites have soil CO₂ emissions similar to other jack and red pine stands compared with the very low soil CO₂ emission rates measured prior to regreening (Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980a). However, another potential pathway for lost mineral soil C is through DOC export. Increasing pH has been found to regulate the ability of organic C to associate with iron (Fe) and aluminum (AI) minerals, where a lower pH promotes the formation of organo-metal bonds (Ye et al., 2022). Lakes in the City of Greater Sudbury area have seen increases in DOC concentrations during regreening (Hall et al., 2021). The increase in lake DOC in the City of Greater Sudbury area has generally been assumed to be due to increasing surface water pH or internal DOC cycling export of terrestrial DOC could also be a factor (Meyer-Jacob et al., 2020).

3.4.6. Total ecosystem C budgets

Regreening increased total ecosystem C pools at both eroded and stable sites compared to the untreated sites up to 40-years after regreening largely due to increases in aboveground C. Previous studies have found similar results that regreening increases total ecosystem C pool particularly when applied to cropland or post-mining soils (Frouz et al., 2009; Ouimet et al., 2007; Thibault et al., 2022). Studies that included longer time periods found that aboveground C pools arising from natural succession eventually equal those from planted areas and that soil C pools following natural succession are equivalent or greater (Thibault et al., 2022). Additionally, ecosystem properties such as biodiversity are much higher following natural succession versus afforestation (Tremblay and Ouimet,

2013). However, regreening studies are generally not conducted on a region as denuded and toxic as the City of Greater Sudbury barrens where historically successful tree growth and natural succession processes were simply not possible without deliberate management. An example of this is the aboveground vegetation at this study's untreated sites that are dominated by paper birch but also included trembling aspen and red maple; early-succession tree species that dominate most of the unplanted and untreated regions across the City of Greater Sudbury (Munford et al., 2021; VETAC, 2021). The aboveground tree C pools at the untreated sites closely reflect those of the youngest treated sites, despite untreated sites having roughly double the stem density. Additionally, the paper birch and trembling aspen at the untreated sites were highly coppiced, with some individuals exceeding 10 stems. The heavy coppicing of paper birch and trembling aspen is linked to the continuous cycle of dieback and regrowth from sprouts (Safford et al., 1990). Aboveground C at our untreated sites may also be on the larger end for the region as our study specifically targeted untreated sites where there was tree growth. Both Preston et al. (2020) and Rumney et al. (2021) reported considerably lower aboveground C values at untreated areas. This could also be due to topography as previous studies conducted in the region found that exposed ridges had very little successful vegetation establishment compared to more protective areas (James and Courtin, 1985).

3.5. Conclusion

The relationship between stand age and soil C processes at both stable and eroded sites after regreening in a severely impacted landscape closely reflected those of jack and

red pine stands in regions that have not been subject to over a century of industrial impacts. A major exception was a decrease in mineral soil and aggregate C concentration with stand age. The similarities between rates of soil CO₂ emissions and litter decomposition at the regreening sites to jack and red pine stands unimpacted by centuries of industrial degradation, as well as the reported repressed rates of soil respiration and litter decomposition prior to regreening suggest that regreening promoted increased mineralization of soil C up to 40-years post-regreening. Soil C – particularly forms protected in aggregates – is generally considered the most stable terrestrial C pool and the effects of regreening on soil C (while still poorly understood) have been found to be highly dependent on local environmental conditions. While the effects of regreening on soil C warrants further investigation, at the City of Greater Sudbury regreening sites, the loss of soil C is trivial in pool size relative to the substantial increases in aboveground tree and forest floor C pools – leading to a sizeable increase in total ecosystem C pool following application of regreening methods.

3.6. Acknowledgements

This study is part of the Landscape Carbon Accumulation through Reductions in Emissions (L-CARE) project and is funded by Ontario Centers for Excellence, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, Vale Canada Limited, Sudbury Integrated Nickel Operations, and the City of Greater Sudbury. The authors would like to thank the countless volunteers responsible for tree planting, liming, and fertilizing the City of Greater Sudbury barrens. The authors would also like to thank the rest of the L-CARE team as well as Kevin Adkinson, Schylur Deraaf, Kaylen Foley, Spencer Gilbert-Parkes, William Humphrey, Edward Kellaway, and Jodi Newman for technical support throughout this study. The authors declare that they have no conflict of interests.

3.7. References

- Akala, V.A., Lal, R., 2001. Soil organic carbon pools and sequestration rates in reclaimed minesoils in Ohio. J. Environ. Qual. 30, 2098–2104. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2001.2098
- Albrektson, A., 1988. Needle litterfall in stands of pinus sylvestris L. In Sweden, in relation to site quality, stand age and latitude. Scand. J. For. Res. 3, 333–342. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827588809382521
- Amiro, B.D., Courtin, G.M., 1981. Patterns of vegetation in the vicinity of an industrially disturbed ecosystem, Sudbury, Ontario. Can. J. Bot. 59, 1623–1639. https://doi.org/10.1139/b81-221
- Angst, G., Lichner, L., Csecserits, A., Emsens, W.J., van Diggelen, R., Veselá, H., Cajthaml, T., Frouz, J., 2022. Controls on labile and stabilized soil organic matter during longterm ecosystem development. Geoderma 426, 116090. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2022.116090
- Ashwood, F., Watts, K., Park, K., Fuentes-Montemayor, E., Benham, S., Vanguelova, E.I., 2019. Woodland restoration on agricultural land: long-term impacts on soil quality. Restor. Ecol. 27, 1381–1392. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.13003
- Ayres, E., Steltzer, H., Simmons, B.L., Simpson, R.T., Steinweg, J.M., Wallenstein, M.D., Mellor, N., Parton, W.J., Moore, J.C., Wall, D.H., 2009. Home-field advantage accelerates leaf litter decomposition in forests. Soil Biol. Biochem. 41, 606–610. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2008.12.022
- Bastin, J.-F., Finegold, Y., Garcia, C., Mollicone, D., Rezende, M., Routh, D., Zohner, C.M., Crowther, T.W., 2019. The global tree restoration potential. Science 365, 76–79.
- Batjes, N.H., 1996. Total carbon and nitrogen in the soils of the world. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 47, 151–163.
- Berg, B., Albrektson, A., Berg, M.P., Cortina, J., Johansson, M.-B., Gallardo, A., Madeira, M., Pausas, J., Kratz, W., Vallejo, R., McClaugherty, C., 1999. Amounts of litter fall in some pine forests in a European transect, in particular Scots pine. Ann. For. Sci. 56, 625–639. https://doi.org/10.1051/forest:19990801
- Bockheim, J.G., Jepsen, E.A., Heisey, D.M., 1991. Nutrient dynamics in decomposing leaf litter of four tree species on a sandy soil in northwestern Wisconsin. Can. J. For. Res. 21, 803–812.

Bocock, K.L., Gilbert, O.J.W., 1957. The disappearance of leaf litter under different

woodland conditions. Plant Soil 9, 179–185.

- Bond-Lamberty, B., Wang, C., Gower, S.T., 2004. Net primary production and net ecosystem production of a boreal black spruce wildfire chronosequence. Glob. Chang. Biol. 10, 473–487. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8817.2003.0742.x
- Bray, J.R., Gorham, E., 1964. Litter production in forests of the world. Adv. Ecol. Res. 2, 101–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2504(08)60331-1
- Cambardella, C.A., Elliott, E.T., 1993. Carbon and nitrogen distribution in aggregates from cultivated and native grassland soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 57, 1071–1076. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1993.03615995005700040032x
- Chen, R., Senbayram, M., Blagodatsky, S., Myachina, O., Dittert, K., Lin, X., Blagodatskaya, E., Kuzyakov, Y., 2014. Soil C and N availability determine the priming effect: Microbial N mining and stoichiometric decomposition theories. Glob. Chang. Biol. 20, 2356–2367. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12475
- Chomel, M., Guittonny-Larchevêque, M., DesRochers, A., Baldy, V., 2015. Home field advantage of litter decomposition in pure and mixed plantations under boreal climate. Ecosystems 18, 1014–1028. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-015-9880-y
- Courtin, G.M., 1995. Birch coppice woodlands near the Sudbury smelters: Dynamics of a forest monoculture, in: Restoration and Recovery of an Industrial Region: Progress in Restoring the Smelter-Damaged Landscape near Sudbury, Canada. pp. 233–245.
- Covington, W.W., 1981. Changes in forest floor organic matter and nutrient content following clear cutting in northern hardwoods. Ecology 62, 41–48.
- Driscoll, C.T., Lawrence, G.B., Bulger, A.J., Butler, T.J., Cronan, C.S., Eagar, C., Lambert, K.F., Likens, G.E., Stoddard, J.L., Weathers, K.C., 2001. Acidic deposition in the northeastern United States: sources and inputs, ecosystem effects, and management strategies. Bioscience 51, 180–198. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2001)051[0180:ADITNU]2.0.CO;2
- Emmerling, C., Eisenbeis, G., 1998. Influence of modern soil restoration techniques on litter decomposition in forest soils. Appl. Soil Ecol. 9, 501–507. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0929-1393(98)00112-7
- Environment Canada, 2022. Canadian Climate Normals Station Data 1981-2010 http://climate.weather.gc.ca/climate_normals/results_1981_2010_e.html?stnID=11 8&lang=e&StationName=Victoria&SearchType=Contains&stnNameSubmit=go&dCo de=1

- Finer, L., Messier, C., De Grandpre, L., 1997. Fine-root dynamics in mixed boreal coniferbroad-leafed forest stands at different successional stages after fire. Can. J. For. Res. 27, 304–314. https://doi.org/10.1139/x96-170
- Forey, E., Trap, J., Aubert, M., 2015. Liming impacts Fagus sylvatica leaf traits and litter decomposition 25 years after amendment. For. Ecol. Manage. 353, 67–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2015.03.050
- Foster, N.W., Morrison, I.K., Hazlett, P.W., Hogan, G.D., Salerno, M.I., 1995. Carbon and nitrogen cycling within mid- and late- rotation jack pine, in: Carbon Forms and Functions in Forest Soils. pp. 355–375.
- Freedman, B., Hutchinson, T.C., 1980a. Effects of smelter pollutants on forest leaf litter decomposition near a nickel-copper smelter at Sudbury, Ontario. Can. J. Bot. 58, 1722–1736. https://doi.org/10.1139/b80-200
- Freedman, B., Hutchinson, T.C., 1980b. Pollutant inputs from the atmosphere and accumulations in soils and vegetation near a nickel-copper smelter at Sudbury, Ontario, Canada. Can. J. Bot. 58, 108–132. https://doi.org/10.1139/b80-014
- Friggens, N.L., Hester, A.J., Mitchell, R.J., Wookey, J.S.P.A., Parker, T.C., 2020. Tree planting in organic soils does not result in net carbon sequestration on decadal timescales. Glob. Chang. Biol. 26, 5178–5188. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15229
- Frouz, J., Keplin, B., Pižl, V., Tajovský, K., Starý, J., Lukešová, A., Nováková, A., Balík, V., Háněl, L., Materna, J., Düker, C., Chalupský, J., Rusek, J., Heinkele, T., 2001. Soil biota and upper soil layer development in two contrasting post-mining chronosequences. Ecol. Eng. 17, 275–284.
- Frouz, J., Pižl, V., Cienciala, E., Kalčík, J., 2009. Carbon storage in post-mining forest soil, the role of tree biomass and soil bioturbation. Biogeochemistry 94, 111–121. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-009-9313-0
- Gaumont-Guay, D., Black, T.A., McCaughey, H., Barr, A.G., Krishnan, P., Jassal, R.S., Nesic, Z., 2009. Soil CO₂ efflux in contrasting boreal deciduous and coniferous stands and its contribution to the ecosystem carbon balance. Glob. Chang. Biol. 15, 1302–1319. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01830.x
- Gholz, H.L., Wedin, D.A., Smitherman, S.M., Harmon, M.E., Parton, W.J., 2000. Long-term dynamics of pine and hardwood litter in contrasting environments: Toward a global model of decomposition. Glob. Chang. Biol. 6, 751–765. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.00349.x

Guenet, B., Juarez, S., Bardoux, G., Abbadie, L., Chenu, C., 2012. Evidence that stable C is

as vulnerable to priming effect as is more labile C in soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 52, 43–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.04.001

- Guo, L.B., Wang, M., Gifford, R.M., 2007. The change of soil carbon stocks and fine root dynamics after land use change from a native pasture to a pine plantation. Plant Soil. 299, 251–262. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-007-9381-7
- Hall, L.J., Emilson, E.J.S., Edwards, B., Watmough, S.A., 2021. Patterns and trends in lake concentrations of dissolved organic carbon in a landscape recovering from environmental degradation and widespread acidification. Sci. Total Environ. 765, 142679. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142679
- Hutchinson, T.C., Whitby, L.M., 1977. The effects of acid rainfall and heavy metal particulates on a boreal forest ecosystem near the Sudbury smelting region of Canada. Water. Air. Soil Pollut. 7, 421–438. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00285542
- James, G.I., Courtin, G.M., 1985. Stand structure and growth form of the birch transition community in an industrially damaged ecosystem, Sudbury, Ontario. Can. J. For. Res. 15, 809–817.
- Jandl, R., Kopeszki, H., Bruckner, A., Hager, H., 2003. Forest soil chemistry and mesofauna 20 years after an amelioration fertilization. Restor. Ecol. 11, 239–246. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1526-100X.2003.00179.x
- Jandl, R., Lindner, M., Vesterdal, L., Bauwens, B., Baritz, R., Hagedorn, F., Johnson, D.W., Minkkinen, K., Byrne, K.A., 2007. How strongly can forest management influence soil carbon sequestration? Geoderma 137, 253–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2006.09.003
- Jobbágy, E.G., Jackson, R.B., 2000. The vertical distribution of soil organic carbon and its relation to climate and vegetation. Ecol. Appl. 10, 423–436.
- Johnson, D., Hale, B., 2004. White birch (Betula papyrifera Marshall) foliar litter decomposition in relation to trace metal atmospheric inputs at metal-contaminated and uncontaminated sites near Sudbury, Ontario and Rouyn-Noranda, Quebec, Canada. Environ. Pollut. 127, 65–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(03)00260-4
- Kreutzer, K., 1995. Effects of forest liming on soil processes. Plant Soil 168, 447–470. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-0455-5_51
- Kuzyakov, Y., 2010. Priming effects: Interactions between living and dead organic matter. Soil Biol. Biochem. 42, 1363–1371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.04.003

- Laganière, J., Angers, D.A., Paré, D., 2010. Carbon accumulation in agricultural soils after afforestation: A meta-analysis. Glob. Chang. Biol. 16, 439–453. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.01930.x
- Lal, R., 2004. Soil carbon sequestration to mitigate climate change. Geoderma 123, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2004.01.032
- Lambert, M.-C., Ung, C.-H., Raulier, F., 2005. Canadian national tree aboveground biomass equations. Can. J. For. Res. 35, 1996–2018. https://doi.org/10.1139/x05-112
- Lautenbach, W.E., Miller, J., Beckett, P.J., Negusanti, J.J., Winterhalder, K., 1995. Municipal land restoration program the regreening process, in: Restoration and Recovery of an Industrial Region: Progress in Restoring the Smelter-Damaged Landscape near Sudbury, Canada. pp. 109–122.
- Lehtonen, A., 2005. Estimating foliage biomass in Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris) and Norway spruce (Picea abies) plots. Tree Physiol. 25, 803–811. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/25.7.803
- Levasseur, P.A., Galarza, J., Watmough, S.A., 2022. One of the world's largest regreening programs promotes healthy tree growth and nutrient accumulation up to 40-years post restoration. For. Ecol. Manage. 507, 120014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2022.120014
- MacLean, D.A., Wein, R.W., 1978a. Litter production and forest floor nutrient dynamics in pine and hardwood stands of New Brunswick, Canada. Holarct. Ecol. 1, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1978.tb00933.x
- MacLean, D.A., Wein, R.W., 1978b. Weight loss and nutrient changes in decomposing litter and forest floor material in New Brunswick forest stands. Can. J. Bot. 56, 2730– 2749. https://doi.org/10.1139/b78-326
- Mäkipää, R., 1995. Effect of nitrogen input on carbon accumulation of boreal forest soils and ground vegetation. For. Ecol. Manage. 79, 217–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1127(95)03601-6
- Mayer, M., Prescott, C.E., Abaker, W.E.A., Augusto, L., Cécillon, L., Ferreira, G.W.D., James, J., Jandl, R., Katzensteiner, K., Laclau, J.P., Laganière, J., Nouvellon, Y., Paré, D., Stanturf, J.A., Vanguelova, E.I., Vesterdal, L., 2020. Influence of forest management activities on soil organic carbon stocks: A knowledge synthesis. For. Ecol. Manage. 466, 118127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118127

McCay, T.S., Cardelús, C.L., Neatrour, M.A., 2013. Rate of litter decay and litter

macroinvertebrates in limed and unlimed forests of the Adirondack Mountains, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 304, 254–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.05.010

- McKergow, M., Narendrula-Kotha, R., Beckett, P., Nkongolo, K.K., 2021. Microbial biomass and activity dynamics in restored lands in a metal contaminated region. Ecotoxicology 30, 1957–1968. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-021-02464-9
- Melvin, A.M., Lichstein, J.W., Goodale, C.L., 2013. Forest liming increases forest floor carbon and nitrogen stocks in a mixed hardwood forest. Ecol. Appl. 23, 1962–1975. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-0274.1
- Messier, C., Puttonen, P., 1993. Coniferous and non-coniferous fine-root and rhizome production in Scots pine stands using the ingrowth bag method. Silva Fenn. 27, 209–217. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.a15673
- Meyer-Jacob, C., Labaj, A.L., Paterson, A.M., Edwards, B.A., Keller, W., Cumming, B.F., Smol, J.P., 2020. Re-browning of Sudbury (Ontario, Canada) lakes now approaches pre-acid deposition lake-water dissolved organic carbon levels. Sci. Total Environ. 725, 138347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138347
- Moore, J.D., Ouimet, R., Duchesne, L., 2012. Soil and sugar maple response 15 years after dolomitic lime application. For. Ecol. Manage. 281, 130–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.06.026
- Moore, T.R., Trofymow, J.A., Taylor, B., Prescott, C., Camiré, C., Duchesne, L., Fyles, J.,
 Kozak, L., Kranabetter, M., Morrison, I., Siltanen, M., Smith, S., Titus, B., Visser, S.,
 Wein, R., Zoltai, S., 1999. Litter decomposition rates in Canadian forests. Glob.
 Chang. Biol. 5, 75–82.
- Mukerji, A., 2020. Effects of land reclamation on organic matter decomposition at smelter impacted hill slopes [Master of Science thesis]. Laurentian University.
- Munford, K.E., Casamatta, M., Glasauer, S., Mykytczuk, N.C.S., Watmough, S.A., 2021. Paper Birch (Betula papyrifera) nutrient resorption rates on nutrient-poor metalcontaminated soils and mine tailings. Water Air Soil Pollut. 232, 1–16. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-020-04975-3
- Nalder, I.A., Wein, R.W., 1999. Long-term forest floor carbon dynamics after fire in upland boreal forests of western Canada. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 13, 951–968.
- Nave, L.E., Vance, E.D., Swanston, C.W., Curtis, P.S., 2009. Impacts of elevated N inputs on north temperate forest soil C storage, C/N, and net N-mineralization. Geoderma 153, 231–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2009.08.012

- Olson, J.S., 1963. Energy storage and the balance of producers and decomposers in ecological systems. Ecology 44, 322–331.
- Ouimet, R., Tremblay, S., Périé, C., Prégent, G., 2007. Ecosystem carbon accumulation following fallow farmland afforestation with red pine in southern Quebec. Can. J. For. Res. 37, 1118–1133. https://doi.org/10.1139/X06-297
- Palozzi, J.E., Lindo, Z., 2018. Are leaf litter and microbes team players? Interpreting home-field advantage decomposition dynamics. Soil Biol. Biochem. 124, 189–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2018.06.018
- Paradelo, R., Virto, I., Chenu, C., 2015. Net effect of liming on soil organic carbon stocks: A review. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 202, 98–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.01.005
- Pearson, D.A.B., Pitblado, J.R., 1995. Geological and geographic setting, in: Restoration and Recovery of an Industrial Region: Progress in Restoring the Smelter-Damaged Landscape near Sudbury, Canada. pp. 5–15.
- Persson, H., 1979. Fine-root production, mortality and decomposition in forest ecosystems. Vegetatio 41, 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00121422
- Persson, H.Å., 1983. The distribution and productivity of fine roots in boreal forests. Plant Soil 71, 87–101. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02182644
- Persson, T., Andersson, S., Bergholm, J., Gro, T., Ho, L., 2021. Long-term impact of liming on soil C and N in a fertile spruce forest ecosystem. Ecosystems 24, 968–987. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-020-00563-y
- Persson, T., Rudebeck, A., Wirén, A., 1995. Pools and fluxes of carbon and nitrogen in 40year-old forest liming experiments in southern Sweden. Water Air Soil Pollut. 85, 901–906.
- Pietrzykowski, M., Daniels, W.L., 2014. Estimation of carbon sequestration by pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) ecosystems developed on reforested post-mining sites in Poland on differing mine soil substrates. Ecol. Eng. 73, 209–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2014.09.058
- Preston, M.D., Brummell, M.E., Smenderovac, E., Rantala-Sykes, B., Rumney, R.H.M., Sherman, G., Basiliko, N., Beckett, P., Hebert, M., 2020. Tree restoration and ecosystem carbon storage in an acid and metal impacted landscape: Chronosequence and resampling approaches. For. Ecol. Manage. 463, 118012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118012

QGIS.org, 2022. QGIS Geographic Information System. http://www.qgis.org

Rowe, J.S., 1972. Forest Regions of Canada. Ottawa, Canada.

RStudio Team, 2020. RStudio: Integrated Development for R. http://www.rstudio.com/

- Rumney, R.H.M., Preston, M.D., Jones, T., Basiliko, N., Gunn, J., 2021. Soil amendment improves carbon sequestration by trees on severely damaged acid and metal impacted landscape, but total storage remains low. For. Ecol. Manage. 483, 118896. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118896
- Safford, L.O., Bjorkbom, J.C., Zasada, J.C., 1990. Betula papyrifera Marsh., Paper Birch, in: Silvics of North America, Volume 2. Hardwoods. pp. 158–171.
- Scharlemann, J.P.W., Tanner, E.V.J., Hiederer, R., Kapos, V., 2014. Global soil carbon: Understanding and managing the largest terrestrial carbon pool. Carbon Manag. 5, 81–91. https://doi.org/10.4155/cmt.13.77
- Schmidt, M.W.I., Torn, M.S., Abiven, S., Dittmar, T., Guggenberger, G., Janssens, I.A., Kleber, M., Kögel-Knabner, I., Lehmann, J., Manning, D.A.C., Nannipieri, P., Rasse, D.P., Weiner, S., Trumbore, S.E., 2011. Persistence of soil organic matter as an ecosystem property. Nature 478, 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10386
- Six, J., Conant, R.T., Paul, E.A., Paustian, K., 2002. Stabilization mechanisms of soil organic matter: Implications for C-saturation of soils. Plant Soil 241, 155–176. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016125726789
- Šourková, M., Frouz, J., Šantrůčková, H., 2005. Accumulation of carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus during soil formation on alder spoil heaps after brown-coal mining, near Sokolov (Czech Republic). Geoderma 124, 203–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2004.05.001
- Sridhar, B., Wilhelm, R.C., Debenport, S.J., Fahey, T.J., Buckley, D.H., Goodale, C.L., 2022. Microbial community shifts correspond with suppression of decomposition 25 years after liming of acidic forest soils. Glob. Chang. Biol. 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.16321
- Starr, M., Saarsalmi, A., Hokkanen, T., Merilä, P., Helmisaari, H.S., 2005. Models of litterfall production for Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) in Finland using stand, site and climate factors. For. Ecol. Manage. 205, 215–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2004.10.047
- Steele, S.J., Gower, S.T., Vogel, J.G., Norman, J.M., 1997. Root mass, net primary production and turnover in aspen, jack pine, and black spruce stands in

Saskatchewan and Manitoba, Canada. Tree Physiol. 17, 577–587.

- Striegl, R.G., Wickland, K.P., 1998. Effects of a clear-cut harvest on soil respiration in a jack pine - lichen woodland. Can. J. For. Res. 28, 534–539. https://doi.org/10.1139/x98-023
- Tang, J., Bolstad, P. V., Martin, J.G., 2009. Soil carbon fluxes and stocks in a Great Lakes forest chronosequence. Glob. Chang. Biol. 15, 145–155. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01741.x
- Thibault, M., Thiffault, E., Bergeron, Y., Ouimet, R., Tremblay, S., 2022. Afforestation of abandoned agricultural lands for carbon sequestration: how does it compare with natural succession? Plant Soil 475, 605–621. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-022-05396-3
- Tremblay, S., Ouimet, R., 2013. White spruce plantations on abandoned agricultural land: Are they more effective as C sinks than natural succession? Forests 4, 1141–1157. https://doi.org/10.3390/f4041141
- Ussiri, D.A.N., Lal, R., 2005. Carbon sequestration in reclaimed minesoils. Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. 24, 151–165. https://doi.org/10.1080/07352680591002147
- Vanninen, P., Mäkelä, A., 2000. Needle and stem wood production in Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris) trees of different age, size and competitive status. Tree Physiol. 20, 527– 533. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/20.8.527
- Veen, G.F., Snoek, B.L., Bakx-Schotman, T., Wardle, D.A., van der Putten, W.H., 2019. Relationships between fungal community composition in decomposing leaf litter and home-field advantage effects. Funct. Ecol. 33, 1524–1535. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13351
- Veen, G.F.C., Freschet, G.T., Ordonez, A., Wardle, D.A., 2015. Litter quality and environmental controls of home-field advantage effects on litter decomposition. Oikos 124, 187–195. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.01374
- VETAC, 2021. 2021 Annual Report Regreening Program. City of Greater Sudbury.
- Vogt, K.A., Grier, C.C., Vogt, D.J., 1986. Production, turnover, and nutrient dynamics of above- and belowground detritus of world forests. Adv. Ecol. Res. 15, 303–377. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2504(08)60122-1
- von Lützow, M., Kögel-Knabner, I., Ekschmitt, K., Flessa, H., Guggenberger, G., Matzner, E., Marschner, B., 2007. SOM fractionation methods: Relevance to functional pools and to stabilization mechanisms. Soil Biol. Biochem. 39, 2183–2207.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.03.007

- von Lützow, M. V., Kögel-Knabner, I., Ekschmitt, K., Matzner, E., Guggenberger, G., Marschner, B., Flessa, H., 2006. Stabilization of organic matter in temperate soils: Mechanisms and their relevance under different soil conditions - A review. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 57, 426–445. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2389.2006.00809.x
- Weber, M.G., 1987. Decomposition, litter fall, and forest floor nutrient dynamics in relation to fire in eastern Ontario jack pine ecosystems. Can. J. For. Res. 17, 1496–1506.
- Weber, M.G., 1985. Forest soil respiration in eastern Ontario jack pine ecosystems. Can. J. For. Res. 15, 1069–1073.
- Weber, M.G., Wagner, C.E. Van, Hummel, M., 1987. Selected parameters of fire behavior and Pinus banksiana Lamb. regeneration in eastern Ontario. For. Chron. 63, 340– 346. https://doi.org/10.5558/tfc63340-5
- Yanai, R.D., Arthur, M.A., Siccama, T.G., Federer, C.A., 2000. Challenges of measuring forest floor organic matter dynamics: Repeated measures from a chronosequence. For. Ecol. Manage. 138, 273–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00402-3
- Ye, C., Huang, W., Hall, S.J., Hu, S., 2022. Association of organic carbon with reactive iron oxides driven by soil pH at the global scale. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 36, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1029/2021GB007128
- Yermakov, Z., Rothstein, D.E., 2006. Changes in soil carbon and nitrogen cycling along a 72-year wildfire chronosequence in Michigan jack pine forests. Oecologia 149, 690– 700. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-006-0474-4

Chapter 4: Nutrient cycling in jack and red pine forests following the regreening of a mining and smelting degraded landscape

4.0. Abstract

Mining and smelting degraded landscapes are typically poor in nutrients, rich in toxic metals, with acidic and heavily eroded soils. The regreening of these landscapes (application of lime and fertilizer followed by tree planting) can increase site productivity and ecosystem nutrient pools. However, uncertainties exist surrounding nutrient cycling, and long-term viability of restored forests. The current study aims to investigate how nutrient cycling processes of regreened forests on a mining and smelting degraded landscape change with stand age using a chronosequence approach in the City of Greater Sudbury, Canada. The regreening sites were rich in calcium (Ca) and magnesium (Mg), both in soils and trees. Soils were generally poor in phosphorous (P) and potassium (K), however foliar concentrations of all nutrients reflected those of "healthy" red pines. Nitrogen (N) mineralization rates and inorganic N concentrations were very low, however N stored in vegetation and total soil N are consistent with values expected for the region. Overall, there were few relationships between nutrient cycling processes and stand age. Nutrient cycling processes (such as nutrient resorption during translocation, litter decomposition) up to 40-years post-regreening were like those of jack and red pine plantations that were not subject to over a century of mining and smelting impacts indicating no current effect of nutrient limitation or metal toxicity on forest biogeochemistry.

109

4.1. Introduction

Mining and smelting degraded landscapes are generally inhospitable to the vegetation. Limited nutrients inhibit the establishment and growth of vegetation and metals can have direct toxic effects on vegetation as well as compete with nutrients for biological uptake (Folkeson and Andersson-Bringmark, 1988; Påhlsson, 1989; Whitby and Hutchinson, 1974). Due to the low amount of nutrients available on these landscapes, nutrient cycling is integral to long-term ecosystem sustainability. Therefore, studying processes such as nutrient resorption, litter decomposition, and nitrogen (N) mineralization can provide insight into overall ecosystem health (Cole and Rapp, 1980; Vitousek, 1982).

Limited nutrients and elevated metal concentrations in mining and smelting degraded landscapes can alter forest nutrient cycling processes in a number of ways (Šourková et al., 2005). Low nutrient availability may increase nutrient resorption as vegetation conserves a higher proportion of foliar nutrients during senescence (Munford et al., 2021). Nutrient resorption is measured as the proportion of nutrients retained in foliage during senescence (referred to as nutrient resorption efficiency (RE)), and as the concentration of nutrients in senesced foliage (resorption proficiency (RP)) (Killingbeck, 1996). Further, elevated metals which are toxic to soil organisms, can slow litter decomposition rates (Babich and Stotzky, 1985; Berg et al., 1991; Cotrufo et al., 1995) and the low levels of nutrients in litter available to soil organisms can also lead to a decrease in litter decomposition (Berg and Staaf, 1980; Coûteaux et al., 1995). Elevated metal

concentrations have been proposed to both increase (DeCatanzaro and Hutchinson, 1985) and decrease (Vásquez-Murrieta et al., 2006) N mineralization as the presence of toxic metals alters the local nitrifying community.

The City of Greater Sudbury, Ontario, Canada and surrounding region has been exposed to effects of over a century of copper (Cu) and nickel (Ni) mining and smelting. Smelting emissions and expansive clear-cutting resulted in ~20,000 ha of barren land with highly eroded, acidic soils enriched in metals, and depleted of essential nutrients inhibiting the regrowth of vegetation (Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980a, 1980b). Previous work on nutrient cycling in the City of Greater Sudbury barren areas found that nutrient RE was increased due to limited soil nutrients (Munford et al., 2021); litter decomposition was decreased due to low levels of nutrients and elevated metals (Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980a; Johnson and Hale, 2004; SARA Group, 2009); and N mineralization was increased due to elevated metal concentrations (DeCatanzaro and Hutchinson, 1985).

In 1978 the City of Greater Sudbury began a regreening program that is regarded as one of the largest in the world (VETAC, 2021). Along with sulphur dioxide (SO₂) and particulate metal emissions being decreased by over 95%, more than 3,400 ha of land has been limed and fertilized, and over 10 million trees have been planted (VETAC, 2021). The regreening treatments have increased forest floor and mineral soil calcium (Ca) and magnesium (Mg) pools, increased soil pH, and decreased the bioavailability of metals (Kellaway et al., 2022; SARA Group, 2009) leading to increased tree growth and forest floor accumulation (Levasseur et al., 2022; Preston et al., 2020; Rumney et al., 2021). However, the regreening program in the City of Greater Sudbury (similar to many around the world, (Frouz et al., 2001; Persson et al., 1995; Pietrzykowski and Daniels, 2014)) currently applies nutrients as a one-time dose, with massive quantities of limestone (10 tonnes ha⁻¹), and lesser amounts of N-phosphorous (P)-potassium (K) fertilizers (390 kg ha⁻¹). Kellaway et al., (2022) found that much of the applied limestone was lost from the landscape, however, the status of other nutrients is unclear. Levasseur et al., (2022) found that some nutrients in trees decreased with stand age, so long term viability of the regreening sites is unclear. Gaining a better understanding of the effects of regreening on nutrient cycling and how these processes change over time is integral for future management planning.

We tested the hypothesis that stand age following regreening affects forest nutrient cycling processes. The regreening treatments have been applied in a patchwork approach allowing us to develop a chronosequence of sites to assess how nutrient cycling has changed with stand age following regreening. Specifically, we predicted that: 1) concentrations of Ca, Mg, P, and K will decrease in the forest floor and increase in mineral soil and vegetation with stand age, while N concentrations in soils and trees will increase with age; 2) nutrient RE will increase with time since regreening while nutrient RP will decrease over time; 3) loss of litter nutrients through decomposition will increase as stands age; and 4) N mineralization in soil will increase with stand age.

4.2. Materials and Methods

4.2.1. Study area and regreening process

The City of Greater Sudbury (UTM zone 17; Easting: 501620, Northing: 5148797) is in northern Ontario, Canada on the southern portion of the Precambrian Shield. Thirtyyear (1981–2010) average monthly temperatures range from -13.0 °C in January to 19.1 ^oC in July, and average precipitation is 904 mm per year (Environment Canada, 2022). The City of Greater Sudbury lies in the vegetation transition zone between the Great Lakes – St. Lawrence Forests regions of the south and the boreal forest to the north (Rowe, 1972). The topography of the region is undulating and dominated by rocky outcrops overlain by soils that are typically shallow and sandy (Pearson and Pitblado, 1995). Prior to regreening efforts, the soils within the barrens of the City of Greater Sudbury were highly acidic (pH < 4.3), devoid of nutrients, and contained high concentrations of bioavailable aluminum (Al), Cu and Ni (Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980b). Since 1978, more than 3,400 ha of land have been treated with 10 Mg ha⁻¹ of crushed dolomitic limestone (CaMg(CO₃)₂), 390 kg ha⁻¹ of 6-24-24 N-P-K fertilizer, and 40 kg ha⁻¹ of a grass-seed mixture, that included N-fixing legumes. One-year after the application of lime, fertilizer, and grassseed, trees were planted, and across the entire City of Greater Sudbury region more than 10 million trees have been planted with species that are native to the region. Planted tree species were predominantly jack pine (Pinus banksiana Lamb.) and red pine (Pinus resinosa Ait.), but also included white pine (Pinus strobus L.), white spruce (Picea glauca Moench) and green alder (Alnus viridis Chaix) (VETAC, 2021). Areas for regreening are selected each year based on multiple operational and resource factors and needs, resulting in a mosaic of forest stands of different ages in the barren and semi-barren areas of the region.

4.2.2. Site Selection

Twelve study sites were established within the barrens of the Coniston and Copper Cliff smelters (Figure 4.1). The barrens were defined as areas that were largely devoid of plant life and had soil pH below 4.3 before regreening took place (Lautenbach et al., 1995). To account for the effects of erosion on nutrient pools, Chapters 2 and 3 separated sites into "eroded" and "stable" classifications and found that there were few biogeochemical differences between the two site types, so in this study no distinction was made. The 12 "regreening sites" were limed, fertilized, seeded, and planted with either jack pine and/or red pine. Planting dates ranged from 1981 to 2006, and only sites that experienced a single planting occurrence were selected. All study sites were 10 m x 10 m in size and located within a larger forested area with similar characteristics.



Figure 4.1: Map of the twelve study sites, the outlines for the barren and semi-barren regions, and the location of the three main smelters (City of Greater Sudbury, 2023).

4.2.3. Field sampling

4.2.3.1. Soil sampling

Soil sampling occurred between May–August 2019. Both forest floor and mineral soil samples were taken at nine points within each site (three horizontally along both the north and south borders of the plot and three running horizontally through the center). Mineral soils were sampled by auger for 0–5 cm depths at all sites. Forest floor samples were collected by cutting a 10 cm x 10 cm square using a knife and separating the forest floor into L (litter) and fibric-humic (FH) layers (Soil Classification Working Group, 1998).

The depth of the L and FH layers at each sampling location were measured. Mineral soil bulk density (BD) samples were also taken using a BD hammer at three points in each plot (north corner, plot center, and south corner). Forest floor and mineral soil samples were immediately placed in sealable polyethylene bags. All soil samples were stored in a refrigerator (4°C) upon return from the field.

4.2.3.2. Litter traps

Three litter traps were established in July 2018 at each site (north corner, plot center, and south corner). Litter traps were created using milk crates with a 30 cm x 40 cm opening at the top. A mesh hammock (made using 2 mm mesh) was suspended within the trap so that no litter had contact with underlying soils. Large branches were removed from litter traps, but foliage, small branches, and seeds were all collected as litter. Litter was collected 3 times a year (in both 2018 and 2019) between July and November. Litter was immediately placed in sealable polyethylene bags and stored in a refrigerator (4°C) upon return from the field.

4.2.3.3. Litter decomposition bags

Eighteen 20 cm × 20 cm litter decomposition bags (made using 2 mm fibreglass mesh) were placed at each site. Nine litter bags were filled with 3 g of oven-dried nonmilled litter collected from the respective sites' litter traps (referred to as "site-specific litter") and nine were filled with 3 g of oven-dried and homogenised red pine and jack pine litter collected adjacent to one specific site (E89a) to control for litter quality (referred to as "common litter"). In April 2019, the nine site-specific litter bags were tied together, and left on top of the forest floor secured to the base of a tree at plot center. The same procedure was performed for the common litter bags. In November 2021 (2.5 years after deployment), three site-specific and three common litter bags were removed from each site. The litter bags were immediately placed in sealable polyethylene bags and were stored in a refrigerator (4 °C) upon return from the field (Bocock and Gilbert, 1957).

4.2.3.4. Vegetation sampling

Vegetation sampling was conducted July 2018 and 2019. Tree species (diameter at breast height >2.5 cm) were recorded for every tree within each of the 10 m \times 10 m sites. Tree cores were taken in July 2019 from three trees in each site, all sampled trees were >10 cm dbh and sampled trees within each site were of the same age. Tree cores were used to verify age and used for wood nutrient and metal analysis. Two cores were taken from each sampled tree, one at breast height, and the second 20 cm below at a 90° angle from the entrance point of the first core. Cores were stored in plastic straws with the ends taped. Bark samples were taken in July 2019 from these same trees at breast height by scraping bark off the tree using a knife and composited from the three trees in a polyethylene bag. Foliage samples were taken in both July 2018 and 2019 using telescoping pruners from the highest possible branch from each sampled tree and composited into paper bags. Current year needles were targeted for foliage sampling. Most sites were monocultures of jack or red pine, and the three vegetation sampling trees were selected to be the dominant species (greater than 33% of stems) for each site. On the occasion that both jack and red pine comprised greater than 33% of stems per site,

vegetation samples were taken from three trees of both species. All vegetation (tree cores, bark, and foliage) samples were stored in a refrigerator (4°C) upon return from the field.

4.2.3.5. Buried-bag experiments

Nitrogen mineralization rates were assessed using the buried-bag method for three separate 30-day incubation periods (May, July, and September) in the 2019 field season. For each incubation experiment two soil cores were taken at each site using a BD hammer. One sample was placed in a polyethylene bag and brought back to the lab. The other sample was placed in a polyethylene bag and placed in the hole made by the corer and incubated in the field for 30-days. After removal from the field, all samples were immediately placed in a freezer (–18°C) and frozen until analysis (Westermann and Crothers, 1980).

4.2.4. Sample preparation and chemical analysis

All samples (excluding the mineralization samples) were oven-dried at 105°C for 24-hours prior to analysis. Bulk densities were calculated for the L, FH, and 0–5 cm samples by dividing the oven-dry mass by the sample volume. Litter bags were weighed after drying. Litter, forest floor, and vegetation samples (including entire tree cores) were milled to a fine powder using a grinder. Mineral soil samples were sieved to 2 mm. Milled litter, vegetation, and forest floor samples were analyzed for acid-digestible Ca, Mg, K, P, Cu, and Ni by digesting 0.2 g of sample in 2.5 mL of concentrated nitric acid (trace grade 70% nitric acid (HNO₃)) at 100°C for eight hours followed by a digestion at room temperature for eight hours. The digested material was filtered through a 0.45 µm pore filter paper and

diluted with B-pure deionized water until total volume reached 25 mL. The digest samples were then diluted 1:10 and analyzed using a Perkin Elmer (7000 DV) Inductively Ion Coupled Optical Emission Spectrometer (ICP-OES). Total N concentrations were measured for the sieved mineral soils, milled litter, vegetation, and forest floor samples using an Elementar Macro CNS analyzer. Sieved (< 2 mm) mineral soil samples were analyzed for extractable Ca, Mg, P, and K concentrations in a 1:10 soil-solution ratio with 1 M ammonium chloride (NH_4CI) after shaking for 2 hours on an oscillating shaker table. Samples were vacuum filtered, diluted, acidified, and analyzed by ICP-OES (Carter and Gregorich, 2007). Sieved mineral soil samples were analyzed for dissolved orthophosphate (extractable P) using a Mehlich-3 extraction method followed by filtering with 0.45 μ m syringe filters. Samples were analyzed using a Perkin Elmer Lambda XLS+ UVspectrophotometer at 845 nm (Mehlich, 1984). Extractable Cu and Ni was measured in sieved mineral soil samples using deionized water extractions by shaking 5 g of sample in 25 mL of B-Pure deionized water overnight, samples were then syringe filtered (0.45 μ m), acidified with 0.2 mL nitric acid, and analyzed via ICP-OES. Inorganic N (nitrate (NO₃) and ammonium (NH₄)) concentrations were analyzed on 5 g of field-moist mineral soil samples from the buried-bag experiment. Soils were mixed with 50 mL of 2 M potassium chloride (KCI) and shaken for 30 minutes on an oscillating shaker table. Samples were extracted through 0.45 μ m pore filter paper using vacuums, the extracts were analyzed on an automated segmented flow analyzer (Bran and Luebbe, Autoanalyzer 3) (Carter and Gregorich, 2007). Quality control was confirmed by running all samples in triplicate and including experimental blanks as well as a standard (NIST-1515 apple leaf for forest floor and vegetation samples, and SS-2 soil standard for mineral soil) every 25 samples.

4.2.5. Calculations

Nutrient RE is defined as the amount of nutrients resorbed during senescence and is expressed as a percentage (Aerts, 1996). Nutrient RE is calculated for both the 2018 and 2019 field seasons as:

$$RE = ((Nu_{gn} - Nu_{sn})/Nu_{gn}) * 100\%$$
 [Equation 4.1]

Where RE is resorption efficiency (%), Nu_{gn} is green leaf nutrient concentration (mg kg⁻¹), and Nu_{sn} is senesced leaf nutrient concentration (mg kg⁻¹). Resorption proficiency (mg kg⁻¹) is determined as the total concentration (mg kg⁻¹) of elements in senesced leaves.

Litter decomposition rate constants were determined using the Olson, (1963) equation:

$$k = -\ln\left(\frac{X_t}{X_0}\right)/t$$
 [Equation 4.2]

where k is the decomposition rate constant, X_t is the mass of litter (g) remaining in each litter bag after t time in years, and X_0 is the initial mass of litter (g) in each bag.

Nutrient mass lost during litter decomposition (%) was calculated using:

$$Nm_{loss} = \frac{m_i * Nc_i - m_f * Nc_f}{(m_i * Nc_i)} * 100$$
 [Equation 4.3]

where Nm_{loss} is proportion of nutrient mass lost during litter decomposition (%), m_i is initial total mass of litter (mg), Nc_i is initial concentration of nutrient in litter (mg kg⁻¹), m_f is final total litter mass (mg), and Nc_f is final nutrient concentration in litter (mg kg⁻¹). Ammonification rates were calculated by subtracting initial NH₄ concentrations from final NH₄ concentrations and dividing value by days incubated in field.

4.2.6. Statistical analyses

Linear regressions were used to assess the relationships between stand age and a variety of parameters including soil and vegetation nutrient concentrations, RP, RE, nutrient loss during litter decomposition, and ammonification rates. Linear regression was also used to assess the relationship between litter nutrients and litter decomposition rates. Normality of the error terms was assessed using quantile-quantile plots. Logarithmic regression was used to assess the relationship between foliar nutrients and nutrient RP. Relationships were determined to be statistically significant using Bonferroni corrections. Differences in nutrients lost between litter types were tested using Mann-Whitney U-test. Groups were considered significantly different using Bonferroni corrections. A correlation matrix using Spearman correlations was created to assess associations between RE, foliar nutrients, and soil metal nutrient concentrations; relationships were considered statistically significant using Bonferroni corrections. Prior to analysis normality of the data were tested using the Lilliefors corrected Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, variables were considered normally distributed if p was greater than 0.05. All statistical analysis was completed using R version 4.0.5 (RStudio Team, 2020). All maps were created using Quantam GIS version 3.2.1 (QGIS.org, 2022).

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Soil nutrients

The nutrient content of the L horizon was unaffected by stand age (Figure 4.2). In contrast, soil nutrient concentrations largely increased in the FH and 0–5 cm horizon with stand age (Figure 4.2). Total Mg, P, and K increased in the FH horizon (p<0.001). Similarly, extractable Mg, P, and K increased in the 0–5 cm mineral soil horizon (p<0.0001). The one exception was total N concentrations that decreased with stand age in the 0–5 cm horizon of the mineral soil (p<0.0001).



Figure 4.2: Total and extractable nutrient concentrations (mean ± standard deviation) and stand age in the litter (L) (**top row**), fibrichumic (FH) (**middle row**), and 0–5 cm mineral soil (**bottom row**) horizons for regreening sites. Solid orange lines are significant (p<0.003) regression relationships between nutrient concentrations and stand age; dashed orange lines are 95% confidence intervals. Regression coefficients (R²) are included for statistically significant linear relationships.

4.3.2. Aboveground tree nutrients

There were a few changes in aboveground tree nutrient concentrations over time (Figure 4.3). Specifically, wood Ca and P decreased with stand age (p<0.0001), while wood N and K did appear to decrease with stand age, these decreases were not statistically significant using Bonferroni corrections (N (R²=0.09; p=0.03); K (R²=0.16; p=0.005)). Foliar and bark nutrient concentrations were unaffected by stand age (p>0.05). Foliage collected in the 2018 sampling season had significantly higher Ca concentrations, and significantly lower N, P, and K concentrations compared with foliage collected in the 2019 season (p<0.0001). The current study was not designed to compare differences in jack pine and red pine chemistry, however foliar nutrient concentrations were within one standard deviation of one another for both species.



Figure 4.3: Nutrient concentrations (mean ± standard deviation) and stand age in tree foliage (both 2018 and 2019 samples) (**top row**), tree bark (**middle row**), and tree wood (**bottom row**) for regreening sites. Solid orange lines are significant (p<0.003) regression relationships between nutrient concentrations and stand age; dashed orange lines are 95% confidence intervals. Regression coefficients (R²) are included for statistically significant linear relationships. Solid black line represents average foliar nutrient concentration for "healthy" red pine in the Tree Chemistry Database (Pardo et al., 2005); dashed black lines represent standard deviations of these values.

4.3.3. Nutrient resorption efficiency and proficiency

There were no significant relationships between RE or RP and stand age across the 12 regreening sites in both years (Figure 4.4). Resorption efficiencies for N, P, and K were significantly higher in the 2019 sampling season compared with the 2018 sampling season. Resorption proficiencies of Ca (R^2 =0.29) and Mg (R^2 =0.67) increased in a logarithmic pattern with foliar Ca and Mg; while there was no relationship between foliar N, P, and K and RE (Figure 4.5). There were few relationships between nutrient RE and RP and soil and foliage nutrient concentrations (Figure 4.6). Calcium RE was negatively correlated with foliar K (r=0.93) and total Mg concentration in the FH (r=-0.77) horizon. Magnesium RE was positively correlated with N concentration in the 0–5 cm horizon (r=0.83). There was no association with foliar nutrients or RP and soil or foliar metals (p>0.05) (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.4: Nutrient resorption efficiencies (RE) (mean) (**top row**) and nutrient proficiencies (RP) (mean ± standard deviation) (**bottom row**) by stand age for calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), nitrogen (N), phosphorous (P), and potassium (K) during both the 2018 and 2019 field season.



Figure 4.5: Foliar nutrient concentrations and nutrient resorption proficiencies (RP) for calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), nitrogen (N), phosphorous (P), and potassium (K). Solid black lines are significant (p<0.01) logarithmic relationships between foliar nutrient concentrations nutrient RP for both the 2018 and 2019 field seasons; dashed lines are 95% confidence intervals. Regression coefficients (R²) are included for statistically significant relationships.



Figure 4.6: Correlation plot for foliar nutrient concentrations and nutrient resorption efficiencies (RE) and a variety of foliar and soil parameters. Significant correlations (p<0.005) are represented by shade and size of dots.

4.3.4. Litter decomposition

There were no significant relationships between stand age and litter nutrients lost from the litter decomposition bags (Figure 4.7). After 2.5 years of exposure, nutrients lost from the litter bags decreased in the order of Mg, K >> P, Ca >>> N, where litter generally increased in N (Figure 4.7). Site-specific litter lost significantly more Mg than common litter, while common litter lost more Ca and N (Figure 4.7). Decomposition k-values increased with litter concentrations of P and K using site-specific litter (Figure 4.8).


Figure 4.7: Nutrient loss in litter by stand age for site-specific and common litter. Nutrients analyzed includes calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), nitrogen (N), phosphorous (P), and potassium (K). Instances where percent of initial nutrients lost were significantly different between site-specific and common litter were denoted using: ** p<0.005; ***p<0.0001.



Figure 4.8: Decomposition k-values and litter nutrient concentrations after 2.5-year exposure period for site-specific and common litter. Solid lines are significant (p<0.007) linear relationships between k and litter nutrient concentrations; dashed lines are 95% confidence intervals. Regression coefficients (R²) are included for statistically significant linear relationships.

4.3.5. Nitrogen mineralization

Ammonification rates and NH₄ concentrations did not vary with stand age for any season (p>0.05). Rates of ammonification were not significantly related with Cu or Ni concentrations in the 0–5 cm layer (p>0.05). Nitrate concentrations were undetectable using our instruments (detection limit = 0.14 mg kg⁻¹ NO₃-N). Rates of ammonification were significantly higher in the spring compared with the fall (p=0.0003) (Figure 4.9) but there were no significant differences in NH₄ concentrations among seasons (p>0.05).



Figure 4.9: Rates of ammonification during the growing seasons. Significant differences (p<0.05) in ammonification rates among seasons are denoted using letters. Box center lines are medians, box limits are 25th and 75th percentiles, whiskers are at most 1.5 times the inter-quartile range, and dots beyond whiskers are outliers.

4.4. Discussion

Overall, there were few relationships between nutrient cycling processes and stand age and there was no evidence that future productivity will be affected by nutrient limitation. Foliar nutrient levels were within TCD values, however, there were decreases in concentrations of P and K in wood across the chronosequence we sampled. Likely explaining why aboveground nutrient pools have been reported to decrease at regreened sites.

4.4.1. Soil nutrients

Extractable Mg, P, and K concentrations increased with stand age in the 0–5 cm mineral soil layer and total Mg, P, and K increased in the FH horizon. The increase in concentration of these nutrients in the upper layer of the mineral soil confirms our hypothesis that as stands age applied nutrients continue to work their way down the soil profile. Contrary to our hypotheses Ca concentrations did not change with stand age in the FH or 0–5 cm mineral soil horizon, potentially due to Ca being retained in organic horizons or lost through erosion. However, one of the younger sites had elevated Ca concentrations in the 0–5 cm horizon potentially obscuring a trend of increasing Ca in mineral soil. The continued increase in concentrations of Mg in the FH could be due to the slow dissolution of Mg from crushed limestone that can continue for up to 70-years post application (Schaffner et al., 2012). Phosphorous and K on the other hand were applied in plant-accessible forms – and in much smaller quantities than Ca and Mg (VETAC, 2021) – P and K were most likely quickly taken up by vegetation as has been found in previous

studies (Munford et al., 2021). Phosphorous and K are more strongly cycled through ecosystems in vegetation by litterfall and fine root turnover. The uptake into vegetation potentially allows for continued increase in P and K concentrations in the FH following turnover of fine roots, which are generally rich in P and K (Foster and Morrison, 1976).

In contrast to the other nutrients, mineral soil N concentrations decreased with stand age, conflicting with our hypothesis. Nitrogen in the mineral soil was largely in an organic form with minimal pools of inorganic N. Similar to the decrease in total soil C concentrations discussed Chapter 3, the decrease in soil N is related to a decrease in organic matter content of soils over time most likely caused by nutrient application increasing soil pH and stimulating decomposer communities increasing the decomposition of organic matter. Mechanisms for this were discussed in detail in Chapter 3.

Calcium and Mg concentrations at the regreening sites were highly elevated in the mineral soils compared with jack and red pine stands grown on "healthy" soils in similar ecoregions. Mineral soil concentrations of extractable Ca and Mg at the youngest regreening sites were similar to previously reported values – however the oldest sites Ca and Mg concentrations were 200% and 600% higher respectively (Foster and Morrison, 1976; Tappeiner and Alm, 1975). Forest floor Ca concentrations were similar to other studies, however forest floor Mg at the regreening sites were up to 500% higher than previously reported values (Krause, 1998; Shepard and Mitchell, 1990). Conversely, soil K concentrations were very low at the regreening sites with the highest concentrations of K only having 50% of other reported values (Ste-Marie et al., 2007; Tappeiner and Alm,

135

1975). On average, total P concentrations at the regreening sites were also 50% of "healthy" stands in the forest floor but comparable in extractable P concentrations in the mineral soil (Foster and Morrison, 1976; Shepard and Mitchell, 1990). Total N concentrations in the forest floor were comparable to other studies; and mineral soil N concentrations at the oldest regreening sites were similar to previously published results while the younger sites were highly elevated (Foster and Morrison, 1976; Ste-Marie et al., 2007). These findings from the regreening sites were like those of Schaffner et al., (2012), where after 70-years post application of limestone and fertilizer Ca concentrations remained elevated however N, P, and K were no longer elevated in the soil.

4.4.2. Aboveground tree nutrients

Foliar chemistry at the regreening sites did not change with stand age and was similar to values reported from the Tree Chemistry Database (TCD) for red pine (Pardo et al., 2005). The lack of a decrease in foliar nutrients over time at the regreening sites is promising as foliar nutrients are assumed to be indicative of tree health and function (Chapin, 1980). Levasseur et al., (2022) reported a decrease in weight-adjusted aboveground concentrations of Ca, N, and P. However, isolating the tree components it is evident that these decreases are largely driven by changes in wood chemistry as the oldest regreening sites have wood P that are 10% of the TCD values. This is potentially caused by the proportion of sapwood decreasing as trees age, as trees grow, more energy is invested into increasing low nutrient density wood biomass (MacLean and Wein, 1977). The tree cores used for nutrient analysis for our oldest sites were longer (sample trees had larger dbh for older sites (Chapter 2); and may have been made of a lower proportion of sapwood artificially suppressing our wood P and K concentrations. The regreening sites have bark N concentrations 150% greater than TCD values, while bark K concentrations were 50% of TCD values (Pardo et al., 2005).

4.4.3. Nutrient resorption

Both RE and RP at the regreening sites (which included jack and red pine) were unaffected by stand age, further indicating that nutrients are most likely not limiting as older trees are not retaining higher concentrations of nutrients during senescence. However, RP of Ca and Mg at the regreening sites were considerably higher – while N, P, and K RP were substantially lower – than values reported from studies conducted on jack pine stands in Ontario, Canada (~70-years-old; Morrison, 2003) and Wisconsin, USA (~50years-old; Bockheim and Leide, 1991). Comparing RE at the regreening sites to global conifer RE values, P and K RE at the regreening sites were highly elevated, while RE of Ca, Mg, and N were considerably lower (Vergutz et al., 2012). Nutrient RP for mobile nutrients N, P, and K (which are generally considered easier for trees to translocate) were unrelated to foliar concentrations; whereas nutrients such as Ca, and Mg generally aren't translocated (Fife et al., 2008) and exhibited logarithmic increase in RP with foliar concentrations.

4.4.4. Litter decomposition

Litter decomposition rates were not affected by stand age. Relative loss of nutrients from litter during decomposition decreased in the order of Mg, K >> Ca, P >>N

and litter decomposition rates were positively correlated with final litter concentrations of P and K in site-specific litter, suggesting that these litter nutrients were removed from the litter in a similar pattern to C. This pattern is similar to that reported by Freedman and Hutchinson (1980a) who proposed that this was due to K being lost through leaching, while Ca more closely reflected mass loss, as Ca makes up structural components of litter. While occasionally proposed to be a predictor of litter decomposition rate (Coûteaux et al., 1995), litter nutrients and metals were not correlated with litter decomposition rates at the regreening sites, which has been found in other jack and red pine stands (Bockheim et al., 1991; MacLean and Wein, 1978b). Previous studies conducted in the City of Greater Sudbury area similarly found that litter metal concentrations did not affect litter decomposition rates (Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980b; Johnson and Hale, 2004).

The rates of loss of Ca, Mg, and K at the regreening sites were similar to values from the City of Greater Sudbury area prior to regreening (Freedman and Hutchinson, 1980a), and P loss was similar to jack pine stands in eastern Ontario, Canada (Morrison, 2003). Nitrogen increased in the litter decomposition bags after 2.5-years of exposure. The increase in litter N could be from microorganisms importing additional N from lower in the soil profile (Berg and Söderström, 1979). Generally, the early phases of litter decomposition are limited by N (Moore, 1984) and in order to address low N, decomposer communities have been found to import N from lower in the soil profile, promoting the immobilization of N in litter over mineralization (Schlesinger and Hasey, 1981). This is potentially occurring in litter decomposition at the regreening sites as litter C:N ratios were very high (~100) early in decomposition.

4.4.5. Nitrogen mineralization

Neither inorganic N (NO₃ + NH₄) concentrations or mineralization rates at the regreening sites were related to stand age. Inorganic N concentrations were very low; NO₃ concentrations were undetectable with our instruments (detection limits of 0.14 mg kg⁻¹ NO₃-N). Low inorganic N and N mineralization rates are expected in acidic conifer forests, however, NH₄ concentrations and ammonification rates at the regreening sites were considerably lower than those reported in previous studies in uncontaminated soils (DeLuca et al., 2007; McMillan et al., 2007). However, the rates of ammonification at the regreening sites are very similar to those reported in DeCatanzaro and Hutchinson (1985), which only tested metal contaminated soils in the City of Greater Sudbury area prior to regreening, suggesting that regreening has had no effect on N-mineralization. Previous studies have suggested that soil Ni concentration can increase N mineralization (DeCatanzaro and Hutchinson, 1985). While we did not observe a relationship with Ni (or Cu) concentration, all the regreening sites have highly elevated total soil Ni concentrations, so it is possible that within the tested range of soil Ni there were no differences in mineralization because the threshold that causes this increase has already been exceeded. The low concentrations of inorganic N and low mineralization rates do not appear to be affecting tree N concentrations, suggesting trees are potentially taking up organic forms of N (Näsholm et al., 1998). Seasonal patterns of both NH₄ concentrations and rates of ammonification decreased in the order of spring > summer > fall similar to previous reporting (Stottlemyer and Toczydlowski, 1999).

4.5. Conclusion

Overall, there were few relationships between nutrients and stand age at the City of Greater Sudbury regreening sites. In fact, nutrient cycling processes overall appear to be similar to those in jack and red pine plantations that have not been exposed to centuries of industrial impacts. The regreening sites are rich in Ca and Mg; previous Ca and Mg budget analyses have found that much of the added Ca and Mg was unaccounted for, however, these nutrients were applied in such massive quantities (10 Mg ha⁻¹ of dolomitic limestone) that the regreening sites are still enriched. Nitrogen, P, and K were applied in much smaller quantities (390 kg ha⁻¹) and remnant concentrations are not distinguishable in the soils. Potassium, as well as P to a lesser extent, potentially may be a limiting nutrient in the future as the regreening stands continue to age as regreened soils are very low in K, and K RE is much higher than expected. That being said – foliar P and K concentrations remain at expected values, and tree growth rate is in line with expectations. The very low inorganic N concentrations and N mineralization rates are similar to those reported in the City of Greater Sudbury area prior to regreening efforts, suggesting that regreening had no effect on these processes. Despite the low inorganic N and decreasing total N concentrations, soil and vegetation N concentrations remain above what is expected in the region.

4.6. Acknowledgements

This study is part of the Landscape Carbon Accumulation through Reductions in Emissions (L-CARE) project and is funded by Ontario Centers for Excellence, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, Vale Canada Limited, Sudbury Integrated Nickel Operations, and the City of Greater Sudbury. The authors would like to thank the countless volunteers responsible for tree planting, liming, and fertilizing the City of Greater Sudbury barrens. The authors would also like to thank the rest of the L-CARE team as well as Kevin Adkinson, Schylur Deraaf, Kaylen Foley, Spencer Gilbert-Parkes, William Humphrey, Edward Kellaway, and Jodi Newman for technical support throughout this study. The authors declare that they have no conflict of interests.

- Aerts, R., 1996. Nutrient resorption from senescing leaves of perennials: Are there general patterns? J. Ecol. 84, 597–608.
- Babich, H., Stotzky, G., 1985. Heavy metal toxicity to microbe-mediated ecologic processes: A review and potential application to regulatory policies. Environ. Res. 36, 111–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/0013-9351(85)90011-8
- Berg, B., Ekbohm, G., Söderström, B., Staaf, H., 1991. Reduction of decomposition rates of scots pine needle litter due to heavy-metal pollution. Water Air Soil Pollut. 59, 165–177. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00283179
- Berg, B., Söderström, B., 1979. Fungal biomass and nitrogen in decomposing scots pine needle litter. Soil Biol. Biochem. 11, 339–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(79)90045-2
- Berg, B., Staaf, H., 1980. Decomposition rate and chemical changes of Scots pine needle litter II. Influence of chemical composition. Ecol. Bull. 32, 373–390.
- Bockheim, J.G., Jepsen, E.A., Heisey, D.M., 1991. Nutrient dynamics in decomposing leaf litter of four tree species on a sandy soil in northwestern Wisconsin. Can. J. For. Res. 21, 803–812.
- Bockheim, J.G., Leide, J.E., 1991. Foliar nutrient dynamics and nutrient-use efficiency of oak and pine on low-fertility soil in Wisconsin. Can. J. For. Res. 21, 925–934.
- Bocock, K.L., Gilbert, O.J.W., 1957. The disappearance of leaf litter under different woodland conditions. Plant Soil 9, 179–185.
- Carter, M.R., Gregorich, E.G., 2007. Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis: Second Edition. CRC, Boca Raton, Fla.
- Chapin, F.S., 1980. The mineral nutrition of wild plants. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 11, 233–260.
- City of Greater Sudbury, 2023. City of Greater Sudbury regreening app. https://www.greatersudbury.ca/live/environment-and-sustainability1/regreeningprogram/
- Cole, D.W., Rapp, M., 1980. Elemental cycling in forest ecosystems, in: Dynamic Properties of Forest Ecosystems. pp. 341–409.

Cotrufo, M.F., Santo, A.V. De, Alfani, A., Bartoli, G., Cristofaro, A. De, Vegetale, B., 1995.

Effects of urban heavy metal pollution on organic matter decomposition in Quercus ilex L. woods. Environ. Pollut. 89, 81–87.

- Coûteaux, M.-M., Bottner, P., Berg, B., 1995. Litter decomposition, climate and litter quality. Trends Ecol. Evol. 10, 63–66.
- DeCatanzaro, J.B., Hutchinson, T.C., 1985. Effects of nickel addition on nitrogen mineralization, nitrification, and nitrogen leaching in some boreal forest soils. Water Air Soil Pollut. 24, 153–164.
- DeLuca, T.H., Zackrisson, O., Gentili, F., Sellstedt, A., Nilsson, M.-C., 2007. Ecosystem controls on nitrogen fixation in boreal feather moss communities. Oecologia 152, 121–130. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-006-0626-6
- Environment Canada, 2022. Canadian Climate Normals Station Data 1981-2010. http://climate.weather.gc.ca/climate_normals/results_1981_2010_e.html?stnID=11 8&lang=e&StationName=Victoria&SearchType=Contains&stnNameSubmit=go&dCo de=1
- Fife, D.N., Nambiar, E.K.S., Saur, E., 2008. Retranslocation of foliar nutrients in evergreen tree species planted in a Mediterranean environment. Tree Physiol. 28, 187–196. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/28.2.187
- Folkeson, L., Andersson-Bringmark, E., 1988. Impoverishment of vegetation in a coniferous forest polluted by copper and zinc. Can. J. Bot. 66, 417–428. https://doi.org/10.1139/b88-067
- Foster, N.W., Morrison, I.K., 1976. Distribution and cycling of nutrients in a natural Pinus banksiana ecosystem. Ecology 57, 110–120.
- Freedman, B., Hutchinson, T.C., 1980a. Effects of smelter pollutants on forest leaf litter decomposition near a nickel-copper smelter at Sudbury, Ontario. Can. J. Bot. 58, 1722–1736. https://doi.org/10.1139/b80-200
- Freedman, B., Hutchinson, T.C., 1980b. Pollutant inputs from the atmosphere and accumulations in soils and vegetation near a nickel-copper smelter at Sudbury, Ontario, Canada. Can. J. Bot. 58, 108–132. https://doi.org/10.1139/b80-014
- Frouz, J., Keplin, B., Pižl, V., Tajovský, K., Starý, J., Lukešová, A., Nováková, A., Balík, V., Háněl, L., Materna, J., Düker, C., Chalupský, J., Rusek, J., Heinkele, T., 2001. Soil biota and upper soil layer development in two contrasting post-mining chronosequences. Ecol. Eng. 17, 275–284.

Hutchinson, T.C., Whitby, L.M., 1977. The effects of acid rainfall and heavy metal

particulates on a boreal forest ecosystem near the sudbury smelting region of Canada. Water Air Soil Pollut. 7, 421–438. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00285542

- Johnson, D., Hale, B., 2004. White birch (Betula papyrifera Marshall) foliar litter decomposition in relation to trace metal atmospheric inputs at metal-contaminated and uncontaminated sites near Sudbury, Ontario and Rouyn-Noranda, Quebec, Canada. Environ. Pollut. 127, 65–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(03)00260-4
- Kellaway, E.J., Eimers, M.C., Watmough, S.A., 2022. Liming legacy effects associated with the world's largest soil liming and regreening program in Sudbury, Ontario, Canada. Sci. Total Environ. 805, 150321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.150321
- Killingbeck, K.T., 1996. Nutrients in senesced leaves: Keys to the search for potential resorption and resorption proficiency. Ecology 77, 1716–1727.
- Krause, H., 1998. Forest floor mass and nutrients in two chronosequences of plantations: Jack pine vs. black spruce. Can. J. Soil Sci. 78, 77–83. https://doi.org/10.4141/S97-029
- Lautenbach, W.E., Miller, J., Beckett, P.J., Negusanti, J.J., Winterhalder, K., 1995. Municipal land restoration program the regreening process, in: Restoration and Recovery of an Industrial Region: Progress in Restoring the Smelter-Damaged Landscape near Sudbury, Canada. pp. 109–122.
- Levasseur, P.A., Galarza, J., Watmough, S.A., 2022. One of the world's largest regreening programs promotes healthy tree growth and nutrient accumulation up to 40-years post restoration. For. Ecol. Manage. 507, 120014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2022.120014
- MacLean, D.A., Wein, R.W., 1978. Weight loss and nutrient changes in decomposing litter and forest floor material in New Brunswick forest stands. Can. J. Bot. 56, 2730– 2749. https://doi.org/10.1139/b78-326
- MacLean, D.A., Wein, R.W., 1977. Nutrient accumulation for postfire jack pine and hardwood succession patterns in New Brunswick. Can. J. For. Res. 7, 562–578.
- McMillan, R., Quideau, S.A., MacKenzie, M.D., Biryukova, O., 2007. Nitrogen mineralization and microbial activity in Oil Sands reclaimed boreal forest soils. J. Environ. Qual. 36, 1470–1478. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2006.0530
- Mehlich, A., 1984. Mehlich 3 soil test extractant: A modification of Mehlich 2 extractant. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 15, 1409–1416.

- Moore, T.R., 1984. Litter Decomposition in a subarctic spruce-lichen woodland, Eastern Canada. Ecology 65, 299–308.
- Morrison, I.K., 2003. Decomposition and element release from confined jack pine needle litter on and in the feathermoss layer. Can. J. For. Res. 33, 16–22. https://doi.org/10.1139/x02-149
- Munford, K.E., Casamatta, M., Glasauer, S., Mykytczuk, N.C.S., Watmough, S.A., 2021. Paper Birch (Betula papyrifera) nutrient resorption rates on nutrient-poor metalcontaminated soils and mine tailings. Water Air Soil Pollut. 232, 1–16. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-020-04975-3
- Näsholm, T., Ekblad, A., Nordin, A., Giesler, R., Högberg, M., Högberg, P., 1998. Boreal forest plants take up organic nitrogen. Nature 392, 914–916.
- Olson, J.S., 1963. Energy storage and the balance of producers and decomposers in ecological systems. Ecology 44, 322–331.
- Påhlsson, A.M.B., 1989. Toxicity of heavy metals (Zn, Cu, Cd, Pb) to vascular plants A literature review. Water Air Soil Pollut. 47, 287–319. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00279329
- Pardo, L.H., Robin-Abbott, M., Duarte, N., Miller, E.K., 2005. Tree Chemistry Database (Version 1.0). Newton Square, PA.
- Pearson, D.A.B., Pitblado, J.R., 1995. Geological and Geographic Setting, in: Restoration and Recovery of an Industrial Region: Progress in Restoring the Smelter-Damaged Landscape near Sudbury, Canada. pp. 5–15.
- Persson, T., Rudebeck, A., Wirén, A., 1995. Pools and fluxes of carbon and nitrogen in 40year-old forest liming experiments in southern Sweden. Water Air Soil Pollut. 85, 901–906.
- Pietrzykowski, M., Daniels, W.L., 2014. Estimation of carbon sequestration by pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) ecosystems developed on reforested post-mining sites in Poland on differing mine soil substrates. Ecol. Eng. 73, 209–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2014.09.058
- Preston, M.D., Brummell, M.E., Smenderovac, E., Rantala-Sykes, B., Rumney, R.H.M., Sherman, G., Basiliko, N., Beckett, P., Hebert, M., 2020. Tree restoration and ecosystem carbon storage in an acid and metal impacted landscape: Chronosequence and resampling approaches. For. Ecol. Manage. 463, 118012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118012

QGIS.org, 2022. QGIS Geographic Information System. http://www.qgis.org

Rowe, J.S., 1972. Forest Regions of Canada. Ottawa, Canada.

RStudio Team, 2020. RStudio: Integrated Development for R. http://www.rstudio.com/

- Rumney, R.H.M., Preston, M.D., Jones, T., Basiliko, N., Gunn, J., 2021. Soil amendment improves carbon sequestration by trees on severely damaged acid and metal impacted landscape, but total storage remains low. For. Ecol. Manage. 483, 118896. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118896
- SARA Group, 2009. Sudbury Area Risk Assessment Volume III: Ecological Risk Assessment. Sudbury, Canada.
- Schaffner, U., Alewell, C., Eschen, R., Matthies, D., Spiegelberger, T., Hegg, O., 2012. Calcium induces long-term legacy effects in a subalpine ecosystem. PLoS One 7, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051818
- Schlesinger, W.H., Hasey, M.H., 1981. Decomposition of chaparral shrub foliage : Losses of organic and inorganic constituents from deciduous and evergreen leaves. Ecology 62, 762–774.
- Shepard, J.P., Mitchell, M.J., 1990. Nutrient cycling in a red pine plantation thirty-nine years after potassium fertilization. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 54, 1433–1440. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1990.03615995005400050037x
- Soil Classification Working Group, 1998. The Canadian System of Soil Classification. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada.
- Šourková, M., Frouz, J., Šantrůčková, H., 2005. Accumulation of carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus during soil formation on alder spoil heaps after brown-coal mining, near Sokolov (Czech Republic). Geoderma 124, 203–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2004.05.001
- Ste-Marie, C., Paré, D., Gagnon, D., 2007. The contrasting effects of aspen and jack pine on soil nutritional properties depend on parent material. Ecosystems 10, 1299– 1310. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-007-9098-8
- Stottlemyer, R., Toczydlowski, D., 1999. Nitrogen mineralization in a mature boreal forest, Isle Royale, Michigan. J. Environ. Qual. 28, 709–720. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq1999.00472425002800020040x
- Tappeiner, J.C., Alm, A.A., 1975. Undergrowth vegetation effects on the nutrient content of litterfall and soils in red pine and birch Stands in northern Minnesota. Ecology 56,

1193-1200. https://doi.org/10.2307/1936159

- Vásquez-Murrieta, M.S., Migueles-Garduño, I., Franco-Hernández, O., Govaerts, B., Dendooven, L., 2006. C and N mineralization and microbial biomass in heavy-metal contaminated soil. Eur. J. Soil Biol. 42, 89–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2005.10.002
- Vergutz, L., Manzoni, S., Porporato, A., Novais, R.F., Jackson, R.B., 2012. Global resorption efficiencies and concentrations of carbon and nutrients in leaves of terrestrial plants. Ecol. Monogr. 82, 205–220. https://doi.org/10.1890/11-0416.1
- VETAC, 2021. 2021 Annual Report Regreening Program. City of Greater Sudbury.
- Vitousek, P., 1982. Nutrient cycling and nutrient use efficiency. Am. Nat. 119, 553–572. https://doi.org/10.1086/283931
- Westermann, D., Crothers, S., 1980. Measuring soil nitrogen mineralization under field conditions. Agron. J. 72, 1009–1012.
- Whitby, L.M., Hutchinson, T.C., 1974. Heavy-metal pollution in the Sudbury mining and smelting region of Canada, II. Soil toxicity tests. Environ. Conserv. 1, 191–200. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892900004562

Chapter 5: Conclusion

Forest restoration is increasingly being targeted as a strategy to achieve global climate and biodiversity goals. Understanding the biogeochemistry of restored forests is important to inform management practices and assess long-term forest sustainability. The City of Greater Sudbury regreening areas provided an incredible opportunity to study the biogeochemistry of regreened forests on a landscape degraded by over a century of mining and smelting practices. The regreening program of the City of Greater Sudbury is one of the longest running and most expansive in the world. The patchwork nature of the treatments provided a unique location to determine how forest biogeochemistry changes with stand age.

Overall, the regreening program has increased tree growth and produced jack and red pine plantations that are biogeochemically similar to pine plantations unimpacted by over a century of mining and smelting practices. The loss of soil carbon (C) remains concerning, however, previous studies that have found regreening to decrease soil C reported that this trend only continues for so much time before soil C pools either flatline or begin to increase. The literature on the effects of regreening on soil C is incredibly mixed with large support for regreening both increasing and decreasing soil C concentrations. We believe that the decrease in soil C with stand age at the regreening sites was due to regreening stimulating decomposer communities. Carbon mineralization rates were elevated from the very low rates that were measured prior to regreening, to rates that are more typical of an acidic conifer forest. Increasing pools of soil C has been a particularly popular topic in recent literature as soil C is generally regarded as one of the more stable pools of C. The decrease in soil C measured at the regreening sites provides caution that while portions of soil C can be more stable than C stored in biomass, the long-term storage of C in soil is not guaranteed.

Future management should consider reducing the application rate of crushed dolomitic limestone at the regreening sites. Despite large quantities of lime being lost through erosion the regreening sites remain incredibly rich in Ca and Mg. The 10 Mg ha⁻¹ application rate used in the City of Greater Sudbury regreening program is similar to other liming studies, however lower application rates (< 5 Mg ha⁻¹) have been found to increase soil pH and replenish Ca and Mg pools, while limiting the loss of soil C. The topography of the area should also play a role in application rate, where denuded hilltops potentially require a larger dose of lime anticipating more loss through erosion, in comparison to areas lower in a catchment.

A critical question for future management is whether the regreening program should focus efforts on untreated areas or return to previously regreened sites to apply additional treatments. I believe at this point the regreening program should focus on applying treatments to previously untreated areas. The current liming dosage appears to be more than sufficient and there does not currently appear to be a need to reapply P and K rich fertilizers. Foliar nutrients and resorption efficiencies did not change with stand age, and trees are growing at a healthy rate. However, soils in the regreening sites are low in P and K. So while fertilizer reapplication does not appear to be necessary at this point, P and K may become limiting in the future.

Total ecosystem C at the regreening sites increased with stand age despite the decrease in soil C – largely due to increases in aboveground tree C. Fast-growing tree species such as jack pine and red pine were selected early in the regreening program, however, as these trees die what will replace them is an interesting question. Jack pines have an average lifespan of 60 years and currently the oldest regreening stands are just over 40-years-old. The understory at the regreening sites is generally not very diverse (as has been reported in many other pine plantations) with effectively zero jack or red pine seedlings. Saplings in the regreening sites are largely paper birch and trembling aspen, suggesting that as the older planted pines die-back they will potentially be replaced by pioneering deciduous species. The succession of these pine plantations will have dramatic effects on biogeochemical properties.

Current regreening practices in the City of Greater Sudbury barrens have focussed on planting more diverse species including under-story trees, and shrubs. The inclusion of more diverse species and prioritization on including multiple layers of vegetation, shifts the regreening programs goals to focus more on ecological restoration as opposed to the pine plantation style reclamation used in the early days of the program. My PhD thesis focussed solely on jack and red pine plantations in order to develop the longest chronosequence possible, but future studies investigating the biogeochemical implications of the more recent regreening strategies would be very relevant. Another

150

mechanism for restoration that I believe should be investigated further and over a longer period of time, is applying soil amendments but not planting any trees. Natural ecological succession in the region has been disturbed by industrial damage but improved air quality and addition of soil amendments can potentially support colonisation and successful growth of early successional species. Natural regeneration on disturbed landscapes has largely been found to increase biodiversity but also create larger C pools – particularly in soils – over long periods of time compared to conifer plantations. Prior to large-scale mining and smelting, forests in the City of Greater Sudbury barren areas were replaced every 100 years or so by fire. These systems have been undergoing successional patterns for millenia, I believe a worthwhile venture for academic and management purposes would be to determine whether improved air and soil quality is sufficient to restart these processes.

The City of Greater Sudbury regreening areas have already hosted countless undergraduate, Masters, and PhD theses, not to mention industrial, academic, and government research projects; I hope that the findings of my PhD thesis inspire future research on one of the most unique and fascinating locations in the world.

151

Appendix



Figure A.1: Litterfall carbon transfer rates compared between eroded, stable, untreated, and old plantation sites. Box center lines are medians, box limits are 25th and 75th percentiles, whiskers are at most 1.5 times the inter-quartile range, and dots beyond whiskers are outliers. Significant differences (p<0.05) are denoted by differing letters.



Figure A.2: Litterfall carbon transfer rates compared between 2018 and 2019 sampling season at eroded and stable sites. Box center lines are medians, box limits are 25th and 75th percentiles, whiskers are at most 1.5 times the inter-quartile range, and dots beyond whiskers are outliers. Significant differences (p<0.05) are denoted by differing letters.



Figure A.3: Fine root production rates compared between eroded, stable, untreated, and old plantation sites. Box center lines are medians, box limits are 25th and 75th percentiles, whiskers are at most 1.5 times the inter-quartile range, and dots beyond whiskers are outliers. Significant differences (p<0.05) are denoted by differing letters.



Figure A.4: Soil carbon dioxide (CO₂) emission rates adjusted to 10°C compared between eroded, stable, untreated, and old plantation sites. Box center lines are medians, box limits are 25th and 75th percentiles, whiskers are at most 1.5 times the inter-quartile range, and dots beyond whiskers are outliers. Significant differences (p<0.05) are denoted by differing letters.